
 
 A meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (SERVICE 

DELIVERY) will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, PATHFINDER 
HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON, PE29 3TN on 
TUESDAY, 7 OCTOBER 2008 at 7:00 PM and you are requested to 
attend for the transaction of the following business:- 

 
 

 Contact 
(01480) 

 
 APOLOGIES   

 

 

1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Panel held on 2nd September 2008. 
 
2 Minutes. 
 

Miss H Ali 
388006 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or 
prejudicial interests and the nature of those interests in relation to 
any Agenda Item. Please see Notes 1 and 2 overleaf. 
 
2 Minutes. 
 

 

3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000: FORWARD PLAN  (Pages 5 - 
12) 

 

 

 A copy of the current Forward Plan, which was published on 12th 
September 2008, is attached. Members are invited to note the Plan 
and to comment as appropriate on any items contained therein. 
 
15 Minutes. 
 

R Reeves 
388003 

4. FLEXIBLE WORKING STRATEGY   
 

 

 To receive a presentation by the Head of Information Management 
on the progress made to date in respect of the Flexible Working 
Strategy. 
 
20 Minutes. 
 

M Hinton 
388196 

5. CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH JOINT MUNICIPAL 
WASTE STRATEGY  (Pages 13 - 18) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Operations on the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Joint Municipal Waste Strategy. 
 
15 Minutes. 
 

R Ward 
388635 



 
6. ENHANCED CLEANSING SERVICES  (Pages 19 - 28) 
 

 

 To consider a report on the Cabinet’s decisions in response to the 
Panel’s recommendations on the Enhanced Cleansing Services 
report. 
 
15 Minutes. 

 

Miss H Ali 
388006 

7. ALCOHOL DISORDER ZONES  (Pages 29 - 32) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Administration on Alcohol 
Disorder Zones. 
 
15 Minutes. 
 

R Reeves 
388003 

8. IMPROVING LOCAL ACCOUNTABILITY CONSULTATION 
CHANGES TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY POWERS  (Pages 33 - 
40) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Administration seeking the 
Panel’s views on the changes proposed for Overview and Scrutiny 
powers. 
 
15 Minutes. 
 

R Reeves 
388003 

9. STRATEGIC HEALTH AUTHORITY: STRATEGIC VISION 
DOCUMENT  (Pages 41 - 172) 

 

 

 To receive and note the Strategic Health Authority’s Strategic Vision 
Document. 
 
15 Minutes. 
 

A Roberts 
388004 

10. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (SERVICE DELIVERY) - 
STUDIES  (Pages 173 - 182) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Administration on the Panel’s 
programme of studies. 
 
15 Minutes. 
 

Miss H Ali 
388006 

11. SCRUTINY   
 

 

 To scrutinise decisions since the last meeting as set out in Decision 
Digest (TO FOLLOW) and to raise any other matters for scrutiny that 
fall within the remit of the Panel. 
 
10 Minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 Dated this 25 day of September 2008  
 

 

 

 Chief Executive 
 

 

Notes 
 
1.  A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a greater extent 

than other people in the District – 
 

(a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the Councillor, their 
family or any person with whom they had a close association; 

 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a partner and any 

company of which they are directors; 
 
 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial interest in a class of 

securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
 
 (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 

2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of the public (who has 
knowledge of the circumstances) would reasonably regard the Member’s personal interest 
as being so significant that it is likely to prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public 
interest. 

 

Please contact Miss H Ali, Democratic Services Officer, Tel No: (01480) 388006 / e-mail: 
Habbiba.Ali@huntsdc.gov.uk  if you have a general query on any Agenda Item, wish to 
tender your apologies for absence from the meeting, or would like information on any 
decision taken by the Panel. 

Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed towards the 
Contact Officer. 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during 
consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 

www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 
 
 

If you would like a translation of Agenda/Minutes/Reports 
or would like a large text version or an audio version  
please contact the Democratic Services Manager and  

we will try to accommodate your needs. 
 
 

Emergency Procedure 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest emergency 
exit and to make their way to the car park adjacent to the Methodist Church on the High 
Street (opposite Prima's Italian Restaurant). 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

(SERVICE DELIVERY) held in the Council Chamber, Pathfinder 
House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN on Tuesday, 2 
September 2008. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor S J Criswell – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors J D Ablewhite, Mrs M Banerjee, 

Mrs K E Cooper, J E Garner, P Godley, 
Mrs P A Jordan, J M Sadler, M F Shellens 
and J S Watt. 

   
 APOLOGIES: Apologies for absence from the meeting were 

submitted on behalf of Councillors E R Butler, 
Mrs J A Dew, P G Mitchell, Ms M J Thomas 
and P K Ursell. 

   
 
 

24. MINUTES   
 

 The Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 1st July 2008 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

25. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 No declarations were received. 
 

26. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000: FORWARD PLAN   
 

 The Panel considered the current Forward Plan of Key Decisions (a 
copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) which had been 
prepared by the Leader of the Council for the period 1st September to 
31st December 2008. In so doing, Members were reminded that the 
Sub-Regional Housing Strategy item would be considered at the 
Panel’s October meeting. In addition, the Panel were informed that 
they would receive a copy of the report on Community Engagement 
when it became available. 
 

27. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS TO ST IVES TOWN CENTRE   
 

 (Councillor P L E Bucknell, Executive Councillor for Planning Strategy 
and Transport, was in attendance for this item). 
 
The Panel considered a report by the Head of Environmental 
Management (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) 
proposing that public consultation was undertaken on a range of 
options for Phase 2 of the environmental improvements to the Market 
Hill and Bridge Street areas of St Ives. 
 
By way of background, Members were advised that the options had 
been subject to scrutiny by an Advisory Group comprising County, 
District and Town Councillors together with Panel representatives and 

Agenda Item 1

1



representatives from local consultative groups such as the Town 
Partnership, the Access Group and the Civic Society. The Panel also 
was reminded that its role in the process was to ensure that the 
Environmental Improvements Protocol previously approved by the 
Cabinet had been adhered to. 
 
In noting the public consultation proposed on the options identified, 
the Panel expressed the view that extensive publicity for the 
consultation process should be undertaken. In that light, it was 
reported that a number of methods of engaging with the public would 
be employed during the consultation process. Discussion then 
ensued on bus services operating within the town centre. In so doing, 
the Panel were advised that access for buses would not be affected 
by any of the proposed options. 
 
Having expressed satisfaction that the Environmental Improvements 
Protocol had been adhered to, the Panel  
 
RESOLVED 
 
that the Cabinet be recommended 
 

(a) to note the progress of the scheme and consultation to 
date; 

 
(b) to approve the principle of the scheme and to take the 

necessary public consultation to identify the preferred 
option; and 

 
(c) to receive feedback at a future meeting. 

 
 

28. CUSTOMER SERVICE QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT: 
APRIL - JUNE 2008   

 
 (Councillor L M Simpson, Executive Councillor for Customer Services 

and Information Technology, was in attendance for this item). 
 
Consideration was given to the Customer Service Quarterly 
Performance Report for the period April to June 2008 (a copy of 
which is appended in the Minute Book). In introducing the report, the 
Customer Service Manager reported that, following the formation of a 
new Customer Services Team in February 2008, quarterly 
performance reports would now be produced that covered all services 
within the Team. 
 
Having noted the performance of individual services in the period 
covered, the Panel received clarification on a number of activities 
referred to within the report. In so doing, the Panel requested that 
additional information relating to the number of unanswered 
telephone calls received by the Call Centre, together with the number 
of enquiries in areas that were not the responsibility of the District 
Council, be incorporated into future performance reports. 
 
 
 

2



29. ADOPTION OF LOCAL STANDARDS FOR THE PROVISION OF 
CORE SPORTS FACILITIES IN HUNTINGDONSHIRE   

 
 (Councillor Mrs D C Reynolds, Executive Councillor for Housing and 

Public Health was in attendance for this item). 
 
With the assistance of a report by the Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services (a copy of which is appended in the 
Minute Book) the Panel were acquainted with a proposal to adopt 
local standards for the provision of core sports facilities in 
Huntingdonshire. The standards would help to achieve an appropriate 
range of sports facilities to meet future need. 
 
It was reported that, in light of the preparations for the forthcoming 
Olympics, the adoption of local standards was timely. In response to 
concerns raised by the Chairman, the Panel were assured that the 
adoption of standards would not result in the creation of new facilities 
that would compete with existing Council facilities. In addition, the 
Council would not be responsible for future operating and 
maintenance costs of new facilities. 
 
The Panel was informed that whilst the proposal was for five specified 
types of sports facilities, an emerging Leisure Facilities Strategy 
would incorporate other facilities. In recognising that the adoption of 
local standards was being encouraged by Sport England, the Panel 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the Cabinet be recommended to adopt the local standards 
for the provision of core sports facilities in Huntingdonshire as 
outlined within Table 1 of the report now submitted. 

 
 

30. CHEWING GUM LITTER REDUCTION TRIAL   
 

 The Panel received and noted a report by the Head of Operations (a 
copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) on the outcome of the 
chewing gum litter reduction trial, which took place between August 
2007 to August 2008. The report also contained details of a proposal 
to extend the scheme to St Neots. 
 
The Panel noted that the removal of chewing gum from pavements in 
town centres cost the Council £17,000 per year. In response to a 
question by a Member regarding the level of savings achieved since 
the introduction of the scheme, it was reported that as the scheme 
was still in its early stages, the level of savings achieved had not yet 
been identified. Having suggested that details of the scheme be 
forwarded on to Parish Councils, the Panel 

 
RESOLVED 

 
(a) that the outcome of the chewing gum litter reduction trial in 

the period August 2007 to August 2008 be noted; 
 
(b) that the intention to extend the scheme to St Neots be 

noted; and 
 

3



(c) that Parish Councils be provided with details of the 
scheme. 

 

31. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (SERVICE DELIVERY) - 
STUDIES   

 
 The Panel considered a report by the Head of Administration (a copy 

of which is appended in the Minute Book) which contained details of 
actions taken in response to recent discussions and decisions. 
 
Further to Minute No. 08/20, Members were advised that the Cabinet 
would consider the Panel’s report on Enhanced Cleansing Services at 
their meeting on 4th September 2008. Having been reminded of 
previous requests made by the Cabinet for Panel Members to present 
the Panel’s reports, Councillor J D Ablewhite was nominated to attend 
the Cabinet meeting.  
 
Councillor M F Shellens reported that he was still pursuing his 
investigations into the new A14 proposals and the impact that they 
would have on air quality and noise pollution. 
 

32. SCRUTINY   
 

 The 86th Edition of the Decision Digest was received and noted. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 
 

4



 

 
 

F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 K

E
Y

 D
E

C
IS

IO
N

S
 

P
re

p
a
re

d
 b

y
 

C
o

u
n

c
il
lo

r 
I 

C
 B

a
te

s
  

D
a
te

 o
f 

P
u

b
li

c
a
ti

o
n

: 
1
2
 S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
2
0

0
8
 

F
o

r 
P

e
ri

o
d

: 
1
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
0

8
 t

o
 3

1
 J

a
n

u
a
ry

 2
0
0

9
 

 

M
e

m
b

e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 

th
e

 C
a

b
in

e
t 
is

 a
s
 f

o
llo

w
s
:-

 
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

I 
C

 B
a

te
s
 

 
- 

L
e

a
d
e

r 
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

4
 C

h
u

rc
h

 E
n

d
 

H
ilt

o
n

 
H

u
n

ti
n

g
d

o
n

  
 P

E
2

8
 9

N
J
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 8
3
0

2
5
0

  
  

  
  

  
E

-m
a

il:
  

Ia
n

.B
a

te
s
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o

n
 

 
- 

D
e

p
u

ty
 L

e
a

d
e

r 
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

a
n

d
  

  
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

C
u

s
to

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

  
a

n
d

 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 

4
5

 D
e

v
o

k
e
 C

lo
s
e

 
S

tu
k
e
le

y
 M

e
a

d
o

w
s
 

H
u

n
ti
n

g
d

o
n

 
C

a
m

b
s
  

  
 P

E
2
9

 6
X

E
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 3
8
8

9
4
6

  
  

  
  

E
-m

a
il:

  
M

ik
e

.S
im

p
s
o

n
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n

e
ll 

- 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

  
a

n
d

 T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 
C

o
m

p
a
s
s
 H

o
u

s
e

 
P

a
th

fi
n
d

e
r 

W
a

y
 

W
a
rb

o
y
s
 

P
E

2
8

 2
R

D
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
7

 8
2
4

2
2
2

  
  

  
E

-m
a

il:
  

P
e

te
r.

B
u
c
k
n
e

ll@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

K
 J

 C
h

u
rc

h
ill

 
- 

S
p

e
c
ia

l 
A

d
v
is

o
r 

to
 t

h
e

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

5
1

 G
o

rd
o
n

 R
o

a
d

 
L

it
tl
e

 P
a

x
to

n
 

S
t 

N
e

o
ts

 
P

E
1

9
 6

N
J
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 3
5
2

0
4
0
 

E
-m

a
il:

  
K

e
n
.C

h
u

rc
h

ill
@

h
u
n

ts
d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

D
 B

 D
e

w
 

- 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

L
e

is
u

re
 

4
 W

e
ir

 R
o

a
d

 
H

e
m

in
g

fo
rd

 G
re

y
 

H
u

n
ti
n

g
d

o
n

  
P

E
2

8
 9

E
H

 
 T

e
l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 4
6
9

8
1
4

  
  

  
  

E
-m

a
il:

  
D

o
u
g

la
s
.D

e
w

@
h

u
n

ts
d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
  

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

C
 R

 H
y
a

m
s
 

- 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

O
p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
  

a
n

d
 C

o
u

n
tr

y
s
id

e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

2
2

 B
lu

e
g

a
te

 
G

o
d

m
a

n
c
h

e
s
te

r 
H

u
n

ti
n

g
d

o
n

 
C

a
m

b
s
 P

E
2

9
 2

E
Z

 
 T

e
l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 3
8
8

9
6
8

  
  

  
  
 

E
-m

a
il:

  
C

o
lin

.H
y
a

m
s
@

h
u
n

ts
d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
  

Agenda Item 3

5



C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

A
 H

a
n
s
a

rd
 

- 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s
  

  
a

n
d

 P
o

lic
y
 

7
8

 P
o

tt
o

n
 R

o
a
d

 
E

y
n

e
s
b

u
ry

 
S

t 
N

e
o

ts
 

P
E

1
9

 2
N

N
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 3
8
8

9
4
2

  
  

  
E

-m
a

il:
  

A
n
d

re
w

.H
a

n
s
a

rd
@

h
u
n

ts
d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

M
rs

 D
 C

 R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

- 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

H
o

u
s
in

g
  

  
a

n
d

 P
u

b
lic

 H
e
a

lt
h
  

1
7

 V
ir

g
in

ia
 W

a
y
 

S
t 

Iv
e

s
 

P
E

2
7

 6
S

Q
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
0

 3
8
8

9
3
5

  
 

E
-m

a
il:

  
D

e
b
o

ra
h

.R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
@

h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

T
 V

 R
o

g
e

rs
 

  
- 

E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 C
o

u
n

c
ill

o
r 

fo
r 

F
in

a
n

c
e

  
  

a
n

d
 E

n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n

t 
H

o
n

e
y
s
u

c
k
le

 C
o

tt
a
g

e
 

3
4

 M
e

a
d

o
w

 L
a

n
e

 
E

a
ri

th
 

H
u

n
ti
n

g
d

o
n

  
  

 P
E

2
8

 3
Q

E
 

 T
e

l:
  

0
1

4
8
7

 8
4
0

4
7
7

  
  

  
  

  
E

-m
a

il:
  

T
e

re
n
c
e

.R
o

g
e

rs
@

h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 A
n

y
 p

e
rs

o
n

 w
h

o
 w

is
h

e
s
 t

o
 m

a
k
e

 r
e

p
re

s
e
n

ta
ti
o

n
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 d
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a

k
e

r 
a
b

o
u

t 
a

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 w

h
ic

h
 i

s
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
d
e

 m
a

y
 d

o
 s

o
 b

y
 c

o
n

ta
c
ti
n

g
 M

rs
 H

e
le

n
 T

a
y
lo

r,
 S

e
n

io
r 

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

o
n
 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8
0

0
8

 o
r 

E
-m

a
il:

  
 H

e
le

n
.T

a
y
lo

r@
h

u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
  

n
o
t 

le
s
s
 t
h

a
n

 1
4

 d
a

y
s
 p

ri
o

r 
to

 t
h

e
 d

a
te

 w
h

e
n

 t
h

e
 d

e
c
is

io
n

 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
. 

 T
h

e
 d

o
c
u

m
e

n
ts

 a
v
a

ila
b

le
 m

a
y
 b

e
 o

b
ta

in
e

d
 b

y
 c

o
n
ta

c
ti
n
g

 t
h

e
 r

e
le

v
a

n
t 

o
ff
ic

e
r 

s
h

o
w

n
 i

n
 t

h
is

 p
la

n
 w

h
o

 w
ill

 b
e

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 f

o
r 

p
re

p
a

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 f
in

a
l 

re
p

o
rt

 t
o
 b

e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 d
e

c
is

io
n

 m
a

k
e

r 
o

n
 t

h
e
 

m
a

tt
e

r 
in

 r
e
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e

 d
e

c
is

io
n

 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
. 

 S
im

ila
rl

y
 a

n
y
 e

n
q

u
ir

ie
s
 a

s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 s
u
b

je
c
t 

o
r 

m
a

tt
e

r 
to

 b
e

 t
a

b
le

d
 f

o
r 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 o
r 

o
n

 t
h

e
 a

v
a
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 o

r 
d
o

c
u
m

e
n

ta
ti
o
n
 

s
h

o
u
ld

 b
e

 d
ir
e

c
te

d
 t
o

 t
h
e

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

o
ff
ic

e
r.

 
 R

o
y
 R

e
e

v
e

s
 

H
e

a
d

 o
f 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o

n
 

 N
o

te
s
:-

 
(i

) 
A

d
d

it
io

n
s
/s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
c
h

a
n

g
e
s
 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 F

o
rw

a
rd

 a
re

 a
n

n
o

ta
te

d
 *

**
 

 
(i

i)
 

F
o

r 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 a
b
o

u
t 

h
o

w
 r

e
p

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
s
 a

b
o
u

t 
th

e
 a

b
o

v
e

 d
e

c
is

io
n

s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 p

le
a
s
e

 s
e

e
 t

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 P

e
ti
ti
o

n
s
 P

ro
c
e

d
u

re
 a

t 
h

tt
p

:/
/w

w
w

.h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
/N

R
/r

d
o

n
ly

re
s
/3

F
6

C
F

E
2

8
-

C
5

F
0

-4
B

A
0

-9
B

F
2

-7
6

E
B

A
E

0
6
C

8
9

D
/0

/P
e

ti
ti
o
n

s
le

a
fl
e

t.
p
d

f 
o

r 
te

le
p

h
o

n
e

 0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

0
0

6
 

 

 

S
u

b
je

c
t/

M
a

tt
e

r 
fo

r 
D

e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e

c
is

io
n

/ 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 

D
a

te
 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 t
o

 
b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
A

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
H

o
w

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
c

a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

ta
c

te
d

 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

  
 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 
C

o
u

n
c

il
lo

r 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 &

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n

e
l 

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

E
n

g
a

g
e
m

e
n
t 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
6

 O
c
t 

2
0

0
8

 
 

 P
re

v
io

u
s
 R

e
p

o
rt

 t
o

 
C

a
b

in
e

t 
 

 D
r 

S
 L

a
m

m
in

, 
H

e
a

d
 o

f 
E

n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l 
a
n

d
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 H

e
a
lt
h

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 T

e
l 
N

o
. 

(0
1

4
8
0

) 
3

8
8

2
8
0

 o
r 

e
m

a
il.

 
S

u
e

.L
a
m

m
in

@
h

u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 A

 H
a

n
s
a

rd
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

6



S
u

b
je

c
t/

M
a

tt
e

r 
fo

r 
D

e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e

c
is

io
n

/ 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 

D
a

te
 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 t
o

 
b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
A

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
H

o
w

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
c

a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

ta
c

te
d

 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

  
 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 
C

o
u

n
c

il
lo

r 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 &

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n

e
l 

 C
u

s
to

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
in

 S
t.

 
Iv

e
s
 a

n
d
 S

t.
 N

e
o
ts

 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
6

 O
c
t 

2
0

0
8

 
 

 N
o

n
e

. 
 

 J
u

lia
 B

a
rb

e
r,

 H
e
a

d
 o

f 
R

e
v
e

n
u
e

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 T

e
l 

N
o

. 
0

1
4
8

0
 3

8
8

1
0

5
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

J
u

lia
.B

a
rb

e
r@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 L

 M
 S

im
p

s
o

n
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 J
o

in
t 

M
u

n
ic

ip
a

l 
W

a
s
te

 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 C
o

n
s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
 

 R
o

b
e

rt
 W

a
rd

, 
H

e
a

d
 o

f 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
s
 T

e
l 
N

o
. 

(0
1

4
8
0

) 
3

8
8

6
3

5
) 

o
r 

e
m

a
il 

- 
R

o
b

e
rt

.W
a
rd

@
h

u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 W
id

e
 P

u
b

lic
 

C
o

n
s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
  

 C
 R

 H
y
a

m
s
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 S
u

b
-R

e
g

io
n

a
l 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 N
o

n
e

. 
 

 S
te

v
e

 P
la

n
t,
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 T

e
l 

N
o

. 
0

1
4
8

0
 3

8
8

2
4

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

S
te

v
e

.P
la

n
t@

h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 T
o

 b
e

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 

w
it
h

 s
ta

k
e

h
o

ld
e

rs
 

J
u

ly
/A

u
g
u

s
t 

 

 M
rs

 D
 C

 
R

e
y
n

o
ld

s
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 In
s
u

ra
n

c
e

 L
ia

b
ili

ty
 

T
e

s
t 

C
a

s
e

 -
 Z

u
ri
c
h

 
M

u
n

ic
ip

a
l/
M

M
I 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 N
o

n
e

 
 

 V
ic

k
i 
S

te
v
e

n
s
, 

S
o
lic

it
o

r 
T

e
l 
N

o
. 
(0

1
4

8
0

) 
3

8
8

0
2
3

 o
r 

e
m

a
il 

- 
V

ic
k
i.
S

te
v
e

n
s
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 T

 V
 R

o
g

e
rs

 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 P
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
 f

o
r 

R
iv

e
rs

id
e
 P

a
rk

 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 D
ra

ft
 P

ro
p

o
s
a
ls

 f
o

r 
R

iv
e

rs
id

e
 P

a
rk

 
 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
o

th
e

r 
k
e

y
 

s
ta

k
e

h
o
ld

e
rs

  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
&

 O
th

e
rs

 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

C
o
n

tr
o

l 
P

o
lic

ie
s
 P

re
fe

rr
e

d
 

O
p

ti
o

n
s
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 Is
s
u
e

s
 a

n
d

 O
p
ti
o

n
s
 

R
e

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 S
u
m

m
a

ry
 

o
f 

R
e

p
re

s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
s
 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 f
o

r 
C

o
n

s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

7



S
u

b
je

c
t/

M
a

tt
e

r 
fo

r 
D

e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e

c
is

io
n

/ 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 

D
a

te
 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 t
o

 
b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
A

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
H

o
w

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
c

a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

ta
c

te
d

 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

  
 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 
C

o
u

n
c

il
lo

r 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 &

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n

e
l 

 T
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
U

rb
a

n
 

D
e

s
ig

n
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
fo

r 
S

o
u

th
 o

f 
H

ig
h

 
S

tr
e

e
t,

 R
a
m

s
e

y
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 D
ra

ft
 C

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 
D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
 0

1
4

8
0

 3
8
8

4
3
0

 o
r 

e
-m

a
il 

- 
R

ic
h

a
rd

.P
ro

b
y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 h

a
v
in

g
 

fo
llo

w
e

d
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

o
d
ie

s
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 T
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
S

o
m

e
rs

h
a
m

 
C

o
n

s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

 C
h

a
n

g
e
s
 

a
n

d
 C

h
a

ra
c
te

r 
S

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 6
 N

o
v
 2

0
0

8
 

 

 D
ra

ft
 C

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 
D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 h

a
v
in

g
 

fo
llo

w
e

d
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

o
d
ie

s
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 D
ra

ft
 M

T
P

 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
, 

P
re

v
io

u
s
 Y

e
a

r'
s
 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

R
e

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 
V

a
ri

o
u
s
 A

n
n
e

x
e

s
 

 

 S
te

v
e

 C
o

u
p

e
r,

 H
e

a
d
 o

f 
F

in
a
n

c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

1
0

3
 -

 o
r 

e
m

a
il 

S
te

v
e

.C
o

u
p

e
r@

h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 a

n
d

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 (

C
S

F
) 

 

 T
 V

 R
o

g
e

rs
 

 

 C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 
S

tr
a

te
g
ic

 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
 

 D
e

c
e

n
t 
H

o
m

e
s
 

G
ra

n
t*

**
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 L
e

tt
e

rs
 f

o
r 

G
o

-E
a

s
t 

d
a

te
d

 1
0

 A
p

r 
2

0
0
8

 
a

n
d

 6
 J

u
n

 2
0
0

8
. 

P
re

v
io

u
s
 C

a
b

in
e

t 
R

e
p

o
rt

s
 D

a
te

d
 1

2
 J

a
n
 

2
0

0
6

, 
2

9
 J

u
n

 2
0

0
6

 
a

n
d

 2
2

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
7

 
 

 S
te

v
e

 P
la

n
t,
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 T

e
l 

(0
1

4
8
0

) 
3

8
8

2
4

0
 o

r 
e
m

a
il 

- 
S

te
v
e

.P
la

n
t@

h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 M

rs
 D

 C
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 a

n
d

 T
 

V
 R

o
g

e
rs

 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 G
re

a
t 

F
e

n
 

G
o

v
e

rn
a

n
c
e

 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 N
o

n
e

. 
 

 M
a

lc
o

lm
 S

h
a

rp
, 

D
ir
e

c
to

r 
o

f 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o
n

a
l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 T

e
l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

3
0
1

 o
r 

e
m

a
il 

- 
M

a
lc

o
lm

.S
h
a

rp
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 P

 L
 E

 B
u

c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 G
y
p

s
y
 a

n
d

 T
ra

v
e

lle
rs

 
Is

s
u
e

s
 a

n
d

 O
p
ti
o

n
s
 

R
e

p
o

rt
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 L
o

c
a
l 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
S

c
h

e
m

e
 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 f
o

r 
C

o
n

s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

8



S
u

b
je

c
t/

M
a

tt
e

r 
fo

r 
D

e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e

c
is

io
n

/ 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 

D
a

te
 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 t
o

 
b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
A

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
H

o
w

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
c

a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

ta
c

te
d

 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

  
 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 
C

o
u

n
c

il
lo

r 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 &

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n

e
l 

 T
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
U

rb
a

n
 

D
e

s
ig

n
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
fo

r 
la

n
d

 a
t 
T

h
e

 
W

h
a
d

d
o

n
s
, 

M
a

y
fi
e

ld
 

D
ri

v
e

, 
H

u
n

ti
n
g

d
o
n

**
* 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 D
ra

ft
 C

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 
D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
 0

1
4

8
0

 3
8
8

4
3
0

 o
r 

e
-m

a
il 

- 
R

ic
h

a
rd

.P
ro

b
y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 h

a
v
in

g
 

fo
llo

w
e

d
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

o
d
ie

s
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 T
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
G

o
d

m
a

n
c
h

e
s
te

r 
C

o
n

s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

 C
h

a
n

g
e
s
 

a
n

d
 C

h
a

ra
c
te

r 
S

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 D
ra

ft
 C

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 
D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 h

a
v
in

g
 

fo
llo

w
e

d
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

o
d
ie

s
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 T
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
K

im
b

o
lt
o
n

 
C

o
n

s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

 C
h

a
n

g
e
s
 

a
n

d
 C

h
a

ra
c
te

r 
S

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 D
ra

ft
 C

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 
D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 h

a
v
in

g
 

fo
llo

w
e

d
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

o
d
ie

s
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 T
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
H

o
u
g

h
to

n
 

a
n

d
 W

y
to

n
 

C
o

n
s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

 C
h

a
n

g
e
s
 

a
n

d
 C

h
a

ra
c
te

r 
S

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
0

 N
o

v
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 D
ra

ft
 C

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 
D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

fo
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 h

a
v
in

g
 

fo
llo

w
e

d
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o
n

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 p

u
b

lic
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

o
d
ie

s
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

9



S
u

b
je

c
t/

M
a

tt
e

r 
fo

r 
D

e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e

c
is

io
n

/ 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 

D
a

te
 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 t
o

 
b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
A

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
H

o
w

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
c

a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

ta
c

te
d

 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

  
 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 
C

o
u

n
c

il
lo

r 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 &

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n

e
l 

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e

rs
o

n
s
 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

U
p

d
a

te
**

* 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
8

 D
e

c
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

2
0

0
6

-1
1

. 
A

g
e

in
g

 
W

e
ll,

 H
o

u
s
in

g
, 
H

e
a

lt
h

 
a

n
d

 S
o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 f

o
r 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e

o
p

le
. 

L
if
e

ti
m

e
 

H
o

m
e

s
, 

L
if
e

ti
m

e
 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
s
, 

A
 

N
a

ti
o

n
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 i
n

 a
n

 A
g

e
in

g
 

S
o

c
ie

ty
, 

C
L

G
, 

D
W

P
, 

a
n

d
 D

H
, 

M
a

rc
h

 2
0
0

8
 

 

 J
o

 E
m

m
e

rt
o

n
, 

H
o
u

s
in

g
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

(0
1

4
8

0
) 

3
8

8
2
3

 o
r 

e
m

a
il 

- 
J
o

.E
m

m
e

rt
o

n
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 M

rs
 D

 C
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 A
m

e
n

d
m

e
n
ts

 t
o

 
D

is
a

b
le

d
 F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

G
ra

n
t 

L
e

g
is

la
ti
o

n
**

* 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
8

 D
e

c
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 T
h

e
 D

is
a

b
le

d
 

F
a

c
ili

ti
e

s
 G

ra
n

ts
 

(M
a

x
im

u
m

 A
m

o
u

n
ts

 
a

n
d

 A
d
d

it
io

n
a
l 

P
u

rp
o

s
e

s
) 

(E
n

g
la

n
d

) 
O

rd
e

r 
2

0
0
8

 
(S

1
2

0
0

8
/1

1
8
9

).
 T

h
e

 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 R

e
n
e

w
a

l 
G

ra
n

ts
 (

A
m

e
n

d
m

e
n

t)
 

(E
n

g
la

n
d

) 
R

e
g

u
la

ti
o

n
s
 2

0
0

8
 

(S
1

2
0

0
8
/1

1
9
0

).
 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

2
0

0
6

-1
1

. 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

G
ra

n
ts

 C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o

n
 

a
n

d
 R

e
g
e

n
e

ra
ti
o
n

 A
c
t 

1
9

9
6

 
 

 J
o

 E
m

m
e

rt
o

n
, 

H
o
u

s
in

g
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
(0

1
4

8
0
) 

3
8
8

2
0

3
 o

r 
e
m

a
il 

- 
J
o

.E
m

m
e

rt
o

n
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 M

rs
 D

 C
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 P
a

ri
s
h
 P

la
n
s
 a

n
d

 
L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

 P
o

lic
y
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
8

 D
e

c
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 P
re

v
io

u
s
 R

e
p

o
rt

 t
o

 
C

a
b

in
e

t 
in

 D
e

c
 2

0
0

3
 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

(0
1

4
8

0
) 

3
8

8
4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il.
 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
d

o
p

t 
p

ro
c
e

s
s
 o

f 
in

c
o

rp
o

ra
ti
n

g
 

re
le

v
a

n
t 

P
a

ri
s
h

 P
la

n
 

P
o

lic
ie

s
 i
n

to
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 P
o
lic

ie
s
  

 

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 IC
T

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
**

* 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
8

 D
e

c
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 IC
T

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

 

 A
n

d
re

w
 H

o
w

e
s
, 

IM
D

 O
p

e
ra

ti
o
n

s
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

1
9

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

A
n

d
re

w
.H

o
w

e
s
@

h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 L

 M
 S

im
p

s
o

n
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

10



S
u

b
je

c
t/

M
a

tt
e

r 
fo

r 
D

e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e

c
is

io
n

/ 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 b

y
 

D
a

te
 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 t
o

 
b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
A

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
H

o
w

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
c

a
n

 b
e
 c

o
n

ta
c

te
d

 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

  
 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 
C

o
u

n
c

il
lo

r 

R
e

le
v
a

n
t 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 &

 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n

e
l 

 W
e
b
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
**

* 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 1
8

 D
e

c
 2

0
0
8

 
 

 W
e
b
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

 

 J
o

h
n
 T

a
y
lo

r,
 I

M
D

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r 
T

e
l 

N
o

. 
(0

1
4
8

0
) 

3
8

8
1
1

9
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

J
o

h
n
.T

a
y
lo

r@
h

u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 L

 M
 S

im
p

s
o

n
 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 
 

 G
re

a
t 

F
e

n
 M

a
s
te

r 
P

la
n

 P
ro

g
re

s
s
**

* 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 8
 J

a
n

 2
0
0

9
 

 

 N
o

n
e

. 
 

 M
a

lc
o

lm
 S

h
a

rp
, 

D
ir
e

c
to

r 
o

f 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o
n

a
l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 T

e
l 
N

o
 (

0
1
4

8
0

) 
3

8
8
3
0

1
 o

r 
e

m
a
il 

- 
M

a
lc

o
lm

.S
h
a

rp
@

h
u
n

ts
d

c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 P

 L
 E

 B
u

c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 R
e

s
p

o
n
s
e

 t
o

 H
ig

h
w

a
y
 

A
g

e
n

c
y
 P

re
-

C
o

n
s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
 o

n
 s

id
e

 
ro

a
d

 O
rd

e
rs

 -
 A

1
4

 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
**

* 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 8
 J

a
n

 2
0
0

9
 

 

 C
o

n
s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
 

D
o

c
u

m
e

n
ts

 
 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

   
 P

 L
 B

u
c
k
n

e
ll 

 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 D
ra

ft
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

s
 

S
u

p
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ry

 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n

t 
   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
9

 J
a

n
 2

0
0

9
 

 

 H
u

n
ti
n

g
d

o
n
s
h

ir
e

 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

P
la

n
s
 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

0
1

4
8

0
 3

8
8

4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 f
o

r 
C

o
n

s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 H
u

n
ti
n

g
d

o
n

 W
e
s
t 

A
re

a
 A

c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 
P

re
fe

rr
e

d
 O

p
ti
o
n

s
 

   

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

 

 2
9

 J
a

n
 2

0
0

9
 

 

 Is
s
u
e

s
 a

n
d

 O
p
ti
o

n
s
 

R
e

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 S
u
m

m
a

ry
 

o
f 

R
e

p
re

s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
s
 

 

 R
ic

h
a

rd
 P

ro
b

y
n

, 
P

la
n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

T
e

l 
N

o
. 

(0
1

4
8

0
) 

3
8

8
4
3

0
 o

r 
e

m
a

il 
- 

R
ic

h
a

rd
.P

ro
b

y
n

@
h
u

n
ts

d
c
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 A
p

p
ro

v
e

 f
o

r 
C

o
n

s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
  

 P
 L

 E
 B

u
c
k
n
e

ll 
 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

 11



12

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
  
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY  PANEL 
(SERVICE DELIVERY) 
 

7TH OCTOBER 2008 

CABINET 6TH NOVEMBER 2008 
 
 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE & PETERBOROUGH JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE 
STRATEGY 

(Report by the Head of Operations) 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To approve adoption of the revised Joint Municipal Waste Management 

Strategy. 
 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1 The Joint Waste Partnership of Cambridgeshire County Council, 

Peterborough City Council and the 5 district councils submitted its Joint 
Municipal Waste Strategy to Defra in 2002.  Huntingdonshire District 
Council adopted this strategy in 2002.  Defra guidance on Municipal 
Waste Strategies states that strategies should be reviewed and revised 
every five years so that they reflect national, regional and local policies, 
legislation and targets.  This review has now been completed.  The 
revised document, a copy of which has been placed in the Members 
Room, combines the original principles established in 2002 and 
incorporates new themes that have emerged over the last five years.  
The revised and updated strategy has nine key themes all of which have 
associated objectives and actions. 

 
2.2 Following its adoption in 2002, it was agreed that the strategy would be 

reviewed after 5 years.  Recycling Plans, which were appended to the 
2002 Strategy, were reviewed in 2005 and revised plans have been 
available on the RECAP (Recycling in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough) website since then. 

 

2.3 The partner authorities have been working towards voluntary 
targets agreed within the strategy for combined recycling and 
composting as follows:- 

 
 45 - 50% by 2010/11 
 50 - 55% by 2015/16 
 55 – 60% by 2020/21 

 

2.4 Together, the partnership members have achieved a very high 
overall recycling and composting rate, with an average of 50.5% 
for 2007/08 across the partnership area.  As a result of this joint 
working, Cambridgeshire has been the highest performing shire 
county in the country for the last four years and is likely to be 
again in 07/08. Huntingdonshire’s recycling rate for 2007/08 was 
55.93%, amongst the highest in the country. This excellent 

Agenda Item 5

13



 

performance throughout the partnership area means that the 
2010/11 target has been achieved 3 years ahead of time. 

 

2.5 As a high performing authority/partnership, we are not now 
required by DEFRA to produce a new strategy however the 
partnership agreed that as a review is regarded as Best Practice it 
should be carried out.  The new updated strategy incorporates up 
to date and relevant targets with a clear action plan to deliver 
them. 

 

2.6 The revised document combines the original principles of the 2002 
document with new themes that have emerged since the original 
document was written.   An extensive public consultation has been 
carried out to ensure that the document addresses current and 
future need.   

 
 The nine key themes of the strategy are outlined below.   
 

• Underlying Strategic Principles for the Waste Strategy 

• Joint Working,  

• Climate Change; 

• Protection of the Environment;  

• Waste Prevention & Reuse;  

• Recycling & Composting;  

• Management of Residual Waste;  

• Wider Waste Role; and  

• Stakeholder Engagement 

 
 Attached at Appendix A are the eighteen actions which are 

designed to deliver the strategy objectives 
 

2.7 The strategy covers arrangements for the sustainable 
management of Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) controlled by the 
RECAP partners and is the framework for addressing waste 
prevention, reuse, recycling and recovery in line with the waste 
hierarchy.  It also covers collection, treatment and disposal of 
MSW.  The strategy is a forward thinking document which clearly 
identifies the links between waste management and climate 
change.  It continues to direct the way forward for waste 
management within the area and reconciles the twin aspirations of 
customer satisfaction whilst achieving the national and European 
waste diversion targets. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1 As a high performing authority that has made significant 
investment in waste management and recycling services in recent 
years, there are no financial implications associated with the 
adoption of the new strategy. 

 
 

14



 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Cabinet are requested to 

 
a) approve the adoption of the revised and updated Joint Municipal 

Waste Management Strategy. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Strategy for dealing with Joint Municipal Solid Waste 2002 – 20022 in  
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
 
Contact Officer: Robert Ward, Head of Operations 
 (((( 01480 388635 

15



 

APPENDIX A 

REVIEW OF JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

FOR CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH – ACTION PLAN 

 

Action 
No. 

 

1. JMWMS: Maintain the relevance and responsiveness of the 
JMWMS: 

2. RECAP Governance: The Partnership Team will implement 
and review a robust mechanism for effective decision making, 
communication and change management throughout the 
partnership. 

3. New Communities: Provide effective and efficient provision 
of waste services to new and re-locating Council Tax payers 
entering the JSA as a result of the Growth Agenda. 

4. Service Modification: Identify service modifications required 
to meet Strategy and statutory targets. 

5. Joint Procurement: Investigate and pursue opportunities for 
joint procurement (via joint contracts and jointly procured 
contracts) for bring sites, Materials Recovery Facilities, 
bulking and transfer stations or joint kerbside collection 
contracts, where feasible. 

6. Climate Change: RECAP will work to place itself in a position 
to reduce its climate change impacts from waste management 
activities and to monitor impact on climate change. 

7. Enviro-Crime: Develop and implement consistent and co-
ordinated policies in the partnership. 

8. Waste Prevention: Decrease the amount of total household 
waste per dwelling to 1,272 kg by 2019/20. 
 

9. Third Sector Reuse: Increase opportunities for reuse in the 
partnership area. 

10. Marketing and Communication: In 2009 the Marketing 
Group will develop a communication strategy to be 
implemented over the following 10 years, which will aim at 
increasing the diversion from landfill. 

11. Trade Waste Recycling: Develop and implement a Trade 
Waste Strategy, by the end of 2008. 

12. Dry and Organic Recycling: To develop the existing 
comprehensive recycling service within the JSA, in order to 
achieve the RECAP JMWMS targets. 

13. Key Indicators: Ensure the effective delivery of the Strategy 
to achieve statutory targets. 

14. Legislative Responsibilities: To ensure the compliance with 
all waste legislation and treatment regulations. 

15. Procurement of Residual Waste Treatment Facilities: To 
provide sustainable waste treatment facilities to ensure the 
diversion of waste captured in the residual waste stream. 

16. Wider Waste Role: Play a wider role in tackling non-
municipal waste. 

16



 

 

17. Funding: The partnership team will continually monitor and 
seek external funding opportunities (such as WRAP and 
DEFRA) to implement initiatives that further achieve the 
RECAP’s objectives, and these opportunities will demonstrate 
best practice and raise RECAP's profile. 

18. Development of Waste Targets within LAAs: RECAP will 
seek to influence the inclusion of waste targets within the 
local area agreements annual refresh process. 
 

 
 

 

17



18

This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL           7TH OCTOBER 2008 
(SERVICE DELIVERY) 
 

ENHANCED CLEANSING SERVICES 
(Report by the Head of Administration) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to acquaint the Panel with the Cabinet’s 

response to the Panel’s report on Enhanced Cleansing Services for the 
District’s market towns. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 At its meeting on 1st July 2008, the Panel made a series of recommendations 

designed to enhance Sunday cleansing services in all the market towns in the 
District. The Cabinet considered the Panel’s report at their meeting on 4th 
September 2008. 

 
2.2 A copy of the report considered by the Cabinet is appended hereto. 
 
3. CABINET DECISION 
 
3.1 The Cabinet noted the recommendations contained within the report but 

before making a decision, requested further information on the introduction of 
Sunday cleansing services, in particular, the operational issues associated 
with the scope of the areas to be cleaned and the delivery of the service. 
Particular reference was made to the extent of the areas identified and the 
need to target specific streets. 

 
3.2 The Cabinet also registered their concerns that additional cleansing services 

on a Sunday were likely to cause some early morning noise and commented 
that this would be seen as being detrimental to some residents living within 
the vicinity. 

 
3.3 In addition, a request was made for a financial proposal to be prepared for 

consideration as part of the Council’s Medium Term Plan in the future.  
 
3.4 The Cabinet did, however, concur with the Panel’s recommendations to seek 

financial contributions from the Town Councils towards the cost of 
implementing the proposal and for the use of Alcohol Disorder Zones to be 
investigated. A report on the latter appears elsewhere on the Agenda. 

 
 
4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 The Cabinet has noted the recommendations outlined in the Panel’s report 

and has asked for additional information. Further progress on this matter will 
be reported on at the meeting. The Panel is requested to consider what action 
to take. 

 

Agenda Item 6

19



BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Reports and Decisions of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 4th September 2008. 
Reports and Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery) on 2nd 
September 2008. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Miss H Ali, Democratic Services Officer 
 (((( 01480 388006 
 

20



CABINET 4TH SEPTEMBER 2008

ENHANCED CLEANSING SERVICES PROPOSAL FOR MARKET TOWNS 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery)) 

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 At its meeting on 1st July 2008, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service 
Delivery) considered a report containing details and costs of providing 
additional cleansing services in the District’s town centres on Sundays. The 
report is attached as an Appendix hereto. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 In October 2006, the Panel established a Working Group comprising 
Councillors J D Ablewhite, R W J Eaton and J W Davies to consider whether 
there was a need to introduce a cleaning service in towns on Sundays to deal 
with the effects of the Saturday night time economy in terms of litter. In view 
of the rise of the Sunday economy the Working Group was asked to take into 
account tourism and Sunday trading. 

2.2 Following discussion, the Working Group suggested that a trial of new 
cleansing arrangements on Sundays should be undertaken in St Ives. This 
proposal was considered by the Panel at its meeting on 8th January 2008, 
when a detailed explanation of various options and their financial implications 
was available. However, the Panel were of the view that a similar situation 
existed in other areas and, therefore, requested additional information, 
including the financial implications, on providing a cleansing service on 
Sundays in the market towns across the District. 

3. DELIBERATIONS 

3.1 Members of the Panel, at their meeting on 1st July 2008, reiterated their 
concerns about the cleanliness of the District’s town centres on Sundays, 
particularly as Sunday trade and tourism are increasing both at a local and 
national level. Reference was made to the effect of litter on the objectives in 
these respects identified in Growing Success, the Council’s Corporate Plan, 
and, more specifically, the Local Economy Strategy. 

3.2 The Panel has taken into account a representation made by Holywell-cum-
Needingworth Parish Council, who have registered concerns that the District 
Council cleaning regime is focused primarily on town centres and that 
cleansing services for villages are predominantly funded by Parish Councils. 
Nevertheless, the Panel were of the view that as users of the towns, 
parishioners would benefit from the proposed cleansing services.  

3.3 The Panel has discussed the option of establishing Alcohol Disorder Zones 
within the District. This is a Government measure designed to identify 
establishments deemed responsible for the problems in an area. Those 
establishments identified are liable to pay for the necessary cost of services 
required to return an area back to an acceptable state. The Panel has 
expressed the view that investigation of the potential benefits of introducing 

21



Alcohol Disorder Zones should be undertaken, with a view to adopting this as 
a long term measure to address the problems associated with litter in Towns. 

3.4 In terms of the operational costs of introducing a Sunday cleansing service, 
the Panel has concluded that the annual cost of £52,400 demonstrates good 
value for money, particularly, in light of the anticipated benefits that would be 
achieved. The Panel have, however, expressed their view that as savings are 
required to be identified by the Council to meet the costs of the proposal, 
financial contributions should be sought from the Town Councils. Cleansing 
on Sundays would be more feasible and there would be a greater likelihood 
that a service would be introduced if such contributions were forthcoming. 

4. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

4.1 The Panel has identified that there is a need to introduce Sunday cleansing 
services in the market towns across the District, which has arisen out of the 
growing Saturday night time economy and the adverse effect of the resulting 
litter on Sunday trade and tourism. In recognising the financial constraints 
already placed upon the Council, the Panel therefore  

RECOMMEND the Cabinet to 

(a) introduce cleansing services on Sundays in the market 
towns across the District as set out in the Appendix; 

(b) seek financial contributions from Town Councils towards 
the costs of implementing this proposal;

(c) subject to the outcome of (b) above, include a bid for 
funding for the proposal in the Medium Term Plan; and 

(d) investigate the introduction of Alcohol Disorder Zones in 
the District in the long term. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Minutes and Reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery) 

Contact Officer: Miss Habbiba Ali, Democratic Services Officer  
01480 388006 

22



23



24



25



26



27



28



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL    7TH OCTOBER 2008  
(SERVICE DELIVERY) 
CABINET       16TH OCTOBER 2008  
LICENSING COMMITTEE     21ST OCTOBER 2008  
 

 
ALCOHOL DISORDER ZONES 

(Report by Head of Administration) 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Cabinet has recently asked for further information on Alcohol Disorder 

Zones (ADZs), arising from a report submitted by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel (Service Delivery) on the introduction of an enhanced cleansing service 
on Sundays in the market towns in the District to counteract the after-effects 
of the night time economy in town centres.  The Panel had recommended an 
investigation of the introduction of ADZs in the District in the long term. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this report is to explain the circumstances in which ADZs can 

be introduced. 
 
2. The Legislation 
 
2.1 ADZs were introduced by the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 in response 

to problems in city and town centres as a result of excessive alcohol 
consumption.  It was unrelated to but reflected growing concern about the 
implications of the Licensing Act 2003 on longer opening hours for licensed 
premises.  The accompanying regulations only came into effect in June 2008 
with guidance issued by the Home Office shortly beforehand. 

 
2.2 The designation of an area as an ADZ is defined as a non-executive function.   

It is therefore a responsibility of Council as opposed to Cabinet.  As ADZs are 
related exclusively to alcohol consumption, as will be explained later in this 
report, it seems appropriate for this to fall within the terms of reference of the 
Licensing Committee. 

 
3. Implications of an ADZ 
 
3.1 The designation of an area as an ADZ is a last resort.  It is a course of action 

to be embarked upon by an authority, either of its own volition or at the 
request of the police, when all other measures possible under the various 
legislation to control the adverse effects of alcohol consumption has failed to 
resolve a problem. 

 
3.2 Both authorities (and other agencies) have enforcement powers to deal with 

contravention of the legislation in individual premises, in public spaces and by 
members of the public.  ADZs are appropriate where problems relating to 
alcohol consumption cannot easily be attributed to individual licensed 
premises and registered clubs.  Where all other remedies have been 
attempted without success, an authority and the police can contemplate 
designating the area concerned as an ADZ. 

 
 

Agenda Item 7

29



3.3 It is important to note, especially in the context of the discussions at the 
Scrutiny Panel and Cabinet meetings, that ADZs are intended only to address 
high levels of alcohol related nuisance and annoyance to members of the 
public or disorder that is not attributable to a single premises.  The decision to 
proceed has to be evidence based and demonstrate that the problems cannot 
be dealt with by other means.  Evidence must include police incident, crime 
and custody data and CCTV incident logs but can be backed up by NHS 
Emergency Department data, licensing authority evidence, bus and taxi 
incident forms and feedback from the public.  The latter in themselves are not 
sufficient. 

 
3.4 If the authority is considering proceeding with an ADZ, there is an extensive 

consultation process that involves public notice in the press and to various 
bodies and licence holders inviting representations on the proposals.  The 
response to any representations also must be published.  If the authority 
intends to proceed, it must compile an action plan setting out preventative 
measures with voluntary charges to licence holders within the area 
designated.  If those measures do not work within 8 weeks, the authority can 
proceed to designate an ADZ.  This involves another round of public 
consultation.  If an ADZ is designated, it must be reviewed every 3 months 
with public notice of any decision to continue, amend or lift a designation. 

 
4. Measures and Charges 
 
4.1 The measures that can be taken to address any alcohol related nuisance and 

annoyance are restricted to activities by Trading Standards Officers relating to 
the sale of alcohol to children, by Environmental Health Officers relating to 
noise nuisance from licensed premises, by Licensing Officers of the licensing 
authority and by police constables and community safety officers.  A baseline 
level of service has to be calculated for a period preceding designation and 
an enhanced level after designation. 

 
4.2 Costs can be recovered from licensed premises and registered clubs selling 

alcohol within the designated area for the delivery of the enhanced services 
plus the administrative cost of the ADZ process.  In calculating individual 
charges, these must be scored on rateable values and hours of opening of 
premises with a facility for discounts and exemptions to be granted.  Failure to 
pay the charge demanded by the licensing authority for the enhanced 
services can lead to the suspension of licences and certificates. 

 
5. Conclusion 
 
5.1 The measures described are appropriate only when all other measures have 

failed to deal with nuisance and annoyance to members of the public relating 
to alcohol consumption.  They cannot be applied to other problems 
associated with late night entertainment such as hot food outlets or litter.  
They are therefore inappropriate in the case of an enhanced cleansing regime 
in town centres which was the subject of the investigation by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery). 

 
5.2 The situation in the town centres in the District will continue to be monitored in 

association with partner organisations and if it is felt that an ADZ would be 
appropriate, this will be brought to the attention of the Licensing Committee. 

 
 

30



6. Recommendation 
 

It is therefore 
 
Recommended 

 
that the position with regard to the new powers to designate 
alcohol disorder zones be noted. 

 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 
The Local Authorities (Alcohol Disorder Zones) Regulations 2008  
Home Office Guidance on the Designation of Alcohol Disorder Zones. 
Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery) on Enhanced 
Cleansing Services Proposal for Market Towns. 
 
 
Contact Person:  
 
Roy Reeves, Head of Administration 
Tel: (01480) 388014 
 
 

   

31



32

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL    7TH OCTOBER 2008 
(SERVICE DELIVERY)       
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL    14TH OCTOBER 2008 
(SERVICE SUPPORT)       
CABINET       16TH OCTOBER 2008  
 
 

IMPROVING LOCAL ACCOUNTABILITY CONSULTATION 
CHANGES TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY POWERS 

 
(Report by Head of Administration) 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 At the Panels’ meetings in February, a report was considered on changes to 

overview and scrutiny introduced by the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and a consultation paper on the Councillor 
‘call for action’ and local petitions.  The Panels were advised that further 
information would be submitted to them on the implementation of the 
legislation as this became available. 

 
1.2 The Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) has now 

issued a further consultation paper on the changes, in the light of the 
publication of the recent White Paper ‘Communities in Control’.  The 
consultation asks a number of questions, in response to which suggested 
answers are contained in the attached annex.  The Panels’ and Cabinet’s 
views are sought on the changes proposed and the attached response. 

 
2. Communities in Control White Paper 
 
2.1 The White Paper builds on the changes introduced in the 2007 Act and 

contains the following proposals for overview and scrutiny – 
 

• Encouraging more creative involvement of the public, for example by holding 
deliberative events 

• Moving meetings into the community and considering webcasting 

• Greater public involvement in suggesting and selecting topics for review 

• Making information more readily available and accessible on websites and at 
council offices 

• Further enhancing the powers of overview and scrutiny committees to require 
information from partners on a broader range of issues 

• If necessary providing councils in two tier areas with a power to combine 
resources in ‘area’ scrutiny committees 

• Requiring some dedicated scrutiny resource in county and unitary councils. 
 
2.2 Further proposals of relevance to overview and scrutiny are – 
 

• Increasing the visibility of officers of local public bodies so that they are open 
to public scrutiny and questioning by local communities 

• A new right to petition to hold local officers to account 

• A new duty on Councils to respond to all petitions, including electronic 
petitions, relating to local authority functions or other public services where 
the Council shares delivery responsibilities. 

 
 
3. Improving Local Accountability Consultation 
 
3.1 CLG are planning a series of consultation papers to implement changes 

introduced by the 2007 Act and the White Paper.  In addition to the improving  

Agenda Item 8

33



 2 

 
 
 

local accountability paper, the others are the making and enforcement of 
byelaws, a revised code of conduct for Members, on-line petitioning for 
mayors, time off entitlements for membership of Councils and other voluntary 
organisations, and a review of the code of recommended practice on local 
government publicity. 

 
3.2 The particular issues on which views are sought in the current paper are – 
 

• Developing and strengthening overview and scrutiny by implementing the 
provisions of the 2007 Act to enhance scrutiny powers in relation to Local 
Area Agreement partners and the delivery against targets and in particular 
regulations in respect of – 

 
o Overview and scrutiny committees requiring information from 

partner authorities 
o Publication of scrutiny reports, recommendations and responses 
o Establishment of joint county and district overview and scrutiny 

committees 
o Enhancing the powers of district overview and scrutiny committees 

 

• How best to take forward the proposals in the White Paper to raise the 
profile of overview and scrutiny 

 

• Increasing the visibility and accountability of local public officers 
 

• Facilitating the work of councillors by enabling them to use information 
and communications technology to participate in meetings and vote 
remotely. 

 
4. Other Proposals  
 
4.1 Members may recall that the report in February also referred to the changes 

introduced in the Police and Justice Act 2006 which required every authority 
to have a crime and disorder committee to scrutinise the discharge of crime 
and disorder functions by other responsible authorities.  Implementation of the 
proposals has been delayed pending the Flanagan report on policing and the 
publication of a Green Paper on the Police. 

 
5. Conclusion 
 
5.1 The Government is committed to raising the profile of overview and scrutiny 

as part of a series of measures to encourage greater community involvement 
in local decision making.  Several of the initiatives have already been either 
tried or implemented by the Council but Members will be aware of the 
difficulty in engaging with the public other than in cases where a high profile 
issue has raised local concern. 

 
5.2 The Panels and Cabinet will be updated as the anticipated regulations and 

guidance are issued. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



 3 

 
 
 
6. Recommendation 
 
6.1 Suggested responses to the questions posed in the consultation paper are 

made in the attached annex and it is  
 

RECOMMENDED 
 

that the Panels and Cabinet consider and endorse the responses for 
submission to CLG as part of the implementation process of the 2007 
Act and the White Paper. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Crime and Justice Act 2006 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
Communities in Control White Paper 
Improving Local Accountability White Paper 
Report to Overview & Scrutiny Panels in February 2008 on Local Petitions and Calls 
for Action 
 
Contact Officer  
 
Roy Reeves, Head of Administration 
Tel: (01480) 388003 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



 4 

 
 

Annex 
 

IMPROVING LOCAL ACCOUNTABILITY CONSULTATION 
CHANGES TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY POWERS 

 
Questions Raised and Suggested Answers 

 
Question 1 
 
This deals with the arrangements for overview and scrutiny committees to require 
information from partner authorities.  This enables a district council committee to 
seek information from the county council as lead authority or any partner in an LAA 
that relates to a target connected with the district’s area and functions.  CLG propose 
limited regulation on the release and withholding of information.  Release refers to 
information that relates to LAA targets and withholding concerns data protection, 
commercial confidentiality and information already in the public domain.  No time 
limits are proposed for responses to requests nor how requests can be kept to 
manageable proportions which will be matters of local discretion.  Comments are 
invited on the proposals. 
 
Suggested Response 
 
While local discretion and flexibility is welcomed, it is important that some mechanism 
is in place to ensure that partners do co-operate in providing information to the detail 
required and in a timely manner.  Since Freedom of Information requests are time 
limited to 20 working days with an appeal to the Information Commissioner where a 
public authority fails to comply, it would not be unreasonable for the same sanctions 
to be applied in this case. 
 
Question 2 
 
The 2007 Act specifies the arrangements for the withholding of exempt and 
confidential information when overview and scrutiny reports are published and an 
authority responds.  This does not include an executive and the question raised is 
whether there is agreement to the extension of the same principle to local authority 
executives. 
 
Suggested Response 
 
Agreed 
 
Question 3 
 
The 2007 Act enables the establishment of joint county and district overview and 
scrutiny committees.  The consultation paper invites comments on the extension of 
existing overview and scrutiny powers to joint committees, while recognising the 
need for co-ordination to ensure that duplication does not arise in terms of the 
scrutiny of partners by a number of overview and scrutiny committees. 
 
Members will be aware that joint scrutiny already exists in Cambridgeshire.  In terms 
of health scrutiny, district councillors are co-opted to the relevant County scrutiny 
committee and a joint accountability committee has been formed to scrutinise the 
LAA board, Cambridgeshire Together.  A separate report deals with those joint 
arrangements elsewhere on the agenda. 
 
Suggested Response 
 

36



 5 

The extension of scrutiny powers to joint committees is welcomed.  The joint 
committee however should not be able to direct the work of scrutiny committees in 
individual authorities nor be able to exercise any veto over legitimate lines of enquiry 
into the achievement of LAA targets or the performance of partners.  It should be a 
matter for local discretion as part of the agreed terms of reference between the local 
authorities concerned as to how the joint committee might co-ordinate scrutiny 
activities,  respond to proposals by individual authorities for an area based study or 
suggest that a study is undertaken by an individual authority’s scrutiny committee. 
 
Question 4 
 
Regulations are proposed to implement the provisions in the 2007 Act to give district 
scrutiny committees in two tier areas similar powers to lead councils, i.e. county 
councils.  As such, they can make reports and recommendations to the county 
council on local improvement targets and the county must respond within 2 months.  
Other authorities will be required to have regard to such reports and 
recommendations.  While it will be for a district committee to determine its 
programme of work, it should have regard to scrutiny work planned by the lead 
council and any joint committee.  To minimise potential duplication, the requirements 
for a county council to respond and partner authorities to have regard to a report and 
recommendations will only apply to matters where a joint committee has not already 
reported.  Comments are invited. 
 
Suggested Response 
 
The proposals to extend similar powers to district scrutiny committees are supported.  
While the need to avoid duplication is recognised, a timescale should be applied to 
the restriction preventing a district committee from scrutinising a subject already 
considered by a joint committee of say 2 years. 
 
Question 5 
 
This only applies to authorities of less than 85,000 population. 
 
Question 6 
 
CLG are proposing to introduce a power for county and district councils to combine 
scrutiny resources in area scrutiny committees if they wish to do so.  Comments are 
invited on what issues should be considered as part of any new power. 
 
Suggested response 
 
While there is a role for an area committee in considering issues of county wide 
significance and in scrutinising LAA targets and performance, it should not 
circumvent the ability of district committees to scrutinise individual subjects relevant 
to that authority’s area within the general power of promoting economic, social and 
environmental well-being.  An area committee’s co-ordinating responsibility should be 
limited to an advisory capacity only. 
 
The primary role of an area committee should be to hold to account an LAA Board 
but it will be powerless to do so unless it has the ability to call in decisions of the 
Board.  If an area committee cannot do so and it is impractical for scrutiny 
committees of individual authorities to exercise this function, a Board cannot be 
effectively held to account.  
 
Question 7 
 
CLG propose that county, unitary and borough councils are required to make 
provision for a dedicated scrutiny resource to support the overview and scrutiny 

37



 6 

function.  A similar requirement is not extended to district councils, presumably 
because of the resource implications for smaller authorities. 
 
Suggested response 
 
No comment. 
 
Question 8 
 
CLG want to introduce an appeals mechanism if petitioners are not satisfied with an 
authority’s response to a petition.  As overview and scrutiny committees are 
independent of the executive, CLG propose that they act as the appeals body with a 
remedy of triggering a debate at full council if they consider the response to be not 
sufficiently adequate.  Comments are invited about the practicality of this approach. 
 
Suggested response 
 
The approach is unnecessarily bureaucratic.  Authorities will have existing 
mechanisms for dealing with petitions.  In the case of Huntingdonshire, petitions 
containing over 50 signatures are already presented to Council and those with over 
10 signatures to a scrutiny panel.  It should be a matter for the discretion of individual 
authorities to decide upon the most appropriate method to deal with a petition, as 
long as there is an assurance that this will be considered in a member forum. 
 
Question 9 
 
The White Paper seeks to achieve a consistency of approach in public services to 
formalise arrangements to require chairmen and chief executives to attend a public 
hearing in the community at regular intervals every three or four months to explain 
their actions and listen to the views and concerns of local people.  The requirement 
to attend such meetings should form part of the job descriptions of the chairman and 
chief executive and the question raised is whether those responsible for the job 
descriptions should determine the precise arrangements for the attendance of those 
persons. 
 
Suggested response 
 
Regular meetings are unlikely to attract high attendances, even if they are co-
ordinated so that several bodies are represented.  If the area covered is too wide 
geographically, members of the public will be less likely to travel and to identify 
themselves with the bodies in question.  The public tend to be more interested in 
local issues of topical significance such as a threatened hospital closure which does 
attract high attendances at public meetings.  The result of the current proposal could 
be a plethora of poorly attended meetings but with leading figures present which 
would be an inefficient use of resources and time.  If public bodies are to be held to 
account by the public, this would be best achieved through the strengthening of the 
scrutiny role of local authorities and the use of petitions to raise issues of concern. 
 
If CLG intends to proceed with this proposal, it is preferable for the precise 
arrangements for public meetings and the determination as to who should attend to 
be dealt with by the public bodies themselves. 
 
Question 10 
 
The White Paper proposes a new right for people to petition to hold officers to 
account with senior officers working for a public body required to attend a public 
meeting.  CLG therefore propose that the lead council in each LAA area should 
agree with partners a scheme for petitions to hold officers to account.  The scheme 
should complement local petitions arrangements, set out the officers or category of 
officers to which it would apply, specify the petition criteria, the bodies affected and 

38



 7 

how they will respond, and the arrangements for a hearing.  Comments are invited on 
the proposal and the practical implications. 
 
Suggested response 
 
Officers implement rather than set policy.  If representatives of public bodies are to 
be held to account in this way by the public, it is the decision makers who should be 
required to attend to respond to concerns.  The opportunity to petition for a hearing is 
a much more tangible and meaningful way of ensuring public engagement than 
scheduled, poorly attended meetings.  If the scheme is to cover the whole of an LAA 
area, there should be opportunities for some discretion to allow for local 
circumstances.  The scheme also should enable issues that are local in nature to be 
dealt with through district scrutiny committees as opposed to the broader LAA area.   
 
Question 11 
 
Should the Government specify certain minimum standards for the scheme to hold 
public officers to account?  These might include the timescale for the implementation 
of a scheme, which officers or category of officers should be required to attend and 
which local service providers should be involved.  CLG suggest that officers should 
be restricted, in local government terms, to statutory officers and/or non-statutory 
officers as defined in legislation. 
 
 Suggested response 
 
This is a subject that is best left to local discretion. 
 
Question 12 
 
CLG propose that a local authority and its partners should agree on which local 
service providers and agencies the scheme should apply to, subject to any statutory 
minimum requirements.  Comments are invited as to whether the scope of the 
scheme should be agreed locally and whether this will be an effective means of 
empowering communities. 
 
Suggested response 
 
This is a subject that is best left to local discretion.  There is little confidence that this 
will be an effective means of empowering communities and it is unlikely that it will 
prove popular, other than on those occasions when there is a local issue of concern. 
 
 
 
Question 13 
 
The report of the Councillors Commission recommended the introduction of virtual 
meetings with Members being able to take part and vote in meetings remotely.  The 
Government intend to legislate to introduce the measure in the Community 
Empowerment, Housing and Economic Regeneration Bill.  Authorities will be able to 
opt in to remote voting, the conditions being that at least one Member must be 
physically present at the meeting and members of the public present at the meeting 
must be able to witness what is happening.  Comments are invited on the proposal. 
 
Suggested response 
 
While this may help overcome problems of time and distance, the practicalities 
should not be under-estimated and it should be at the discretion of individual 
authorities as to whether they choose to adopt this measure. 
  
 

39



40

This page is intentionally left blank



A Clinical Vision for our NHS, now and for the next decade

Agenda Item 9

41



Dr. Robert Winter

Clinical Leader for the Vision
East of England NHS

Neil McKay

Chief Executive
East of England NHS

For and on behalf of your NHS.

The National Health Service in the east of England employs 125,000 people in 41 different organisations serving 
the health and healthcare needs of the 5.6 million people who call this region home.  For years it has done the day 
job of delivering care in a financially unsustainable and debt laden environment.
     
That debt is gone; we have made debt history.  Now is the time to look to the future.  Clinicians from across the 
region have come together with patients and stakeholders to say this is our vision of a better future for our NHS.
     
A vision that is clinically led, evidence based, and patient centred.  A vision across the full breadth of the NHS: from 
before birth for expectant mothers to after death for bereaved families, touching all our lives along the way.           
A vision based on principles that matter and outcomes that can be measured.  A vision for our whole NHS.
     
We set out on this journey 18 months ago, with confidence that we would turn our financial position around and 
be ready to look to and plan for a better future.  Three distinct but linked pieces of work have created Towards 
the best, together.
     
Looking to the Future brought together clinicians and managers, stakeholders and the patient voice to ensure that 
our pattern of hospital services was sustainable, effective and accessible.  
     
Improving Lives; Saving Lives set out our immediate priorities, the pledges we make over the next three years in 
the key areas of delivering a better patient experience; improving people’s health; and reducing unfairness in 
health.  A consultation across the region showed us where we were right to pledge and where we needed to 
change.  These pledges now form the basis of agreed priorities for our local NHS that are measurable, outcome 
focussed and patient centred.
     
Our NHS, Our Future was the brainchild of Professor Lord Ara Darzi, a world renowned surgeon, and mirrored the 
work we were already undertaking through Looking to the Future on a national but still locally led stage.  It was 
designed to look across the health system and use best evidence to plot a path to the best.
     
Together these three pieces of work have involved hundreds of staff, patients and the public; and thousands of 
hours of work, analysis, testing, and thinking.  A process, nearly two years in development once completed.
     
This document sets out the results of that work.  The outcomes from the many clinicians and other staff who 
brought their own experiences and expertise to the table to answer the following questions:
     

     

     
It is a vision that gives new mothers the confidence to make their own decisions about care during childbirth, 
knowing that first class medical intervention is available if needed.  It describes how, through both hospitals and 
in the community, we can provide the right services for children with mental or physical health problems in the 
right place at the right time.  It creates the hospital infrastructure that allows specialists to operate in the best 
possible environments, with the best possible equipment, and the most skilled staff 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 
365 days a year.  It plots a course for those with long term conditions that treats people as individuals not diseases.  
And it produces a plan that will allow people at the end of their life to be cared for with dignity, where they want, 
surrounded by those they are closest to.  All of this is underpinned by a lifelong focus on staying healthy and a 
recognition that there is no health without mental health.
     
It does all of this whilst delivering stability and confidence for staff and local people.  The vision clearly states that 
there is a sustainable future for 17 Acute Trusts in the region all continuing to operate Accident and Emergency 
and Maternity Services.  This vision is based on cutting edge clinical evidence and is grounded in reality.  And, it is 
deliverable.  We have the resources to invest where we need to.
     
We commend this vision to you and, in the spirit of building an even better service in the future, ask for your views 
and for you to join us in our journey Towards the best, together.

42



Executive Summary

Towards the best, together

1

Introduction

Towards the best, together is our vision for our NHS, now and for the next decade.  It already represents the 
work of hundreds of staff, patients and the public across the east of England and now we seek your views. 

The vision draws together three different but complementary pieces of work to forge a path towards our 
overall goal: to be the best health service in England.  It is clinically led, evidence based and patient centred.

Looking to the Future was started in March 2007.  It was based on five clinically led groups looking at differ-
ent areas of our acute hospital infrastructure and sought to ensure the services they delivered were sustain-
able and fit for the future.

Improving Lives; Saving Lives was designed to make the benefits of our financial turnaround apparent and 
real to all 5.6 million people who call the region home.  It made a series of measurable pledges for the next 
three years to 2011.  These pledges were consulted on last year.

Our NHS, Our Future was launched by Lord Ara Darzi in July 2007.  It extends Looking to the Future by 
including NHS services beyond the acute hospital sector but is based on the same approach of clinically led 
groups looking at specific areas.  It is a national programme but is locally led with clinicians asking what is 
the best our NHS can be, and how do we get there?

These three pieces of work have seen over 200 members of 8 Clinical Pathway Groups (including more than 
100 front line clinicians) work with over 1,500 members of staff, patients and the public to create Towards 
the best, together.

This vision is based on the latest clinical evidence locally, nationally and internationally.  It draws on the 
wealth of experience that our clinicians and others have brought to the table.  It analyses how current NHS 
services are delivered and how to make them more effective.  It sets out clear areas for greater investment 
and more skilled staff.  And it puts to bed concerns about the future of our hospitals by committing our NHS 
to having A&E departments and maternity services in all 17 of our Acute Trusts.

This is your chance to have your say.  We want to hear your views over the next three months so that we, 

together, can become the best health service in England.

The Population, Health and Healthcare of the East of England

If we are to deliver the best health service in England we need to fully understand those we serve.  The Na-
tional Health Service was created to deliver effective, high quality care wherever you are through a network 
of local services, whilst recognising local priorities and differences.   This is why this is our vision, driven by 
our clinicians and our patients and public.

The east of England is one of the most prosperous regions in the world, well served by road, air and sea 
transport.  We have both rural and urban areas, with high levels of employment.  The service industry is our 
largest sector but 71% of our land is agricultural.

We have 5.6 million people, with a higher than average proportion of people aged over 65.  The vast major-
ity of our people are from a white ethnic background, with about 400,000 people from non-white back-
grounds.

43



Towards the best, together

2

Our population is expected to grow by 11% over the next 14 years with our population aged over 85 ex-
pected to double in the next 20 years.

We do have areas of deprivation and a significant number of people who find it difficult to access NHS and 
other public services.  These include migrant workers; Gypsies and Travellers; and people in the criminal 
justice system.

Our life expectancy is above the national average, but this hides wide disparities.  Norfolk has high life 
expectancy and low inequality, whereas Luton has low life expectancy and high inequality.  This leads to a 
difference in life expectancy of up to 10 years depending on where you are born.

We do better on most national counts of poor health lifestyle factors.  We have the lowest number of smok-
ers in the country, but this still equates to almost 1 million smokers.  We have lower levels of obesity in both 
adults and children, but the numbers continue to grow.  However, we have higher levels of alcohol use than 
the rest of the country, both for adults and for children.  

1.6 million people have a long term condition such as diabetes, coronary heart disease and others.  As the 
incidence of long term conditions grows with age, this will be an even greater number in the future.

Cardiovascular disease and cancer account for more than 60% of all deaths in our region.

The NHS in the east of England has over 125,000 staff, with 3,500 GPs, 3,000 consultants, 34,000 nurses, 
2,600 midwives and 2,500 dentists.

These staff are spread across 41 NHS organisations including 14 Primary Care Trusts (PCTs); 17 Acute Trusts; 
one specialist cardiothoracic Trust; seven Mental Health Trusts; one region wide Ambulance Trust and one 
Strategic Health Authority.

Our PCTs cover an average population of 400,000; and our general hospitals cover an average population of 

about 280,000.  As a local NHS we tend to carry out about 10% of national NHS activity. 

The Case for Change

The first question asked when we set out on this journey was where is the evidence that we need to change?  
We believe the evidence is clear and the case for change is stark.

People are not as healthy as they could be – We lag behind other European countries in many areas of care 
and cure.  Our obesity rates are rising.  Hazardous or harmful amounts of alcohol are still drunk by too many.  
Over 20% of adults and 10% of children have a mental health problem and 69,000 people in the east of 
England have dementia.

Patient outcomes and safety are not good enough – Death rates in our hospitals vary widely.  We lag behind 
other EU countries in survival rates in breast and colorectal cancer.  Our maternity and children’s services do 
not meet national standards.  Only 50% of people across a range of Long Term Conditions are receiving the 
best possible care.  And we still have too many Healthcare Associated Infections.

There is too much unfairness in health – A region wide life expectancy difference of 10 years speaks for itself.  
Thousands of looked after children have very poor health compared to the rest of us.  The 56,000 people with 
serious mental illnesses are far more likely to have physical problems as well. 

We are not meeting the expectations of those we serve – Many people across the east of England have some 
dissatisfaction with NHS services.  They want more attention on basic services and standards, easier access to 
services, less waiting and to be treated as an individual with respect. 

44



Towards the best, together

3

It needs to be easier for people to choose and access the services they need – Nearly three quarters of people 
want to be able to book a GP appointment two days in advance, but only a third can do that.  People also want 
an NHS dentist, choice of where to go for services, and women want choice on where they give birth.  

We still send too many to hospital unnecessarily – There is a compelling case that too many people go to 
hospital when they do not need to.  This is not good for patients, and it is not sustainable financially or 
environmentally.  We also see 56% of our people die in hospital when the majority want to die at home.  

Specialist care is not organised well enough to deliver the best – Specialist care, like stroke care, neonatal care 
for ill babies and others, needs specialist equipment, staff, facilities and a minimum number of patients if it is 
to save as many lives as it can.  By failing to do this we are contributing to unnecessary deaths.

These seven elements were recognised as not good enough by the NHS and its clinicians which is why they 

are proposing change.  

The Principles for Progress

It is clear that change is needed, but change based on principles that address the case for change.  

We have developed six principles for progress which set a clear bottom line for judging our proposals.

The six principles are:
A focus on prevention, health inequalities and timely interventions

Services focussed on the needs of the individual and their carer

Services localised as much as possible, but centralised where appropriate

Services that are accessible and integrated, delivered by a flexible and skilled workforce

These principles have tested all the Clinical Pathway Groups’ recommendations.  The key proposals made meet 
all, or some, of these principles, and nowhere do they breach them.

The Vision and the Pledges

Last year NHS East of England consulted about a series of pledges we wanted to make to the people of the 
east of England.

Our vision for our NHS is simple; to provide the best health service in England, with an objective to add to the 

quality and length of life of local people.  The pledges were split into three areas. 

Delivering a better experience for patients:
We will deliver year on year improvements in patient experience

We will extend access guarantees to more of our services

We will ensure that GP practices improve access and become more responsive to the needs 
of all patients

We will ensure that NHS primary dental services are available locally to all who need them

45



Towards the best, together

4

Improving people’s health:
We will ensure fewer people suffer from, or die prematurely from, heart disease, stroke and cancer

We will make our health service the safest in England

We will improve the lives of those with long term conditions

Reducing unfairness in health:
Working with our partners, we will reduce the difference in life expectancy between the poorest 
20% of our communities and the average in each PCT

We will ensure healthcare is as available to marginalised groups and looked after children as it is 
to the rest of us

We will cut the number of smokers by 140,000

We have also agreed the Staff Commitment with our unions.  This will see our NHS leading the country in 
ensuring staff feel listened to, respected and rewarded for the work they do for us all.

The consultation also showed support for people taking more responsibility for their own health and how they 
used the NHS, which we have called the ‘Two way street’. 

The consultation also supported action on sustainability, more support for carers, and dealing with alcohol 
problems.

The work of the Clinical Pathway Groups sets out how we will deliver these pledges and how we will prepare 

for the longer term.

Towards the Best Health and Healthcare

We have considered eight broad areas, each driven by a group of clinically led experts identifying where 

services need to be better and making those recommendations for change.

Staying Healthy
Healthy lifestyles are the core of better health so, we will:

Ensure we focus on improving health and wellbeing, through better prevention and treatment services 
for the whole population and wellbeing services targeted to reduce unfairness;

Guarantee access to screening and immunisation programmes for all, to detect risk factors, early on-
set of disease or prevent disease;

Offer an assessment for the risk of heart disease to everyone aged 40 – 74 and provide lifestyle support 
and treatment to those who will benefit;

Cut the number of smokers by 140,000 and seek to reduce childhood obesity;

Deliver packages of integrated lifestyle support services to targeted groups;

Create an innovation fund to support new approaches to staying healthy;

Strengthen health partnerships across the local authority, voluntary, private and public sectors;

Launch Staying Healthy in the Workplace with employers and our own staff;

Do all we can to fight climate change and reduce its impact on health.

These initiatives will help us deliver pledges                                      and      .

46



Towards the best, together

5

Mental Health
There is no health without mental health, so we will:

Recognise the importance of prevention and the need to tackle the stigma associated with mental 
health problems;

Ensure mental health services are recovery focussed;

Introduce a maximum 18 week wait for services with shorter guarantees where appropriate;

;

Help more people with dementia live at home as long as possible;

therapists; older people’s mental health teams; recovery, time and support workers; and carer 
support workers;

Deliver a new deal for carers through an expert carer’s programme.

These initiatives will help us deliver pledges                    and      . 

Maternity and New Born

A good start to life for new babies and their parents is the least that people can hope for, so we will:
Ensure all 17 Acute Trusts will keep an obstetric unit, with a co-located midwife-led unit;

Guarantee one-to-one midwifery care in established labour by recruiting at least 160 more midwives;

Maximise care for ill babies by increasing level 3 intensive care cots, increasing the number of level 1 
special care units and reducing the number of level 2 high dependency units;

Offer pre-conception care to women with pre-existing health problems and lifestyle issues;

Increase the overall number of NHS funded IVF cycles against standard criteria;

Guarantee women direct access to midwives and choice of antenatal care;

Promote normality of birth and guarantee women choice on where to give birth, based on an 
assessment of safety for mother and baby;

Guarantee choice of postnatal care to women 
especially those most in need;

Establish networks covering maternity and neonatal services.

Together, these initiatives will help deliver pledges                                  and      .                                              

Children’s Services
Children have their own needs and wants that are separate and distinct from their 
parents and other adults and health interventions at a young age may have far-

reaching long-term benefits. So, we will: 
Ensure children’s services are truly designed for children, 
taking into account all their needs;

Implement the Child Health Promotion Programme for all;

Split non-urgent care from urgent care by providing more 
of it in the community, rather than hospitals;

Develop new Children’s Assessment Units, and review whether every 
acute hospital needs an inpatient ward;

Create clinical networks for sub-speciality services, 
including surgery;

47



Towards the best, together

6

Strengthen Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services;

to adult services;

services for children;

These initiatives will help deliver pledges                          and      .

Planned Care
NHS planned care should be the most responsive and the easiest to organise and access, so we will:

wheelchair services and orthodontics;

These initiatives will help us deliver pledges                                and      .

Acute Care
Acute Care is where we turn when things go wrong and we need urgent or emergency help or complicated 
surgery, so we will:

consistent triage across all services;

These initiatives will help deliver pledges              and      . 

Long Term Conditions
Too many of our fellow citizens have their lives blighted by long term conditions, such as diabetes or high 
blood pressure, so we will:

not

48



Towards the best, together

7

These initiatives will help us deliver pledges                           and      . 

End of Life Care
Of the 55,000 people who die in the east of England each year we know that the majority of them would like 
to die at home, but at present only 20% do that. So, we will: 

last year of life;

networks.

These initiatives will help deliver pledges             and      .

Together the proposals are a step change for the NHS and the outcomes and experiences for patients. They 
meet the need to change; they abide by the principles for progress; they help deliver our pledges in the short 
term; and prepare the NHS for the next decade in our journey Towards the best, together.

How we move towards the best

The proposals in this vision will need to be supported by a series of delivery mechanisms that cut across 
systems, organisations and pathways, the basic infrastructure of delivery.

Here we identify seven areas which will help deliver the vision. These are:

In each of these areas we are already delivering work, like the procurement of GP led health centres to fulfil 
our pledges, but we are also planning a series of initiatives so that we are ready to hit the ground running once 
the consultation has ended and final decisions taken.

We also outline 30 first steps, concrete actions that will be just the beginning of a delivery.

49



50



Introduction

9

The NHS in our region has turned a corner; after years of debt dogging every decision, we have made debt
history.  For the first time ever, the NHS in the east of England can look forward with confidence from a solid
financial base allied to the most improved performance in the country.

Building on this strong base, clinicians, staff, stakeholders and patients came together to create a vision for the 
future of our NHS.  A vision that is clinically led; evidence based; and patient centred.  A vision that strives for 
the best; whilst being deliverable and grounded in reality.  

This vision has been 18 months in the making, and this consultation document sets out the products of
hundreds of clinicians and other NHS professionals working together for thousands of hours to answer two
basic questions:

Are current NHS services the best, and if not, what is best?

What are the barriers to the best and how do we overcome them?

The answers are here: Towards the best, together – a clinical vision for now, and the next decade.

This is a vision for how the NHS in the east of England should deliver better health and healthcare now, 
and over the next 10 years.  The vision is based on a sustainable future for all 17 Acute Trusts in our region 
delivering both A&E and maternity services.  It does not, however, and will not, reopen recent consultations 
and decisions.  Local people have already spoken on those matters and this vision respects those decisions.

This vision brings together three major strands of work across the east of England over the last year:

Looking to the Future
In March 2007, NHS East of England initiated Looking to the Future, following the publication of a Technical 
Analysis document.  The purpose was to develop frameworks for the future delivery of acute and associated 
community services to create a clinically and financially sustainable pattern of healthcare delivery across the 
east of England for the next 10 years.

The programme was organised into seven workstreams; five clinical; one workforce; one technical.  The five 
clinical workstreams were:

Each clinical workstream was co-chaired by a clinician and a chief executive from across the east of England 
and had broad based clinical representation, together with patient representatives and operational managers.  
These clinical workstreams met from May through to September 2007 and produced their final reports at the 
end of September 2007*.

Towards the best, together

*These reports can be accessed on NHS East of England’s website (www.eoe.nhs.uk) or are available from the Communications Department, NHS East 
of England, Victoria House, Capital Park, Fulbourn, Cambridge CB21 5XB

51



Towards the best, together

10

The workforce workstream produced a comprehensive set of data and projections which were used to inform 
the work of the clinical workstreams.  The technical workstream also produced a number of supporting pieces 
of work, including a detailed assessment of the impact of the current financial allocation formula on the east 
of England.  This analysis, which showed that we receive less than our fair share of NHS funds, has been shared 
with the Department of Health who are currently reviewing the financial allocation formula.

Improving Lives; Saving Lives

In parallel with Looking to the Future, a shorter term piece of work was initiated in April 2007 looking at the 
priorities for the NHS in the east of England over the three year period April 2008 to March 2011.  This work 
was designed to say that the benefits of the newly confident and financially stable NHS should be felt by the 
people of the east of England now, whilst measures were being put in place to deliver a longer term vision.  

The NHS made a series of pledges that were measurable and would deliver change and improvement in the 
short term.  These pledges were made in three categories: 

Delivering a better patient experience
Improving people’s health
Reducing unfairness in health.

These pledges were consulted on from September 2007 to December 2007.  The consultation showed where 
we were right to pledge, and where changes needed to be made.  The consultation was supported by formal 
meetings with staff and patients across the region, involving more than 1,500 people.  The final list of pledges 
was agreed by the NHS East of England Board in December 
2007.

NHS Next Stage Review
Following the appointment of Professor Lord Ara Darzi, a 
world-renowned surgeon, as a health minister in July 2007, 
the Department of Health initiated a major review of the 
NHS entitled Our NHS, Our Future.  As part of that review, 
NHS East of England, in common with other Strategic Health 
Authorities, set up eight Clinical Pathway Groups:

This work mirrored, but extended, Looking to the Future.  
This synergy allowed us to move further and faster, recasting 
and extending our Looking to the Future workstreams with 
new faces, new information and greater engagement from 
public, patients and staff. 

Each of these Clinical Pathway Groups was chaired by a 
clinician, involved over 20 clinicians, patient representatives 
and operational managers and met from September 2007 
through to January 2008.  In all, over 200 people were 

52



Towards the best, together

11

formal members of these groups, including over 100 clinicians from every organisation and every county in 
the region. They produced final reports in March 2008*, having reviewed:

Where relevant, the work of 
these groups was informed 
by Looking to the Future.

A key part of the work 
programme of these groups 
was engagement with 
patients, the public and 
staff to hear first hand the 
thoughts of service users 
and some of the people 
providing those services.  
Two regional deliberative 
events were held, one in 
September 2007 at the 
beginning of the process, 
where views were sought on 
current service provision and 
key priorities for change, and 
another in January 2008, 
where early findings from 
the groups were presented 
and discussed.  Four local 
deliberative events were 
held across the region and 
a region-wide survey of over 
500 people was carried out, 
seeking views on the four themes identified in Lord Darzi’s interim report.  In addition, individual workshops 
with recent users of the service areas they were considering were held by each of the Clinical Pathway Groups.  
All in all this process took on board the knowledge, views and advice of well over 1,000 patients, public and 
staff to support the work of the 200 Clinical Pathway Group members.

This is the largest ever exercise carried out by the NHS in our region to bring together the expertise and 
knowledge of our staff and our patients to create one, uniting, and lasting vision.  The Improving Lives; Saving 
Lives

*These reports can be accessed on NHS East of England’s website (www.eoe.nhs.uk) or are available from the Communications Department, NHS East 
of England, Victoria House, Capital Park, Fulbourn, Cambridge CB21 5XB

53



Towards the best, together

12

Structure of this Report

This report draws together all of the work described above.  

Chapter 3
information on our population and some of its key health characteristics, compared to national averages.  It 
also provides a brief outline of current healthcare services in the east of England.

Chapter 4
seven reasons why the status quo is not acceptable.  It is this case for change, this call for improvement which 
energised the clinicians and others whose work this is.  It describes why our current services are not the best, 
and says we need improvement now, and for the long term.

Chapter 5
out of the case for change, and used to test the pledges and the proposals.

Chapter 6
the key priorities and pledges agreed within Improving Lives; Saving Lives.  This is the glue that underpins our 
work; the single uniting umbrella that will drive improvement across our NHS.

Chapter 7
recommendations for improvement from the Clinical Pathway Groups each addressing the case for change; 
tested against the principles for progress; and linked to the delivery of the pledges in the short term and an 
NHS fit for the next decade.

Chapter 8
term.  It sets out the actions we are already taking to implement the pledges as well as what we are putting in 
place to drive the longer term agenda outlined in this vision.  It does not set the proposed changes in stone, 
but shows that these proposals are deliverable if they are agreed as a result of this consultation.  It answers 

is yes, and this chapter shows  it.

This document is further supported by greater technical detail available through the NHS East of England 
website or direct from the Communications Department at NHS East of England; and by a summary consultation 
document which sets out the questions we are asking.

We believe that this is the most comprehensive look at the future of the NHS ever carried out in the east of 
England, involving thousands of people across three distinct but complementary pieces of work and we now 
ask you for your views.

54



Towards the best, together55



56



Towards the best, together

15

The East of England- 
Its population, its health and its healthcare

The National Health Service is first and foremost a local health service designed to deliver health and healthcare 
to local people according to need.  This is the core of the NHS, national standards and expectations of care 
available to all, but recognising that health and healthcare needs differ region by region, and community by 
community.  Geography, the make up of the local population and socio-economic factors all impact on health.  
That is why it is important to understand the area we serve and ensure that the proposals we make fit with the 
needs, now and in the future, of those who call the east of England home.  This section gives a brief overview 
of some of the issues that were taken into account in drawing up these proposals.

Geography

The east of England covers Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Essex, Hertfordshire, Norfolk and Suffolk.  We have 
250 miles of coastline and four major ports, as well as two international airports.  We share borders with three 
other NHS regions: London to the south and South Central and East Midlands to the west.  There is a mixture 
of urban and rural communities, and three significant growth areas: the M11 corridor, the Thames Gateway 
and the wider Milton Keynes growth area that includes parts of Bedfordshire.  The main economic sector is 
the service industry, but agriculture is very important accounting for 71% of all land use.  

Population

There are about 5.6 million people living in the east of England.  On average, the east of England population 
is older than the England population, with a higher proportion of people aged 65 and older.  The region is 
relatively affluent as one of only three regions (alongside London and the South East), that make net economic 
contributions to the Treasury, and a greater proportion of the population is employed than in England as a 
whole.  There are however significant areas of deprivation in the region.

Ethnic Origin
Most people in the east of England come from a white ethnic background.  Of the ethnic minority groups, the 
most predominant is Asian or Asian British (see Table 1).

Whilst this makes the east of England one of the least ethnically diverse regions in the country, there are over 
400,000 people of non-white origin who live and work in the region.  It is expected that this proportion of our 
population will grow in the coming years.

Towards the best, together

(1) White – British, Irish, other

(2) Mixed – white and black Caribbean, white and black African, white and Asian, other

(3) Asian or Asian British – Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, other

(4) Black or black British – Caribbean, African, other

Ethnic Origin East of England % England %

White (1) 92.8 89.1

Mixed (2) 1.4 1.6

Asian or Asian British (3) 3.1 5.3

Black or black British (4) 1.6 2.7

Chinese or other 1.1 1.3

Table 1: Ethnic origin in the east of England3

57



Towards the best, together

16

Population Growth
The population of the east of England is increasing significantly.  Between 2001 and 2006, the population 
grew by 3.8%.  Between 2006 and 2021 it is expected to increase by a further 617,000 (11%) to around 
6,200,000.  This growth will not be universal, with the projected growth rate for North East Essex being 
17.1%, compared to only 1.7% for Luton.

There are also significant differences in projected growth rates between age bands.  The population aged 
over 85 years is expected to double over the next 20 years whereas the population aged 15 – 64 years is 
expected to increase by less than 10% (see Figure 1).  This will lead to an even older average population than 
we currently have.

Marginalised Groups
Within our population there are number of groups who may have the greatest need of public services including 
the NHS, but find it difficult to access them.  These include migrant workers, Gypsies and Travellers and those 
in the criminal justice system.

There are a significant number of migrant workers in the east of England.  Over the past few years, the 
pattern of migration has changed.  Previously, there were a few settled communities and population groups 
(e.g. Portuguese in Norfolk and Suffolk) and significant short-term seasonal migration.  We are now seeing 
more inward migration, particularly from Eastern Europe (especially Poland).  Latest estimates are that net 
international migration led to an increase in our population of 60,000 (just under 1%) over the three years 
2004 – 20065.  Most registered migrant workers are young and intend to stay for less than a year.  Key health 
issues for them are access to information and healthcare.

The east of England has the highest concentration of Gypsies and Travellers in its population, with 25% of 
English Gypsies and Travellers living in or passing through the region.  As a group, Gypsies and Travellers have 
a life expectancy 10-12 years lower than the average, with higher rates of heart disease, in part due to lifestyle 
factors such as higher rates of smoking.  The main health issues for Gypsies and Travellers are adequacy of site 
provision and continuity of healthcare.  Many are not registered with a GP and are unable to access preventive 
services.  Those who are pregnant seek healthcare support at a later stage than the average and have higher 
levels of infant mortality.

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

2
0
1
6

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
8

2
0
1
9

2
0
2
0

2
0
2
1

2
0
2
2

2
0
2
3

2
0
2
4

2
0
2
5

2
0
2
6

2
0
2
7

2
0
0
7

2
0
2
8

0 - 14

15 - 64

65 - 74

75 - 84

85+

Figure 1: East of England percentage increase in population size by age band, 2007 – 20284

58



Towards the best, together

17

People in the criminal justice system and prisoners are another marginalised group.  They have high rates 
of mental health problems and difficulties with lifestyle factors such as smoking and lack of exercise.  A 
particular issue is the difficulty that many prisoners face in integrating with the healthcare system when they 
are discharged from prison. 

Understanding the population we serve is vital to delivering the most effective health and healthcare.  That is 
why we are committed over the lifetime of this vision to using all resources and avenues of research available 
to understand our population better and how to ensure they receive the interventions they need in ways that 
are effective and easy to access.

Health

The health of the east of England’s population as a whole is relatively good compared to the national average.  
Life expectancy is an estimate of how long a child born today could expect to live.  Our life expectancy is 
above the national average for both men and women.  For men it is 78.1 years (national average 77.2 years) 
and for women it is 82.0 years (national average 81.5 years)6.  However these numbers hide significant and 
unacceptable levels of inequality, with a 10-year difference in life expectancy between different parts of the 
region.

Lifestyle
There are a number of lifestyle factors that are commonly associated with poor health.  As you would expect, 
most are less prevalent in the east of England than the national averages (see Table 2).  This includes the lowest 
number of smokers in the whole country, but there are still almost 1 million smokers, 50% of whom will die 
from smoking related diseases.

Alcohol consumption is an area of particular concern with the proportion of children drinking seven or more 
units of alcohol a week much higher than it is nationally.  Also, deaths in the east of England attributable to 
alcohol use increased by nearly 35% between 1998 and 2002, accounting for about 3.5% of all deaths.

Long Term Conditions
Long terms conditions such as diabetes; coronary heart disease; chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; 
neurological conditions; and other disabilities, are extremely common.  There are about 1.6 million adults in 
the east of England with a long term condition, which impacts significantly on their quality of life and that of 
their carer(s) and family.  

The incidence of long term conditions increases with age, so as our population ages the problem will get 
worse, with the number of people with long term conditions increasing by about 25% over the next 20 years.  
70% of those over 75 have one or more long term condition compared with 20% of the 16-44 year old age 
group.

Table 2: Prevalence of health-related behaviours in the east of England

East of England % England %

Cigarette smoking7 20 22

Obesity – adults8 22 24

Obesity – children aged 2 – 15 years8 12 16

Drank alcohol on 5 or more days last week7 20 18

Drank more than 7units of alcohol in the last week 
(children aged 13 to 15)7 13  8

59



Towards the best, together

18

Causes of Death
The main causes of death in the east of England are cardiovascular diseases and cancer, which between them 
account for more than 60% of all deaths in the east of England for people over 1 year old (see Figure 2).  This 
is similar to the national position.  Cardiovascular diseases account for 35% of all deaths, cancer for 27%, and 
respiratory diseases for 10%.

Health Inequalities
There are significant differences in health outcomes between and within Primary Care Trust (PCT) areas.  
Differences in life expectancy at birth of more than ten years across the region encompass many other health 
inequalities.  These inequalities are accounted for by variations in access to healthcare, differences in high risk 
lifestyle behaviours, such as smoking, obesity and physical activity and by wider socio-economic factors such 
as poverty, housing, employment and the built environment.

The figures 3 & 4 show this inequality between and within PCT areas.  Figure 3 shows the region divided 
according to life expectancy, with the dark green representing those areas with the shortest life expectancy.  
These are mainly in urban areas, but there are also some in the more remote rural areas

Figure 4 shows the difference in life expectancy between the least and most deprived fifths of each PCT’s 
population.  Norfolk has the highest life expectancy and Luton has the lowest.  Great Yarmouth, South West 
Essex and Luton have the highest inequalities within their boundaries and Norfolk has the lowest.  This shows, 
starkly, that Norfolk has high life expectancy and low inequality, whereas Luton has both low life expectancy 
and high levels of inequality.

Figure 2: Causes of Death in the East of England (people aged over one year), 20069

21%

2%

1%

2%

2%

10%

35%

27%

Cancer

Circulatory diseases

Respiratory diseases

Gastrointestinal diseases

Infectious diseases

Suicide + Undetermined cause

Accidental injury

Other

60



Towards the best, together

19

Life Expectancy 2003-2005

Persons by MSOA

kilometres

0 20 40

81.88 to 85.44 (142)

80.76 to 81.88 (143)

79.82 to 80.76 (149)

78.7 to 79.82 (146)

73.2 to 78.7 (153) 

Middle SOA Boundary

LLA Boundary

Life Expectancy 2003-2005

Persons by MSOA

81.88 to 85.44 (142)

80.76 to 81.88 (143)

79.82 to 80.76 (149)

78.7 to 79.82 (146)

73.2 to 78.7 (153) 

Middle SOA Boundary

LLA Boundary

Figure 3: Life expectancy (2003-2005) by middle layer super output area (MSOA) 
in the east of England

Figure 4: Difference in life expectancy between most and least deprived fifths of the population, 
by PCT (2003-2005)

84

82

80

78

76

74

72

70

Bedfo
rd

sh
ire

East
 a

nd N
ort

h H
ert

fo
rd

sh
ire

Luto
n

W
est

 H
ert

fo
rd

sh
ire

M
id

 E
ss

ex

Nort
h E

ast
 E

ss
ex

South
 E

ast
 E

ss
ex

South
 W

est
 E

ss
ex

W
est

 E
ss

ex

Cam
brid

gesh
ire

Gt Yarm
outh

 &
 W

aveney

Norfo
lk

Pete
rb

oro
ugh

Suffo
lk

L
if

e
 e

xp
e

ct
a

n
cy

 in
 y

e
a

rs

Least deprived fifth of areas

Most deprived fifth of areas

61



Towards the best, together

20

Figure 5: Map of the NHS in the east of England

Norfolk and Waveney

Mental Health Partnership

Norfolk and Norwich University

Hospital NHS Trust

James Paget

Healthcare NHS Trust

West Suffolk Hospitals

NHS Trust

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Suffolk Mental Health Partnership

Essex Rivers Healthcare NHS Trust

Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust

North Essex Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust

Southend Hospital NHS Trust

Basildon and Thurrock University Hospitals NHS Trust

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital

King’s Lynn NHS Trust

Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals

NHS Foundation Trust

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust

Hinchingbrooke Health care NHS Trust

Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Cambridge University Hospital 

NHS Foundation Trust

Bedford Hospital NHS Trust

East and North Hetfordshire NHS Trust

Luton and Dunstable Hospital NHS Trust

Bedfordshire and Luton Mental Health

and Social Care Partnership NHS Trust

West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust

The Princess Alexandra 

Hospital NHS Trust

Hertfordshire Partnership 

NHS Trust

South Essex Partnership

NHS Trust

EAST & NORTH

HERTFORDSHIRE

WEST

HERTFORDSHIRE

SUFFOLK

NORFOLK

GT YARMOUTH

& WAVENEY

TEACHING

MID ESSEX

NORTH EAST

ESSEX
WEST

SUSSEX

SOUTH

    WEST ESSEX

TEACHING

SOUTH EAST

ESSEX

BEDFORDSHIRE

PETERBOROUGH

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Figure 6: Population per general hospital11

Population per general

hospital (000)

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

North East

152

North West

210

London

220

South East

Coast

235

Yorkshire

and the

Humber

240

East of

England

280

Suoth

Central

300

West

Midlands

250

East

Midlands

270

South West

300

Healthcare in the East of England

The delivery of healthcare in the east of England is carried out by local organisations, those best able to 
understand and engage with local populations.  Whilst part of a national and regional NHS family, their 
primary focus is their local populations.  The NHS in the east of England has over 125,000 staff, of whom 
3,500 are GPs, 3,000 are consultants, 34,000 are nurses, 2,600 are midwives and 2,500 are dentists10.  This 
makes it the largest employer in the region.  This year it has a budget of £8.2 billion, which is equivalent to 
about 8% of the entire regional economy.

There are 14 PCTs; 17 Acute Trusts (including six Foundation Trusts) one specialist cardiothoracic trust (also a 
Foundation Trust), seven Mental Health Trusts (including four Foundation Trusts) and one Ambulance Service 
Trust in our region (see Figure 5).  The service is overseen by NHS East of England, the Strategic Health Authority 
for our region.  The PCTs serve populations ranging from 739,000 (Norfolk) to 163,000 (Peterborough), with 
an average size of 400,000.

Hospitals in the east of England are larger than the national average (see Figure 6).

62



Towards the best, together

21

In terms of total activity across the east of England, table 4 sets out some of the key activity figures. The 
population of the region is about 10% of the national population, so use of healthcare services also tends to 
be around 10%.  The percentage is lower for A&E attendances as people in parts of south Hertfordshire and 
south-west Essex tends to go to hospitals in London.

Conclusion

The facts and figures in this section are vital to the planning of effective health and healthcare services.  They 
represent just a fraction of the information that our proposals are based on, but they do give an overview of 
the region.

They show that the NHS needs to take account of a growing and ageing population, who whilst having 
relatively good health do sometimes live in real pockets of deprivation and inequality.  The NHS also needs to 
identify and understand our marginalised groups to ensure we have a more proportionate focus on meeting 
their needs than we do at present.  

It is because of this diversity of need and geography that the NHS in our region is made up of 41 organisations 
and is the largest employer in the east of England.  The complexities of the region require the NHS to have 
services available as locally as possible; tied into a real understanding of the needs of the local population and 
the barriers they face in accessing healthcare; and ready to work together as an NHS family to ensure better 
equality of care and the best possible outcomes.  

This vision is designed to meet these requirements and move our NHS towards its goal of being the best in 
England.

Total England %

Registered Births, 2006 67,000 10.5%

Registered Deaths, 2006 52,000 11.0%

Table 4: NHS activity figures across the east of England

63



Towards the best, together 64



Towards the best, together

23

The Case for Change

This chapter answers the question – why are we doing this? Why have hundreds of clinicians and other 
professionals taken the time and energy to create this vision? In short, here we set out the case for change. 

The evidence presented here is what convinced us, as an NHS, that we needed to get better, that the status 
quo was not good enough for the people of the east of England.

The case for change is stark:

Individual Health
Life expectancy has increased year on year since the creation of the NHS in 1948. That is the good news: the 
bad news is that we still lag behind comparable Western European countries12.

We can, and should, be doing more to help people lead healthier lifestyles because we could save many from 

envisaged by Sir Derek Wanless, where everything is done to prevent ill health rather than just treat illness13.

Smoking still remains the biggest single preventable cause of death and ill health. East of England obesity
rates are increasing, especially in children. Obesity is one of the most important factors associated with poor 
health, including diabetes, heart disease, high blood pressure, some cancers, respiratory problems and joint 
problems.

Excess alcohol consumption causes harm to individual health and is directly linked to levels of crime, road 
traffic fatalities and domestic violence. In the east of England hazardous or harmful levels of alcohol are 
consumed by 24% of men and 14% of women14.

People cannot be truly healthy unless they enjoy good mental health, but mental health problems are 
widespread and growing. For example:

receiving treatment compared with over 40% in France, Sweden and Ireland15

significantly higher than the national average16.

Towards the best, together65



Towards the best, together

24

We also have over 100,000 people with diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, coronary heart 
disease or heart failure not yet diagnosed. This makes it more difficult to treat these people effectively.

The evidence is clear: prevention services like smoking cessation, immunisation and population screening can 
and do save lives and reduce illness. A recent study in the east of England17 found that the combination of four 
behaviours (not smoking; being physically active; moderate alcohol intake; vitamin C intake equivalent to five 
servings a day of fruit and vegetables) in those aged 45–79 could help people live up to 14 years longer.

To help people live healthier, longer lives, we need to be better at prevention. This will improve the health of 
people in the region, and release resources currently spent on managing conditions associated with tobacco, 
obesity, substance misuse and other lifestyle factors for other priorities.

To do this, we will need to work with partners such as local authorities who have significant influence over 
our environment via their policies on education, planning, housing, transport and leisure facilities. This is 
something else we do not currently do well enough.

Improving Outcomes and Safety

There is too great a difference across our region in the number of people who survive their stays in hospital. 
Against an expected average of 100 on the most common measure for hospital clinical outcomes, the 
standardised mortality ratio, our hospitals range from 81 to 126 (see Figure 7). This proves that more can be 
done to deliver a better and safer service. If some can do it, so can others. 

Our clinical outcomes in some areas are not as good as they should be. In cancer, although mortality rates 
have reduced, they are still not as good as those achieved in other Western European countries
(see Figure 8). 

Figure 7: Standardised Mortality Ratios across East of England, 2005 - 2006

130

120

110

100

90

80

70

H
o

sp
it

a
l S

ta
n

d
a

rd
is

e
d

M
o

rt
a

lit
y 

R
a

ti
o

HSMR ( April 2005 - March 2006)                         Expected Level

Cam
brid

ge U
niv

ers
ity

 H
osp

ita
ls

N
orfo

lk
 a

nd N
orw

ic
h U

niv
ers

ity
 H

osp
ita

l

Bedfo
rd

 H
osp

ita
l

Ip
sw

ic
h H

osp
ita

l

M
id

 E
ss

ex H
osp

ita
l S

erv
ic

es

South
end U

niv
ers

ity
 H

osp
ita

l

W
est

 H
ert

fo
rd

sh
ire

 H
osp

ita
l

H
in

ch
in

gbro
oke H

ealth
 C

are

East
 a

nd N
ort

h H
ert

fo
rd

sh
ire

Lu
to

n a
nd D

unst
able

 H
osp

ita
l

The Q
ueen E

liz
abeth

 H
osp

ita
l K

in
g’s 

Ly
nn

Pete
rb

oro
ugh a

nd S
ta

m
fo

rd
 H

osp
ita

ls

Ess
ex R

iv
ers

 H
ealth

ca
re

Ja
m

es P
aget U

niv
ers

ity
 H

osp
ita

ls

W
est

 S
uffo

lk
 H

osp
ita

ls

The P
rin

ce
ss

 A
le

xandra
 H

osp
ita

l

Basil
don a

nd T
hurr

ock
 U

niv
ers

ity
 H

osp
ita

ls

66



Towards the best, together

25

Figure 8: Cancer survival – percentage alive five years after diagnosis18

The same is also true for treating stroke and heart attack patients. If we adopted the latest thinking in 
stroke care across the east of England each year we could prevent about 130 strokes save about 140 lives and 
ensure 410 are independent rather than dependent following a stroke19. Similarly for heart attack patients, it 
is estimated that 50 more people a year across the east of England would survive a heart attack if they had 
primary angioplasty (a technique for unblocking arteries carrying blood to the heart muscle) as their main or 
first treatment.

Our maternity services are not able to meet national guidelines designed to deliver safer services and optimal 
outcomes. Currently few, if any, of our maternity units are able to achieve the recommended ratios of midwife 
or consultant cover to births. The care of sick babies takes place in 18 neonatal units across the region, many 
of which struggle to meet the designated standards, thereby jeopardising the quality and safety of care.

The Healthcare Commission recently concluded that many Trusts did not meet the necessary standards for 
children’s services and that progress on improving them was patchy20. The position in the east of England is 
no different to the national position.

Care for people with long term conditions is not as good as it could be. For example, the National Service 
Framework for Diabetes recommends that patients with diabetes should agree a care plan to manage their 
condition. However, less than 50% nationally have an agreed care plan21. Similarly, 25% of people with serious 
mental health problems are not involved in drawing up their care plans22. Recent analysis also suggested that, 
across a range of long term conditions, less than 50% of patients eligible for treatment were receiving the best 
treatment for their condition23.

The approach of the end of life can be difficult to identify, especially for people with long term conditions. 
Consequently, we are not always providing the best care and support for patients and their families and carers. 
The east of England has low compliance with national guidance on palliative and end of life care and we need 
to be more aware of the importance of end of life care planning and identifying patients approaching the end 
of life.

Hospital acquired infections such as MRSA and C.difficile are vital issues for patient safety and cause many 
to question whether they should attend hospital at all. Figures 9 and 10 show that, across the east of England, 
these rates have significantly reduced over the last year due to the hard work of staff, leadership from the top, 
and the help and support of patients and visitors. They also show that there is still more that can be done.

100%

90.0%

80.0%

70.0%

60.0%

50.0%

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

10.0%

0.0%

86.3%

79.0% 77.8%

59.8%

56.2%

51.8%

Sweden EU

Breast Cancer (women) Colorectal Cancer

England Sweden EU England

67



Towards the best, together

26

We can and should do more to make outcomes better and make our NHS safer – it is the right thing to do.

Reducing Unfairness in Health

The fact that there is a 10 year difference in life expectancy across the east of England is unacceptable. It is 
wrong that where you are born should have such an impact on how long you live.

Health inequalities are a symptom of underlying socio-economic issues, lifestyle factors and poorer access to 
high quality healthcare. For example, the higher number of those in the most deprived groups who smoke is 
the biggest single cause of inequalities in health, whilst cardiovascular disease, cancer and respiratory disease 
account for most of the inequalities in life expectancy.

Figure 9: Rates of MRSA across the east of England

Total MRSA Bacteraemia reports by specimen date month 

from East of England Hospitals microbiology labs (HCAI Data Capture System)

10

0

20

30

40

50

60

70

Ja
n

u
a

ry

2006 2007 2008

Fe
b

ru
a

ry

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y

Ju
u

n
e

Ju
ly

A
u

g
u

st

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

O
ct

o
b

e
r

N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r

D
e

ce
m

b
e

r

Ja
n

u
a

ry

Fe
b

ru
a

ry

M
a

rc
h

Ja
n

u
a

ry

Fe
b

ru
a

ry

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y

Ju
u

n
e

Ju
ly

A
u

g
u

st

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

O
ct

o
b

e
r

N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r

D
e

ce
m

b
e

r

M
R

S
A

 B
a

ct
e

ra
e

m
ia

 r
e

p
o

rt
s

(P
a

ti
e

n
ts

 o
f 

a
ll

 a
g

e
s)

Figure 10: Rates of C.difficile across the east of England

Total C.di�cile reports for patients aged 2 and above by

specimen date month from East of England Hospitals microbiology labs (HPA Cosurv data)

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

0

Ja
n

u
a

ry

2006 2007 2008

Fe
b

ru
a

ry

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y

Ju
u

n
e

Ju
ly

A
u

g
u

st

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

O
ct

o
b

e
r

N
o

ve
m

b
e

r

D
e

ce
m

b
e

r

Ja
n

u
a

ry

Fe
b

ru
a

ry

M
a

rc
h

Ja
n

u
a

ry

Fe
b

ru
a

ry

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y

Ju
u

n
e

Ju
ly

A
u

g
u

st

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

O
ct

o
b

e
r

N
o

ve
m

b
e

r

D
e

ce
m

b
e

r

C
.d

i�
 r

e
p

o
rt

s

(P
a

ti
e

n
ts

 a
g

e
d

 2
 a

n
d

 a
b

o
v

e
)

68



Towards the best, together

27

There are several groups of our fellow citizens who need the most help:

outcomes, especially when measured against the ‘Every Child Matters’ standards24

and care leavers which then, in turn, contributes to further inequalities in the health of their children

than the average

to suffer from serious physical illnesses. For example, they are four times as likely to suffer from diabetes 
and four times as likely to die from cardiovascular or respiratory disease

The majority of people accessing palliative and supportive care services have cancer, but others equally in need 
find it more difficult to access these services. People with other long term conditions, such as heart failure or 
respiratory disease, older people and those from lower socio-economic and black and minority ethnic groups 
all under-use palliative care services. As their needs are not currently being met, their health may deteriorate 
more rapidly.

The NHS should be a universal health service, accessible to all who need it, but we are not there yet. We need 
to get better.

Meeting Expectations

The NHS is one of the reasons people say they are proud to live in this country, it is a national icon and a source 
of immense national pride. Support for the principles of the NHS remains strong. However, that does not mean 
people are satisfied with the service they receive day in, day out. 

The issues raised in this section draw on the concerns expressed by members of the public at six events 
organised across the east of England in the consultation process around this vision and Improving Lives; Saving 
Lives. However, they are supported by a plethora of other evidence including regular public opinion polling; 
the national patient survey and reports from patient involvement forums across the region, as well as analysing 
NHS complaints.

Around one third of people (32%), equivalent to nearly two million people across the region, expressed some 
degree of dissatisfaction with the NHS. This was slightly better than the national average of 34% but still a 
concern. 

When asked which the most important area for improvement was, the top four responses were:

The first of these is the basic requirement of any health service, that treatment is effective and is delivered 
by competent clinicians in a clean, safe, well equipped environment. When 34% of people demand this is 
done better, the NHS has to respond.

69



Towards the best, together

28

People acknowledged that waiting times had improved in recent years, but they wanted more improvement. 
Delays in receiving test results and the time between referral and seeing a consultant were seen as particular 
issues. People could not understand why diagnostic tests were often not ordered until after an outpatient 
clinic appointment. The national guarantee that no-one will wait more than 18 weeks for treatment will go a 
long way to dealing with this, but in the east of England we will go further.

Access to GP services was of greater concern to people in the east of England (35%) than it was nationally 
(28%).

“They need to make sure that services are available at times that don’t clash with 
work.” – Patient, deliberative event, Bury St Edmunds

Strong support was also expressed for making safety a main NHS focus. In particular, it was felt that the NHS 
needs to take more responsibility for and be accountable for MRSA and C.difficile. As one patient at a public 
event put it, “There’s so much MRSA. People don’t want to go into hospitals. You do hear a lot of horror 
stories.”

Patients and the public want:

control standards

infection.

Being treated with respect as a person rather than a medical condition was also seen as vital, with 83% saying 
health care professionals needed to get better at this. This would need increased emphasis on holistic care and 
supportive self care – essential to improve the care and support of people with long term conditions; as well 
as better attitudes from healthcare professionals, communication, information, education, support (social and 
spiritual) and provision of ‘non medical’ services such as respite, home adaptations and emotional support and 
counselling.

Care at the end of life is another area where we are not meeting people’s expectations. The majority of 
patients have a strong preference to die at home, but 56% of deaths in the east of England still occur in 
hospital. Care at the end of life and bereavement care is associated with 54% of all complaints about hospitals 
received by the Healthcare Commission – a powerful message of public concern about end of life care.

All in all, the message is clear. People love their local NHS, but they want it to be better at hearing and dealing 
with concerns. This message has been heard, and this vision is part of our answer.

Making it Easier to Choose the Services You Want

Choice is fundamental to the way we live our lives in this country. We make choices everyday and we expect 
those choices to deliver the services we want. This is an area where the NHS as a whole is running to catch up 
with people’s expectations. 

We know where to go when we are in an accident. We know to contact a GP, go to A&E or telephone 999, but 
new services such as NHS Direct, minor injury units, walk-in centres and various community response teams 
are less well known and understood. All of these are options for patients but only if they know what they are, 
what they offer, and how to access them. Choice without information and knowledge is no choice.

GP services are another area where we are failing on choice. At a recent public event, 72% said it was 
important to be able to book an appointment with a GP practice more than two days ahead, but 33% said 
they could not do so. They also said they would like GP surgeries to open later on weekdays and weekends 
and wanted to know what services they should access for specific conditions especially in the out-of-hours 

70



Towards the best, together71



Towards the best, together

30

period; pharmacist; NHS Direct; out-of-hours GP service or walk-in centres. At the moment the choice that 
people want is either not there, or is not understandable.

People should be able to choose any hospital they want for their treatment, whether NHS or independent 
sector providing NHS services, but too few people are being offered that choice. It is not good enough. Choose 
and Book – where patients can choose the hospital, the time and date of their first outpatient appointment 
– is supposed to support this choice, but only 44% of first consultant outpatient appointments in the east of 
England are made by Choose and Book. As well as delivering the basic service better, there is also a need to 
extend it to areas such as physiotherapy and rehabilitation.

People are also finding it increasingly difficult to choose an NHS dentist. Less than 60% of the east of England’s 
population has visited an NHS dentist in the last two years and the proportion is still falling.

In maternity services, there is still a relatively limited choice for where mothers can give birth, with home births 
accounting for less than 4% of all births across the east of England. There is also a small but significant group 
of women who do not access antenatal care until later on in their pregnancy, missing the opportunity to obtain 
screening and advice and therefore having a higher risk of poor maternal and neonatal outcomes. 

The common theme in this section is lack of information and understanding. Whether it is choice of hospital; 
knowing which service is most appropriate; having access to a GP when you want it: or access to an NHS 
dentist at all, we are failing on choice. 

This is true across all groups, but is particularly hard felt by those who have traditionally found it difficult to 
access services, such as those with learning difficulties and mental health problems and those whose first 
language is not English. The failure of the NHS to provide choice to patients is not only inconvenient but can 
also stand in the way of effective and timely treatment.

Stopping Unnecessary Hospital Attendance

The bottom line is that we send too many people to hospital. It is the culture of the NHS that people go to 
the local hospital rather than having services closer to them which is why hospitals are often seen as the be all 
and end all of the NHS.

This is not sustainable clinically, financially or environmentally. The ‘Our health, our care, our say’ White Paper 
presents a compelling argument that most people are best cared for by community services25. A review of 
the evidence by the University of Birmingham’s Health Services Management Centre found that people with 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and those with heart failure benefit from a more community orientated 
approach26.

Acute hospital care represents the most intensive and costly service provision in the NHS, yet it is not necessarily 
the best care for patients. This is a dichotomy that needs to be addressed.

There were over 1.5 million outpatient appointments in the east of England last year. The overwhelming 
majority of these took place in the main acute hospitals. There is also wide disparity across the region in the 
number of visits to a hospital A&E, equating from 15% of the total population to more than double that 
(33%) depending on where you live. 

Admitting someone with mental health problems to hospital means that they are removed from their normal 
environment, thereby increasing their dependence and their social exclusion, yet in the east of England far 
more people with mental health problems are admitted to hospital than in the rest of the country.

Most people prefer to die at home rather than in a hospital, and yet 56% still die in hospital. Most of the 
community specialist palliative care teams are only available during normal working hours, from Monday to 

72



Towards the best, together

31

Friday. These services are, therefore, not accessible when many patients and carers need them.

More can and is being done to solve these problems. In some areas of the east of England more people are 
already accessing more of their treatment outside a major acute setting, suggesting that best practice can and 
is being delivered already. In Hertfordshire, plans have already been drawn up to transfer in excess of 50% of 
A&E attendances to more local settings, leaving A&Es more time and space to deal with major emergencies.

If we invest more resources in community-based care we will be able to provide a better quality of care and to 
provide it more efficiently than if we continue to treat as many people in hospital as we currently do.

Better Organisation of Specialist Care

The NHS really comes into its own for patients and their families when catastrophe strikes, when only the 
most skilled clinicians using the most up to date equipment and clinical thinking will do. Specialist care is the 
ultimate safety net, no worries about costs or the expense of the treatment, just a service that gives the right 
treatment, by the right people in the right place.  

However, here at the cutting edge of NHS care, change is needed to deliver the best. As with all specialisms 
in whatever walk of life, there is a need to do the work, day in - day out, if the specialism is to be honed, 

perfected, and delivered effectively every time. Specialist doctors and specialist teams need 
to see a large enough volume and variety of cases of a specific condition to perfect, 

sustain and develop their skills. Specialist units performing large numbers of cases 
achieve better results, particularly in more complex work27. This also makes it easier 
to train future specialist staff.

The increase of sub-specialisation, the breaking down of more general areas into 
areas of specific expertise, and the impact of guidelines such as the NICE Improving

 again point to the need for change in how specialised 
services are delivered. Cutting edge technology is also driving the need for 

change. Complex cases require a range of diagnostic equipment, such 
as MRI scanners, gamma cameras and PET scanners, which can 

detect illness at a much earlier stage. All need to be available in 
one place where highly trained staff can use them and the cost 

is justified by the number of cases utilising the equipment.

Stroke services are a good example of this. It is recognised 
that services for patients who have just suffered a stroke 

are best provided in acute stroke units able to provide 
comprehensive and rapid access to services. There are 
six key features associated with high quality acute 
stroke care and services in the east of England 
compare poorly against those in other parts of the 
country (see Figure 11).

High quality acute stroke care requires specialist 
multi-disciplinary teams and high quality equipment 

to provide these services without the right equipment 
and the required numbers of skilled, specialist staff. 

Another area where more change is needed is in neonatal 
care (services for ill babies). Currently, none of the neonatal 

units in the east of England are able to meet all of the recognised 

73



Towards the best, together

32

standards. Changes requiring junior doctors to work more reasonable hours are going to make it more difficult 
for the smaller units to provide the necessary staffing cover.

The clear lesson from all of this is that the NHS needs to centralise care where it can be most effective. By doing 
this we will ensure better care better outcomes for patients; and that the skilled, specialist staff such care relies 
on, are given the training, practice and equipment they need.

Conclusion

The provision of health care services is constantly evolving. Doctors and nurses know that 30% of medicine 
changes every 10 years as new techniques, research and understanding delivers better outcomes for patients. 
That is why the NHS has changed and reformed throughout its history, refusing to be hemmed in by sentiment 
and loyalty to buildings and old ways of working. That is why these seven reasons for change have captured 
the imaginations of the clinicians who have drawn up this vision, they recognise that change is vital and the 
following two chapters set out what that change should be.

Figure 11: Proportion of sites with acute stroke units with five or six key features, by SHA29

North East

London

South East Coast

Morth West

West Midlands

East Midlands

South West

Yorkshire and Humber

Eastern

South Central

0 20 40 60 80 100

74



Towards the best, together75



76



Towards the best, together

35

The Principles for Progress

The case for change has been made. Now it is important that the proposals we make are judged against that 
case for change.  This has led us to create a set of key principles, the watchwords of progress, against which 
any proposals now, and in the future must be judged.

1. A focus on prevention, health inequalities and timely interventions  
We need to be as concerned with preventing disease as we are with curing it.  Disease prevention should be 
an objective for all NHS services.  This includes primary prevention, e.g. smoking cessation, and secondary 
prevention to stop existing conditions from deteriorating.

Similarly, it is not acceptable in today’s society that where you are born or live is such a major factor in 
determining how long you live.  We need to give everyone access to the best possible care and reach out to 
those communities that have historically been marginalised.  A health service for all.

The timing of healthcare interventions is also important.  By identifying people at risk, we should be able to 
make targeted and timely interventions before things have reached a crisis stage.  This is as relevant for people 
nearing the end of their life as it is for those just starting their lives.

2. Services focused on the needs of the individual and their carer  
Services should be more personalised, focusing on the needs and preferences of both the individual and, 
where relevant, their carer.  We must listen more to what patients are saying and see them as partners, and 
sometimes experts, in their care.  This is particularly important for people with long term conditions, those 
suffering from mental health problems and for those at the end of their life.

Language is also important and needs to reflect a person-centred and holistic attitude to care.  Language is 

taken into account when prescribing treatment and agreeing the most appropriate care.

3. Services localised as much as possible but centralised where appropriate
More emphasis should be placed on self care, and routine care should be available as locally as possible.  
For example, more outpatient appointments could and should take place outside of major acute hospitals.  
Simple blood tests and more complex diagnostic tests, including scanning, should be readily available in the 
community.  Wherever possible, specialist diagnosis should be carried out by a multi-disciplinary team in a 

However, some aspects of more complex care need to be centralised to ensure that care is provided by 
professionals with the necessary skills and equipment to treat rarer and more complex conditions.  For example, 

Towards the best, together

The six principles

A focus on prevention, health inequalities and timely interventions

Services focused on the needs of the individual and their carer

Services localised as much as possible but centralised where appropriate

Services that are accessible and integrated, delivered by a flexible and skilled workforce

Partnership with others where possible; with patients always

Outcomes that deliver measurable and meaningful improvement

77



Towards the best, together

36

neonatal intensive care services need to be provided in a limited number of locations in order to be able to 
provide the highest quality services efficiently.  Similarly, centres of excellence should be developed for people 
who have just had a heart attack.

4. Services that are more accessible and integrated, delivered by a flexible and skilled workforce
Services should be more accessible and it should be easy for patients to get the care they need, when they 
need it.  Services should also be aligned so that they flow into each other alongside the patient rather than the 
patient being passed from unit to unit, team to team, and location to location with little communication with 
the patient or between the different services.

This should be done through increased use of networks of care.  Increasingly, this means that care should be 
provided by multi-disciplinary teams – doctors, nurses, midwives, therapists, other allied health professionals, 
social care staff and others working together.  Our experience of the cancer networks within the east of England 
has shown how an approach based on multi-disciplinary teams working across organisational boundaries can 
provide a much higher standard of care and better outcomes.

5.Partnership with others where possible, with patients always
The desire for the NHS to lead on healthy living and prevention can only be done through partnership with 
others, be it local authorities, employers, or the wider community and individuals.  We cannot and should not 
try and forge on alone, it will not work and we will be letting down those we serve.

However, we must also remember that partnership within the NHS is as vital as partnership outside the NHS.  
New services and new approaches should not be constrained by organisational boundaries and old ways of 
working.  If we are to deliver the whole pathways of care, with proper communication with patients and 
between clinicians along the way, then partnership with other organisations should be the norm, not the 
exception.

For patients, however, the norm is not good enough.  We should always work in partnership with patients, 
recognising that there is much we can learn from each other about how we can improve health and healthcare 
individually and for the whole population.

6.Outcomes that deliver measurable and meaningful improvement
The case for change shows that the NHS is not currently meeting the expectations of patients or the public 
in terms of choice, accessibility, safety or clinical outcomes.  That is why change is needed, but all proposals 
must be able to show they deliver better outcomes that can be measured and are meaningful to patients 
and their carers.  This includes in the areas of patient experience  confidence in the service and quality of life 
improvement, as well as in clinical outcomes for patients.

These six principles are the gateway to progress and improvement.  We have subjected the pledges and the 
proposals from the Clinical Pathway Groups to this test and any future proposals will also be judged against 
these principles.

The chapters that follow set out the pledges and the proposals of the Clinical Pathway Groups and how they 
move us Towards the best, together, based on meeting the principles we have set out.

78



Towards the best, together79



80



Towards the best, together

39

The Vision and the Pledges

The NHS in the east of England has one overall vision – to provide the best health service in England – and 
one clear objective – to add to the quality and length of life of local people.  This document: Towards the 
best, together, is about how we will deliver this overall vision for the people of the east of England.  It builds 
on the pledges we made last year as our immediate priorities, to share the benefits of financial turnaround 
widely, as soon as possible.  

Those pledges are outlined below, the final pledges agreed after consultation which saw changes made; 
specifics added; and focus confirmed.  The pledges respond to the case for change outlined in the last chapter 
of this document and have been taken on board by the Clinical Pathway Groups in designing their own visions 
of the future in the next chapter.

Change is important, it is needed and it will come, but change takes time.  Some of the work of the Clinical 
Pathway Groups will immediately bear fruit, but other change will take longer.  Towards the best, together is 
about a journey over the next decade, but these pledges are about the here and now.

We cannot deliver the pledges detailed below, and the wider vision found in the work of the 
Clinical Pathway Groups, without NHS staff.  We recognised that when we asked people for 
their views on what pledge we should make to staff as part of the Improving Lives; Saving 
Lives consultation.  We understood that improved health and healthcare for the people of the 
east of England cannot be achieved without the involvement and development of staff.

Therefore, as a result of what the consultation told us, the NHS in the east of England will adopt and implement 
the Staff Commitment.  This commitment will:

include:
- Staff being supported and listened to
- Ensuring adequate time and resources for training and development
- Providing a safe and healthier working environment.

Year on year progress with the delivery of the Staff Commitment will be measured through each organisation’s 
staff surveys.

Over the lifetime of the pledges we will ensure that all monies allocated to the SHA for training and development 
(c. £350 million a year) are spent on that on not diverted to other priorities.  We will also promote the 
commitment through initiatives to improve staff engagement locally, which will be jointly funded by NHS East 
of England – approximately 50% of NHS organisations have already indicated an interest in piloting work this 
year. Discussions are continuing with unions and staff partnership forums to agree further concrete guarantees 
which we can measure in the same way as the pledges we make for patients and the public.

Towards the best, together

cmyk

81



Towards the best, together

40

Our Pledges
The pledges are for the whole of the east of England, with all 41 NHS organisations committed to playing their 
part in delivery.  The priority areas and their associated pledges are:

Delivering a Better Experience for Patients

We will deliver year on year improvements in patient experience.  The NHS exists for patients 
and we rely on the trust and support of those patients.  That support and the confidence patients 
have in the service they receive define attitudes to the NHS.  That is why we need to know what 
they think of our services and ensure that we improve each year.

We will extend access guarantees to more of our services.  The national 18 week target for 
the maximum time from GP referral to hospital treatment from December 2008 will represent a 
substantial improvement for NHS services.  And we are well on the way to achieving it.  However, 
it only applies to certain services.  We want to extend the same level of guarantee to other services 
like mental health therapies.

We will ensure that GP practices improve access and become more responsive to the needs 
of all patients.  For many, the GP is the first port of call when they are unwell.  That is why GPs 
and their staff are so important.  However, too many people have difficulty accessing GP services 
when it is convenient for them.  We will make it more convenient to see a GP and improve the 
responsiveness of GP services.

We will ensure that NHS primary dental services are available locally to all who need 
them.  Too many people cannot easily see a dentist through the NHS.  This leads to poor dental 
health, or having to use non-NHS services.  We will ensure that NHS primary dental services have 
the same standing as other NHS primary care services.

Improving People’s Health

We will ensure fewer people suffer from, or die prematurely from, heart disease, stroke and 
cancer.  These three conditions kill more people than any other.  They are also major contributors to 
poor quality of life.  That is why we are going to prioritise them, so we can save lives and improve 
lives.

We will make our health service the safest in England.  Patient safety is vital for the NHS.
People entrust themselves to us when they are ill and at their most vulnerable.  It is our duty to care 
for them and to keep them safe so we will ensure that safety becomes everyone’s priority.

We will improve the lives of those with long term conditions.  Chronic long term conditions 
are extremely common and can be devastating for patients and their families.  While we may not 
have a cure for these diseases, we can do a great deal to improve the quality of life for those who 
have them and, possibly, prolong their lives.

Reducing Unfairness in Health

Working with our partners, we will reduce the difference in life expectancy between the 
poorest 20% of our communities and the average in each PCT.  We want to play our part in 
tackling preventable and avoidable differences in life expectancy.  We will target resources at those 
areas and sections of our community where it will make the most difference.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

82



Towards the best, together

41

We will ensure healthcare is as available to marginalised groups and looked after children 
as it is to the rest of us.  Access to NHS services is something most of us take for granted.  However 
some members of our society sometimes get lost in the system and have difficulty accessing NHS 
services.  We will develop programmes and procedures to tackle this problem.

We will cut the number of smokers by 140,000.  Smoking is responsible for 50% of the inequality 
in health outcomes in the UK.  Smoking is not only one of our most dangerous killers, it also drives 
social inequality.  That is why we want to target smoking and reduce the numbers of people in our 
region who smoke and will die from the habit.

We will halt the rise in obesity in children and then seek to reduce it.  Obesity leads to health 
problems that adversely affect a person’s quality of life and can lead to an early death.  If we do not 
act now to reduce childhood obesity, our children could be the first generation in modern history 
to have a shorter life than their parents.

In addition to these pledges and the staff commitment there are a number of other important aspects to the 
Improving Lives; Saving Lives work.  The first is that we recognise the responsibilities we all have to look after 
our own health and those of our families and ensure we use NHS services appropriately.  We are calling this 

patients and the public understand better their responsibilities in using the NHS.

The issue of sustainability and the impact of climate change on health were also seen as important.  As NHS 
services develop to meet the changing needs of communities, it is important to reduce both the direct and 
indirect energy use and carbon production of the NHS wherever possible.

We also, through the consultation, were told that not enough focus was being provided on the role of carers 
or the need to tackle the problem of alcohol.  Both of these issues are now reflected in the pathways that 
follow.

These pledges are about now and the next three years, the chapter that follows describing the work of the 
Clinical Pathway Groups is about how we deliver these pledges, and how we plan and prepare for the next 
decade.

9

10

11

83



84



Towards the best, together

43

Towards the Best Health & Healthcare

The core of our vision for the next decade is the combined work of 193 people: 106 of whom are clinicians; 
from all 41 NHS organisations in all six counties of the region.  These are the Clinical Pathway Groups, clinically 
led and made up of consultants, doctors, nurses, therapists, community workers, patient representatives, local 
authority leaders and NHS support and management staff.  

Each Clinical Pathway Group analysed the most cutting edge evidence; looked at best practice across the east 
of England, the rest of the country and the world; brought their own experience and expertise to the table; 
spoke to and listened to national and international experts; and engaged with patients, staff and the public at 
a series of 14 specially arranged events across the region.

With all this information and expertise they produced robust, in-depth reports which made a series of 

service in England.

These recommendations were subjected to the Case for Change; and the Principles for Progress before 
becoming part of our vision: Towards the best, together.

This chapter sets out those recommendations and introduces the East family, through which we show how the 
NHS looks now and how it can and will change for the better.

The East Family
The East family are not real, but they are also all of us.  Everyone will be able to recognise a bit of themselves, 
their family, or their experiences of the NHS in the trials and tribulations of the family.  In a series of examples 
we will show how, for each pathway, the members of the East family receive treatment and care now, and 
then, after the vision has been implemented, what would be different for them.

So, meet the Easts.

Towards the best, together

Shiela Ron

Gary Fiona

James Sarah

Eddie

Eric Molly

Steve

85



Towards the best, together

44

The East Family
Fiona and Gary East have lived in Harlow since their two children, Sarah and James, were young teenagers. 
Fiona works as a receptionist at her local GP surgery.  Gary is a painter and decorator.   James is a teacher in 
South Norfolk.  His sister, Sarah, who is unemployed and a single parent, lives in St Albans with her son Eddie 
who is six.  Sarah has had a difficult relationship with Eddie’s father over the last few years, but things are now 
more settled.  She has a new partner, Steve a police officer, and is expecting their baby.

Fiona’s parents, Eric and Molly, are in their 80’s and live in Great Yarmouth.  Gary’s mother and father, Shelia 
and Ron, who are slightly younger, live in the same area. All are retired, but Ron still volunteers behind the bar 
of his local British Legion.

Fiona struggles with her weight and is clinically obese, but worries about her ageing parents; a new grandchild 
on the way; and the pressures of work have meant diet and exercise are low priorities.  Gary, however, loves 
coaching the local under 11’s football team, but his right knee is causing him real pain since he twisted it last 
year which is now beginning to impact on his work as well.

Sarah had an uneventful first pregnancy but has been very anxious over Eddie’s slow development at school.  
The stress of dealing with Eddie’s father caused her to start smoking again, but with the new baby due she is 
keen to stop.

Eric has lived with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease for many years and his pride at managing his local 
allotment is now becoming a real burden.  Molly his wife, who was a nurse in her younger days, was diagnosed 
with early dementia a year ago but with a carer coming in once a day they manage very well.

Sheila has chronic heart failure which has made even moving around the house quite difficult.  Ron her 
husband is beginning to realise that she will need looking after as her health deteriorates which could make it 
impossible for him to carry on his volunteer work.

How it all Fits Together
Each of the Clinical Pathway Groups in this section have concentrated on their own area, ensuring their 
expertise is put to best use in designing what will be the best care for the people of the east of England.  
However, in keeping with the case for, and principles of, change, the work of the groups link together to 
deliver a whole service, whole life, vision for our NHS (see Figure 12).

Staying healthy

Mental health

Children’s
health

Maternity & 
newborn

Long term conditions

End of life
care

Planned
care

Planned
care

Acute
care

Acute
care

Acute
care

Acute
care

Planned
care

Planned
care

How the pathways link through the whole of a person’s life

Figure 12: Whole service, whole life vision

86



Towards the best, together

45

Staying Healthy and Mental Health are the basics of good health and therefore the cornerstones of a good 
life.  That is why we have placed them at the forefront of our vision.  From there, the other pathways touch 
our lives from maternity; through children’s services up to end of life care.  The other pathways; planned and 
acute; are episodic, reacting to illnesses and conditions as they arise through our lives.  Long term conditions 
tend to be a greater issue as we age, but, as the pathway group identifies, conditions such as diabetes can be 
with us from early childhood.

All in all, these pathways create an holistic vision of the NHS and what it can do.  Moving beyond what the 
founders of the NHS envisaged: cradle to the grave: to before birth for developing babies to after death for 
the families of those that die.

Staying Healthy
“There is a consensus that the NHS needs to change if it is to continue to be the comprehensive, tax-payer 
funded, free at the point of delivery service we have now.  We need to ensure people are fully engaged in 
their own health for the benefit of themselves, their families and their communities.  This pathway shows 
how the NHS can refocus and break down boundaries to deliver that step change in creating a prevention 
and wellbeing service as well as the vital safety net when we become ill.” – Dennis Cox, GP and Chair, Staying 
Healthy Clinical Pathway Group

“You just say, eat healthily, don’t smoke, stuff like that.  People go against that.  
The message you put out has got to be subtle.  It’s got to make people think.” – 
Member of the public, deliberative event, Bury St Edmunds

The NHS in the east of England, through the Improving Lives; Saving Lives programme, has committed itself 
to making a step change in improving health and reducing unfairness in health.  Acting with ambition with 
partners, we aim to have the best health and lowest rates of inequality in England.

Key proposals – we will:

Ensure we focus on improving health and wellbeing, through better prevention and treatment 
services for the whole population and wellbeing services targeted to reduce unfairness  

Guarantee access to screening and immunisation programmes for all, to detect risk factors, early on-
set of disease or prevent disease

Offer an assessment for the risk of heart disease to everyone aged 40-74 and provide lifestyle support 
and treatment for those who will benefit

Cut the number of smokers by 140,000 and seek to reduce childhood obesity

Deliver packages of integrated lifestyle support services to targeted groups

Create an innovation fund to support new approaches to staying healthy

Strengthen Health Partnerships across the local authority, voluntary, private and public sectors

Launch Staying Healthy in the Workplace with employers and our own staff

Do all we can to fight climate change and reduce its impact on health

Pen Portrait Before
Ron is rushed into hospital with chest pain and is diagnosed with a heart attack.  He is discharged 
having been prescribed a statin for a raised cholesterol level but stops taking the tablets after a week.  
He would like to change his diet and take more exercise but struggles with this.  A year later he is 
rushed to hospital again with his second heart attack.

87



Towards the best, together

46

To do this, the NHS in the east of England will place as much emphasis on improving health and 
wellbeing as we do on providing treatment.  We will develop and strengthen our prevention 
programmes so they are the best in England.  We will also use every contact with the NHS as an opportunity 
to support people improve their health.

We will promote wellbeing to at-risk groups of the population by providing lifestyle support in key 
areas such as smoking, obesity and alcohol-related harm.  We will also do this in a more integrated way than 
at present.

This work will be underpinned by commitments to reduce unfairness in health and recognise the importance 
of partnership working.  These are the four cornerstones of the Staying Healthy pathway.

A Lifelong Prevention Pathway
The NHS will apply the same rigour to prevention of ill health as to clinical treatment services.  This will be based 
on the most up to date evidence and a focus on finding new approaches through research and innovation.  
Our lifelong prevention pathway (Figure 13) begins with a healthy start in life, including pre-conception care 
and high quality maternity services and ends with support for older people to help them enjoy their later years 
as fully as possible.  In between, it includes specific prevention interventions targeting a particular condition, 
such as cancer screening, and wellbeing programmes, such as smoking cessation services.

We have to ensure that the information and support people need to make healthy decisions for them and their 
families is readily and easily accessible.  This includes the best possible early clinical detection and screening 
programmes that will alert individuals and clinicians to potential serious health problems early, making 
intervention and treatment more effective.

!GE�฀SEX�฀HEREDITY฀s฀)NDIVIDUAL฀LIFESTYLE

,IVING฀AND฀WORKING฀CONDITIONS฀s'ENERAL฀SOCIO
ECONOMIC฀AND฀ENVIRONMENTAL฀CONDITIONS

Pregnancy and

Childbirth

s฀0RE
CONCEPTION฀CARE

s฀%ARLY฀ANTENATAL฀BOOKING�฀
INCLUDING฀SCREENING

s฀!NTENATAL฀SCREENING

s฀-ENTAL฀HEALTH฀

s฀3MOKING฀CESSATION

s฀(EALTHY฀EATING

s฀0HYSICAL฀ACTIVITY

s฀2EDUCING฀ALCOHOL฀RELATED฀
HARM

Working 

Age Adults

s฀$ENTAL฀HEALTH

s฀#HLAMYDIA฀SCREENING

฀s฀#ANCER฀SCREENING

s฀#6$฀RISK฀ASSESSMENT

s฀(EALTHY฀EATING

s฀0HYSICAL฀ACTIVITY

s฀-ENTAL฀HEALTH

s฀3MOKING฀CESSATION

s฀2EDUCING฀ALCOHOL฀
RELATED฀HARM

Children and

Young People

s฀)MMUNISATION

s฀$ENTAL฀HEALTH

s฀#HLAMYDIA฀SCREENING

s฀-ENTAL฀HEALTH

s฀(EALTHY฀EATING

s฀0HYSICAL฀ACTIVITY

s฀3MOKING฀CESSATION

s฀2EDUCING฀ALCOHOL฀RELATED฀
HARM

Older 

Adults

s฀$ENTAL฀HEALTH

s฀#ANCER฀SCREENING

s฀#6$฀RISK฀ASSESSMENT

s฀(EALTHY฀EATING

s฀0HYSICAL฀ACTIVITY

s฀-ENTAL฀HEALTH

s฀3MOKING฀CESSATION

s฀2EDUCING฀ALCOHOL฀
RELATED฀HARM

2EDUCING฀HEALTH฀INEQUALITIES฀s฀(EALTH฀IMPROVEMENT฀MESSAGES฀AS฀PART฀OF฀ALL฀CLINICAL฀CONTACTS฀

(EALTH฀PROTECTION฀AND฀PREPAREDNESS฀FOR฀COMMUNICABLE฀DISEASES฀AND฀OTHER฀ENVIRONMENTAL฀HAZARDS

Figure 13: Being healthy, staying healthy - a preventative pathway

88



Towards the best, together

One area where this approach will have the biggest impact is for cardiovascular disease and cancer which 
account for 60% of deaths in the east of England.  If we combine primary prevention (preventing onset of the 
condition) and secondary prevention (early identification and appropriate treatment)30 more effectively we can 
reduce the numbers who die from these diseases.

We will offer an assessment for  risk of heart disease for everyone aged 40-74 and provide lifestyle 
support and treatment for those who will benefit.  The initial focus will be identifying combined 

individual risk factors, such as blood pressure and cholesterol levels, to produce a combined risk factor for 
circulatory disease).

We will also ensure full coverage of NHS immunisation and screening programmes across the east 
of England, including the MMR immunisation programme and the programme for bowel cancer.  

Another key to prevention is preventing mental ill health and improving mental wellbeing throughout life.  
This will need to include children and people with long term conditions and their carers, as well as adults with 
mental health problems.

Promoting Wellbeing
The NHS in the east of England will actively promote wellbeing to at-risk groups of the population and 
people at key stages of their life through effective lifestyle support programmes in important areas.  This will 
immediately start to deliver two of our pledges:

To cut the number of smokers by 140,000 in the east of England by 2011,  each PCT will track smoking 
prevalence through a regional lifestyle survey and will use Local Area Agreements to ensure targets are set 
and reached.  NHS East of England will also run region-wide social marketing campaigns to raise awareness 
and seek to change behaviour, as well as a programme to support employers in helping employees stop 
smoking.  The focus will be on reducing the number of teenagers taking up smoking, delivering smoking 
cessation support that is consistently the best in England and supporting a wider programme of action to 
reduce smoking.

89



Towards the best, together

childhood obesity, as part of an approach to obesity in all age groups.  The aim is to halt 
the rise in childhood obesity by 2011 and see identifiable reductions thereafter.  The NHS in the region will 
deliver the national weighing and measuring programme and then commission a range of services based 
on NICE and Foresight guidance, including breastfeeding support; the healthy schools programme; targeted 
early interventions; and programmes to support healthy eating and exercise by families.  With our partners 
we will deliver community wide initiatives to help reduce childhood obesity, through work with individual 
children, their schools and their families.  We will also create an innovation fund which will support 
and pilot new approaches to tackling childhood obesity.

It was also recognised in Improving Lives; Saving Lives that reducing alcohol related harm played a significant 
role in delivering our pledges.  To this end we will strengthen the provision of brief and focussed interventions 
for which there is strong evidence but little capacity at present.

We will also create a more integrated and personal approach to delivering lifestyle support services.  
Personal support to improve health and lifestyles such as smoking quitting support, weight management 
and brief interventions to reduce alcohol related harm are currently delivered separately and, at times, in 
an ad hoc fashion.  We will get better at this.  People will be able to access advice on smoking; weight 
management; physical activity; diet; and alcohol harm reduction from the same service, rather than several 
different services.

Reducing Unfairness
Inequalities in health are unfair and arise from a complex interaction between social, environmental and 
cultural factors.  On average, people living in deprived areas, from lower socio-economic and marginalised 
groups still have poorer health and poorer access to health care than others.  This is wrong, and the case 
for change makes it clear that action is needed to reduce unfairness in health across the most deprived and 
marginalised sections of our society.  Our vision will make this a reality. 

90



Towards 

We will reduce the differences in life expectancy between the poorest 20% of our communities and the 
average in each PCT.  Each PCT will clearly identify this 20% and then initiate a programme of targeted and 
intensive interventions, including population screening; smoking cessation; physical activity; antenatal care 
and early years support; alcohol harm reduction; and prevention of mental ill health.

We will also ensure services to improve health and access to healthcare are equally available to people from 
marginalised groups, including Gypsies; Travellers; looked after children; people from black and minority 
ethnic groups; prisoners; people with learning disabilities; and people with long term mental health problems.  
Each PCT will identify these groups within their population, assess their needs and develop clear plans to meet 
their needs.

We will need to align primary care to the delivery of more effective prevention programmes.  Each PCT will 
monitor the quality of primary care and compare this with the health needs of their communities.  They will 
produce specific plans to ensure that the quality of primary care and the coverage of prevention and treatment 
are at least as good in deprived communities as for the rest of us.

We will also consider how to cut through the unintended consequences 

Framework), where people from deprived and marginalised groups 
can be excluded from indicators of quality.  At the moment, 
achievement of a 70% coverage standard means that the people 
in greatest need are not a priority.  We will therefore explicitly 
plan to reduce inequalities, rather than inadvertently increasing 
the gap.

Health Partnerships
Perhaps more than any other part of this vision, partnership is 
key to the delivery of Staying Healthy.  The NHS, including PCTs 
and Trusts, must work with and influence partner organisations to 
promote better mental and physical health and wellbeing.  We will 
therefore strengthen Health Partnerships and be full partners 
in Local Area Agreements.  Local partners including the PCTs and 
Trusts will use joint strategic needs assessment to identify the 
groups and populations with the poorest health outcomes and 
define the health-related needs of their populations.  They will 
then use these and annual public health reports to inform planning 
and commissioning of integrated services.

A significant part of our lives is spent at work and our working 
environment has a substantial impact on our health.  We will 
therefore create, and deliver in partnership with the East 
of England Development Agency, a Staying Healthy in the 
Workplace initiative designed to support employers in 
helping their staff live healthier lives.  This will benefit the 
individual; their families; their wider communities; their employer; 
and the local economy.  The NHS is the largest employer in the 
region and we will become an exemplar in this area.

49

91



Towards the best, together

50

At local and regional level the NHS will work with planners, transport bodies, police and economic development 
organisations, as well as social care, children’s and environmental services.  This is to ensure that health and 
wellbeing are promoted through the built and natural environments, through the opportunities of population 
growth, through schools and through wider community strategies.  This is vital to our programme on fighting
climate change, where the NHS will raise awareness of the health implications and then lead the 
public sector in identifying ways of reducing our own carbon footprint and negative impact on the 
environment by delivering our services more sustainably.

Conclusion

Each programme initiated under the Staying Healthy pathway will pass the tests set out in the principles for 
progress.  They will focus on prevention, health inequalities and timely interventions that work for individuals 
and populations.  The programmes will be delivered locally, but where regional procurement or co-ordination 
will increase value for money or effectiveness this will be done, especially in the areas of effective research and 
social marketing programmes.  We will break down traditional boundaries between preventative and clinically 
based interventions, throwing away the dividing lines between primary and secondary care.  Partnership across, 
and beyond, the NHS will be key to delivery.  And, the measures for success will be clear and understood.

The Staying Healthy pathway is the gateway to better health for all in the east of England, but also has a very 
focussed role to play in ensuring those who are most in need of help and support get it when they need it.  
Staying Healthy is fundamental to the delivery of our vision, and it and Mental Health are the foundations 
upon which we will deliver our vision.

Case Study

The Healthy Steps to Employment project is funded by the East of England Development Agency and 
operates across Bedfordshire and Luton.  The overall aim of the project, which became operational in 
October 2006, is to tackle work limiting illness by supporting Incapacity Benefit clients back into sustainable 
employment.  The project is led by Bedfordshire PCT, in close partnership with Job Centre Plus, the Local 
Authorities and a range of voluntary sector organisations and has three main strands:

-Supporting clients on Incapacity Benefit to understand and manage their health condition better through 
a Health and Wellbeing programme so that they can successfully return to work

-Helping Incapacity Benefit clients feel more confident about returning to work, via a volunteer 
programme

-Offering pre-employment support for those clients who are ready to return to work. 

Clients on Incapacity Benefit receive an initial 45 minute assessment by a clinically qualified Health and 
Wellbeing Adviser, during which an overall assessment of their health condition is made and a programme 
of supporting activity agreed.  The Health and Wellbeing programme includes opportunities for referral to 
pain management sessions, support for mental health conditions and 1:1 physical activity sessions.

To date, the programme has seen 486 clients of whom:
-93 (19%) have moved off Incapacity Benefit

-65 (13%) have returned to work

-33 who had been on incapacity benefit for 6 months or longer have returned to sustainable employment 
for 13 weeks or more.

92



Towards the best, together

51

Mental Health
“There is no health without mental health” – Royal College of Psychiatrists

“The work of the mental health pathway group was underpinned by the evidence that mental ill-health affects 
all individuals and all areas of the health service, hence the strap line ‘there is no health without mental health’.  
We hope that this will be the first step of an ongoing process in improving mental health services, whereby 
staff of all disciplines, service users, their families and friends and managers can work together to develop 
better systems of care and treatment.” – Gillian Oaker, Joint Chair, Mental Health Clinical Pathway Group

For too long mental health has been the health issue that has not got the attention it needed.  It was 

Our Improving Lives; Saving Lives consultation confirmed what we believed; people 
recognised the need for a more focussed approach, telling us that carers needed more help and that mental 
health services needed more investment.

Pen Portrait After
When Ron attends his GP for an annual flu jab the nurse asks if he would like to have a holistic lifestyle 
assessment which includes a circulatory risk factor assessment.  Ron accepts and at the assessment 
it is discovered that he has a high blood pressure and a raised cholesterol level and therefore has a 
35% risk of coronary heart disease in the next 10 years.  He is prescribed a statin and blood pressure 
tablets and reviewed on a regular basis by the practice nurse.  Over the next few appointments Ron’s 
cholesterol and blood pressure fall to within normal limits and the nurse introduces Ron to some 
changes in his diet and recommends more physical exercise.  He is given support to change his diet 
and starts walking regularly with a walking for health programme in his local community.  This gives 
Ron the best opportunity of preventing coronary heart disease and he never has a heart attack.

Key proposals – we will:

Recognise the importance of prevention and the need to tackle the stigma associated with mental 
health problems

Ensure mental health services are recovery focussed 

Introduce a maximum wait of 18 weeks for services with shorter guarantees where appropriate

Seek to detect dementia earlier

Help more people with dementia live at home as long as possible

Recruit hundreds of new professionals including at least 350 new psychological therapists; older 
people’s mental health teams; recovery, time and support workers; and carer support workers

Deliver a new deal for carers through an expert carers programme

Pen Portrait Before
A few days ago Molly developed a mild chest infection, making her much more confused and unsteady 
on her feet.  Her GP prescribes antibiotics.  The Community Mental Health Team visit Molly and attempt to 
increase the home carer visits to twice a day.  Sadly this part of the care plan breaks down as Molly hits one 
of them whilst being helped to wash.  Husband Eric and daughter Fiona, who is staying nearby with her 
son, struggle with her confusion and aggression.  After three days Molly has to be admitted to the nearest 
Older Persons Mental Health inpatient assessment unit where she becomes much more confused and 
agitated in the unfamiliar surroundings and has to have medication and intensive nursing care to reduce her 
aggression.  After 2 weeks her chest infection is better but she remains more confused and disorientated 
and has to stay in hospital still on medication and with highly specialised nursing care.

93



Towards the best, together 94



Towards the best, together

53

We have deliberately placed Mental Health services front and centre of the full service vision for our NHS, 
alongside Staying Healthy.  Good mental health and good physical health are the mainstays of a good life.

Over the lifetime of this vision we are committed to delivering a better deal for people with mental health 
problems; for those who care for them; and for the wider circle of family, friends and community who come 
together with NHS and social care professionals to deliver care.  We will increase staff numbers in vital areas; 
provide the right support for carers; and ensure mental health benefits from waiting time targets in the same 
way that they have driven improvements in other parts of the NHS.  

This section sets out a core framework of care; sets out a move from managing symptoms to working towards 
recovery; identifies the need to engage and support carers more effectively; and then addresses two immediate 
priorities – better access to psychological therapies and better services for people with dementia.

A Core Framework
The framework (see Figure 14), the building block for all our mental health care pathways, recognises 
prevention and early detection of mental health problems need to be aligned with an approach that is 
about recovery and outcomes as well as managing symptoms.  It also recognises the importance of 
raising awareness of mental health issues and tackling the stigma associated with mental health 
problems.

Many people need to access mental health services outside of ‘office hours’ and in many cases timely 
intervention at this stage can prevent the situation escalating.  We are therefore committed to ensuring that 
all of the region’s Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment teams continue to operate 24 hours a day, enabling 
individuals to receive timely support and care in ways that best meet their needs.

This pathway will be adapted and personalised for all mental health services, including eating disorders and 
substance misuse as well as the immediate priorities for investment and change outlined in this vision.  In 
particular, we will introduce an 18 week maximum waiting time for a range of services including 
eating disorders.  For some services we will go beyond this with shorter maximum waiting times.

Figure 14: Mental Health Core Pathway Framework

*OINT฀(EALTH฀AND฀3OCIAL฀#ARE฀#OMMISSIONING

7ORKFORCE฀$EVELOPMENT

3UPPORT฀FOR฀#ARERS฀AND฀&AMILIES

)NTEGRATION฀AND฀#O
ORDINATION

)NFORMATION฀AND฀#OMMUNICATION

2AISING
!WARENESS฀�
0REVENTION

2EASSESS 2EVIEW

!SSESSMENT
)NTERVENTION฀�

3UPPORT
2ECOVERY

'OALS

95



Towards the best, together

54

This framework recognises the need for a full service approach involving carers; social services; the NHS; the 
voluntary sector and the patients themselves.  It recognises the need for early recognition in primary care; and 
setting goals with the aim being to maximise recovery.  And it places the patient and their carer at the centre 
of their care; not a symptom, not a disease, but individuals with specific needs and desires.  

Recovery Focussed Services
This pathway will deliver a recovery focused approach for all mental health services.  It will 
encourage anyone with a mental health problem to realise their maximum potential, with the help 
of timely, intensive and targeted interventions through partnerships across the whole system, not 
just healthcare providers alone.

A recovery-oriented system of mental health treatment and care will:

to coercion

people to rely on formal services and professional support

clinical networks.

To deliver this step change in our approach to mental health services, we will ensure that local joint 
commissioning, supported by evidence based clinical care pathways, fully reflects the values and principles of 
the recovery-focused approach and is introduced systematically across the system.

In order to do this we will change the archaic way of measuring how effective mental health services are 
by agreeing a series of outcome measures for patients and measuring those rather than processes.  We will 
then build these into contracts so that those who deliver the services are accountable.  And to support the 
introduction of this new approach we will recruit more, and expand the roles of, Support, Time and 
Recovery Workers, who provide support to the service user and thus promote their recovery.

Carers
One of the keys to excellent mental health services is recognising and supporting carers; those closest to 
patients who live with the situation day in and day out.

A carer is someone who provides help or support to a relative, partner, friend or neighbour31.  There are over 
100,000 people in the region who care for people with mental health problems, with around half of people 
with severe mental illness living with family or friends.

There is increasing evidence that supported and informed carers cope better; which in turn can help to reduce 
relapse and hospital admissions of those in their care as well as protecting the carer’s own health.  Carers have 
repeatedly asked for help, just to make their vocation that little bit easier; now through this vision we are 
committed to action to meet their needs.

96



Towards the best, together

55

Nationally the New Deal for Carers promises to update and extend the 1999 strategy for carers as well as:

situations

Expert Carer’s Programme to help develop the skills they need to take greater 
control over their own health, and the health of those in their care.

We will deliver all of this, but in the east of England we want to build on these national commitments 
to become an exemplar for working with carers.  We have already held a regional summit with the Eastern 
Regional Family Carers Organisations Network which brings together carer’s representatives and those from 
the NHS and social care to agree a united agenda to supporting carers.  This is a key action from the Improving
Lives; Saving Lives consultation last year.  

In a similar way to the pathway for patients, we aim to provide services to carers in line with the pathway at 
Figure 15. 

This pathway, and the work of the summit group, is designed to ensure that carers:

to help them care

in times of crisis

groups)

on discharge from hospital and following bereavement

Case Study

South Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust led an action research project exploring the needs of carers.  
This led to a series of recommendations and a Carers Awareness Steering Group, involving carers, staff, 
local authority representatives and people from the voluntary sector, being set up to take these forward.  
This has led to:

-A ‘Caring for the Carers’ Training Pack being produced by carers and staff to raise staff’s awareness of 
carers’ rights and needs

-Over 1,000 Crisis Cards for Carers being issued, with details of a central contact number to access 

-A local newsletter ‘For Carers’ being produced in partnership with carers and distributed to over 1,000 
carers in south Essex

-An email-based support network ‘CarersChat.com’ being piloted, using innovative approaches for 
carers to access peer support

-25 more carers volunteering to work on initiatives to improve service response to carer needs.

Figure 15: Service Pathway for Carers

%ASY฀TO
5NDERSTAND�
!CCESSIBLE

)NFORMATION

%ARLY
)DENTIlCATION฀OF

#ARER฀.EEDS

!SSESSMENT฀OF
#ARER฀.EEDS

/NGOING
3UPPORT

97



Towards the best, together

56

To deliver this step change in working with carers we will:

1. Deliver a systematic approach to identifying carers across the region and create a carers register which will 
help us ensure all carers are recognised and get the support they need.

2. Ensure that carers get enhanced support at high risk times.  In order to deliver on this we will recruit new 
Carer Support Workers and broaden their range of responsibilities.

3. Build on the summit we have already held to create an ongoing partnership and dialogue with carers to 
spread best practice and make sure their voice is heard and acted on.

Carers need to be aware of these services and support mechanisms, which is why we will work with the 
summit group to create bespoke information and communication channels specifically for carers in the east 
of England.  By this, we mean all carers, not just those who care for people with mental health problems – 
recognising the full range of carers which numbers over 600,000 in our region and grows daily.

Services for People with Dementia
69,000 people in the east of England suffer from dementia, a condition normally found in older people, but 
one that can also impact on people with a learning difficulty and younger adults.  It is also anticipated that the 
number of people with the condition will increase as our population ages.  That is why we see investment in 
dementia services as an immediate priority.  This pathway (see Figure 16) builds specifics into the core approach 
outlined above, a process that will play itself out across all mental health conditions as time progresses.

To ensure we can give the best possible treatment to people when they need it, we will aim to 
improve the early recognition of those people likely to develop dementia, thereby increasing 
awareness and, potentially, early detection and start of treatment.

Once diagnosis has been made, the emphasis will be on reducing stigma, promoting independence and 
preventing crises by placing the person, family, carers and social networks firmly at the heart of the pathway.  
The person with dementia will be facilitated to make decisions for themselves and they and their 
carers will be fully supported to allow those who choose to be cared for at home to do so for as long 
as possible.  To do this we will ensure that people are served by Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Teams.

Services would be structured and delivered in a way that clearly reflects dementia as a long term, progressive 
condition requiring continuity of care and regular reviews.  New fully integrated Older People’s Mental 

Figure 16: Proposed Service Pathway for People with Dementia

)NFORMATION !SSESSMENT )NTERVENTION฀�฀3UPPORT
2ECOVERY

'OALS

s฀)NFORMATION

s฀2AISED฀PUBLIC฀
AWARENESS

s฀2EDUCED฀
STIGMA

s฀%ARLY฀
RECOGNITION฀
IN฀PRIMARY฀
CARE

s฀3INGLE฀POINT฀
OF฀ACCESS

s฀-EMORY฀
ASSESSMENTS

s฀$IAGNOSIS

s&ULLY฀INTEGRATED฀/LDER฀0EOPLE�S฀
-ENTAL฀(EALTH฀TEAMS฀AND฀
#OMMUNITY฀-ENTAL฀(EALTH฀TEAMS

s฀#RISIS฀n฀OUT฀OF฀HOURS฀SUPPORT

s฀!DVOCACY

s฀3OCIAL฀CARE�฀RESPITE฀CARE�฀CARER฀SUPPORT

s฀4EMPORARY฀ACUTE฀INPATIENT฀CARE

s฀%ND฀OF฀LIFE฀CARE

s฀)NDEPENDANCE

s฀1UALITY฀OF฀LIFE

s฀2EDUCED฀
STIGMA

98



Towards the best, together

57

Health Teams would coordinate the care of all people with dementia in a locality.  These partnership 
teams will draw on the skills and resources of carers and organisations in the voluntary and independent 
sectors and will be prioritised and funded.

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
Treating depression and anxiety disorders using psychological therapies increases the health and wellbeing of 
patients, as people can recover if treatment is timely and effective.  Psychological therapies improve choice, 
bring treatment closer to home and increase the number of people who can return to work after mild to 
moderate mental health problems.

That is why it is not good enough that our region has the lowest number of clinical psychologists and 
psychological therapists in the UK.

So, we will recruit at least 350 new psychological therapists by 2011 and ensure that access is made easier, 
quicker and more equal.  The rest of the NHS has benefited from waiting time targets which concentrate 
the minds of managers and clinicians, which is why we want to extend this principle to mental health 
and pledge to introduce a maximum wait of 18 weeks for all psychological therapies with shorter 
maximum waits for certain services.

We will also ensure the full implementation of The National Institute for Clinical Excellence’s32 guidelines for a 
stepped care approach (see Figure 17).  

3TEP฀��฀2ECOGNITION฀IN฀PRIMARY฀CARE฀AND฀GENERAL฀HOSPITAL฀SETTINGS

3TEP฀��฀4REATMENT฀OF฀MILD฀DEPRESSION฀IN฀PRIMARY฀CARE

3TEP฀��฀4REATMENT฀OF฀MODERATE฀TO฀SEVERE฀DEPRESSION฀IN฀PRIMARY฀CARE

3TEP฀��฀4REATMENT฀OF฀DEPRESSION฀BY฀MENTAL฀HEALTH฀SPECIALISTS

3TEP฀��฀)NPATIENT฀TREATMENT฀FOR฀DEPRESSION

7HO฀IS฀RESPONSIBLE฀FOR฀CARE�

3TEP฀��฀'0�฀PRACTICE฀NURSE

3TEP฀��฀0RIMARY฀CARE฀TEAM
฀ PRIMARY฀CARE฀MENTAL
฀ HEALTH฀WORKER

3TEP฀��฀0RIMARY฀CARE฀TEAM
฀ PRIMARY฀CARE฀MENTAL
฀ HEALTH฀WORKER

3TEP฀��฀-ENTAL฀HEALTH
฀ SPECIALIST�฀INCLUDING
฀ CRISIS฀TEAMS

3TEP฀��฀)NPATIENT฀CARE�
฀ CRISIS฀TEAMS

!SSESSMENT

7ATCHFUL฀WAITING�฀GUIDED฀SELF฀HELP�฀
COMPUTERISED฀#"4�฀EXCERCISE�฀
BRIEF฀PSYCHOLOGICAL฀INTERVENTIONS

-EDICATION�฀
PSYCHOLOGICAL฀INTERVENTIONS�฀
SOCIAL฀SUPPORT

-EDICATION�฀COMPLEX฀
PSYCHOLOGICAL฀INTERVENTIONS
COMBINED฀TREATMENTS

-EDIACATION�฀COMBINED
TREATMENTS฀%#4

7HAT฀IS฀THE฀FOCUS�

2ISK฀TO฀LIFE
SEVERE฀SELF
NEGLECT

7HAT฀DO฀THEY฀DO�

4REATMENT
RESISTANT
RECURRENT�฀ATYPICAL฀�฀PSYCHOTIC�฀

DEPRESSION�฀AND฀THOSE฀
AT฀SIGNIlCANT฀RISK฀฀

-ODERATE฀OR฀SEVERE
DEPRESSION

-ILD฀DEPRESSION

2ECOGNITION

The stepped care model
The recommendation in this guideline are presented within a steped care framework that aims to match the 
needs of people with depression to the most appropriate services, depending on the charecteristics of their 
illness and their personal and social circumstances. Each step represents increased complexity of intervention, 
with higher steps assuming interventions in previous steps.

Figure 17: NICE Stepped Care Model for Depression

99



Pen Portrait After
A few days ago Molly developed a mild chest infection, making her much more confused and unsteady 
on her feet.  After her GP prescribes antibiotics, Molly is referred to the Crisis Resolution Home Team 
who visit and assess the situation.  They immediately set up a package of care that includes two 
visits a day, seven days a week, from members of their team.  They provide skilled practical assistance 
with Molly’s personal care needs, working alongside her regular carer and the family, using the 
opportunity to train them on how best to manage challenging behavior.  Molly’s daughter, Fiona, 
and husband, Eric, are given the contact number for the expert carers programme which provides 
training, information and support to develop skills to take care of the carer’s own health and those 
they care for.  The consultant psychiatrist in the Community Mental Health Team provides expert 
advice on the reasonable use of sedative medication for a few days until the antibiotics begin to clear 
the infection and Molly’s acute confusion subsides.  Two weeks later Molly has returned to how she 
was prior to the chest infection, with the carer coming in once a day as before.

The model aims to match people to the right psychological therapies at the right time, ensuring patients 
‘enter’ at the right level for their needs and receive some or all of the services indicated.  Their changing needs 
and outcomes of treatment are then systematically monitored meaning patients only move up to the next level 
if treatment is ineffective33.

The stepped care approach enables more individuals to have access to treatment, more quickly, and ensures 
appropriate use of specialist resources.

Better Mental Health
Our vision for mental health services places them in their rightful place at the core of our strategy for health 
and healthcare across the region.  It changes the focus of mental health services to recovery rather than 
management and sets outcomes for patients as the measure of success.  It is based on a core pathway that 
serves as the cornerstone of all mental healthcare and then builds on it with our immediate priorities in 
dementia and psychological therapies.  It promises more specialist staff, more partnership working, more 
support for carers and quicker more equal access to services. 

Maternity and Newborn Care
“Having children is the greatest moment in many people’s lives and it is up to us, the NHS, to provide 
services that are comprehensive, safe and as local as possible, and to support mothers, families and 

their babies in those critical first hours, days and weeks.  This 
pathway will deliver a service second to 

none in the future, building on what we 
have now, but recognising that we 

need to provide more choice and 
make services more personal.” – 
Boon Lim, Consultant Obstetrician 
Chair, Maternity and New Born 
Clinical Pathway Group

58

Towards the best, together 100



Towards the best, together

Key proposals – we will:

Ensure all 17 Acute Trusts will keep an obstetric unit, with a co-located midwife-led unit

Guarantee one-to-one midwifery care in established labour by recruiting at 
least 160 more midwives

Maximise care for ill babies by increasing level 3 intensive care cots, increasing the number of level 1 
special care units and reducing the number of level 2 high dependency units

Offer pre-conception care to women with pre-existing health problems and lifestyle issues

Increase the overall number of NHS-funded IVF cycles against standard criteria

Guarantee women direct access to midwives and choice of antenatal care

Promote normality of birth and guarantee women choice on where to give birth, based on an 
assessment of safety for mother and baby

Guarantee choice of postnatal care to women, especially those most in need 

Establish networks covering maternity and neonatal services

Before Pen Portrait
Sarah is pregnant again and goes to her GP.  Her first son Eddie was born at the local hospital but 
she would like her second baby to be born at home.  Sarah discusses this with her midwife but Sarah 
feels she is just too far away from the hospital if there are any problems at delivery.  So her second 
baby is also born in hospital.  Sarah breast feeds for a week and then gives up.

“Most midwives don’t ever really get to know you personally.  They just see the notes and then ask: 
have you got any problems?” – Mother, maternity and newborn workshop

The birth of our children is life defining and the support we are given when it happens should be the best.  It is 
the job of the NHS to make the process as easy and safe as it can possibly be, to help deliver a healthy baby to 
a healthy mother.  It is also the job of the NHS to be there when things go wrong, 
to prepare mothers for what is coming, and support them after birth.  That is 
because good maternity services increase survival rates and life chances of 
children, improve the physical and emotional health of their mothers, as 
well as addressing inequalities in health from birth.  

The pathway for maternity (see Figure 18) sets out how we will deliver 
what women want and need in childbirth; from support before birth; to 
the best possible care during labour in a place of the woman’s choosing; 
through to high class treatment for ill babies should problems occur; 
ending with friendly and accessible support for new mothers and 
their babies.

101



Towards the best, together

60

Pre-Conception Care
Childbirth is a natural process, but it can still be scary for women especially those with pre-existing conditions, 
such as congenital heart disease or mental health problems, and those with lifestyle issues.  That is why we
will work with GPs (who know their patients best) to identify women who could benefit from 
support before conception, as well as enhanced support through pregnancy and post birth.  It will not be 
forced on women, but the choice will be there.  We will seek to ensure this support for potentially high-risk 
women is part of GPs’ contracts, nationally if possible, locally if necessary.

We also want to increase fairness for those that need help to get pregnant.  We will agree a standard set 
of criteria for IVF across the region and then commit ourselves to increasing the number of funded 
cycles.

Antenatal Care
Antenatal care should be coordinated and women should know where to turn for help and support throughout 
the course of their pregnancy.  That is why the pathway increases choice and personalisation for women at 
every turn.

Women should not always have to go to a GP before being referred to a midwife, they should be able 
to go direct.  This is a choice women should have, it does not stop women going to their GP, a trusted health 
professional they know well, but it gives them alternatives.  It is also likely to mean that women with potential 

Figure 18: Maternity and Neonatal Pathway

Pre-Conception 

Care

s฀3TAYING฀HEALTHY฀n฀
SMOKING�฀OBESITY�฀
SUBSTANCE�ALCOHOL฀
ABUSE�฀HEALTHY฀DIET�฀
EXERCISE

s฀0RECONCEPTION฀CARE฀
FOR฀WOMEN฀WITH฀
DIABETES�฀EPILEPSY�฀
CARDIAC฀DISEASE฀
�CONGENITAL฀OR฀
ACQUIRED	

s฀0RECONCEPTION฀
ADVICE฀FOR฀WOMEN฀
WITH฀GENETIC฀
DISORDERS฀AND฀MENTAL฀
HEALTH฀PROBLEMS

s฀%DUCATION฀AND฀
ADVICE฀ON฀TEENAGE฀
PREGNANCY

s฀)6&฀TREATMENT

Labour and 

Birth

s฀0ROMOTION฀OF฀
NORMALITY฀OF฀
BIRTH

s฀#HOICE฀OF฀PLACE฀
OF฀BIRTH฀
฀HOME฀
BIRTH�฀MIDWIFE

LED฀UNIT�฀
OBSTETRIC฀UNIT

s฀2ISK฀ASSESSMENT

s฀#LEAR฀PATHWAYS฀
FOR฀TRANSFER฀FOR฀
HOME฀BIRTHS฀
�฀MIDWIFE
LED฀
UNITS

s฀���฀MIDWIFERY฀
CARE฀IN฀
ESTABLISHED฀
LABOUR

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀
SPECIALIST฀
MEDICAL฀CARE฀
WHEN฀NEEDED

Antenatal Care

s฀3TAYING฀HEALTHY฀n฀
SMOKING�฀OBESITY�฀
SUBSTANCE�ALCOHOL฀ABUSE�฀
DOMESTIC฀VIOLENCE�฀
HEALTHY฀DIET�฀TEENAGE฀
PREGNANCY�฀MENTAL฀
HEALTH�฀TARGETED฀SUPPORT฀
FOR฀MARGINALISED฀GROUPS

s฀$IRECT฀ACCESS฀TO฀MIDWIFE

s฀3UPPORT฀OF฀NAMED฀
MIDWIFE

s฀2ISK฀AND฀NEEDS฀
ASSESSMENT฀IDENTIFYING฀
PHYSICAL฀AND฀MENTAL฀
HEALTH฀RISKS฀AND฀SOCIAL฀
COMPLEXITY

s฀3CREENING฀AND฀SCANS

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀SPECIALIST฀
SERVICES

s฀!NTENATAL฀AND฀
hPARENTCRAFTv฀CLASSES

s฀"REASTFEEDING฀
COUNSELLING

Neonatal 

Care

s฀.ETWORK฀
OF฀CARE

s฀4RANSFER฀
PROTOCOLS

Postnatal

Care

s฀)NDIVIDUALISED฀
POSTNATAL฀CARE฀
PLAN

s฀(EALTH฀AND฀
WELLBEING

s฀"REASTFEEDING฀
SUPPORT

s฀&OCUS฀ON฀
WOMEN฀FROM฀
DISADVANTAGED฀
GROUPS

s฀!DVICE฀ON฀SIGNS฀
AND฀SYMPTOMS฀
TO฀LOOK฀OUT฀FOR

s฀#OPING฀
STRATEGIES

s฀0ARENTING฀
SUPPORT

s฀-ENTAL฀HEALTH฀
ISSUES

102



Towards the best, together

61

problems are identified earlier and referred to a consultant, since 
some women, particularly those from marginalised groups, are 
reluctant to visit their GP.

The relationship between a pregnant woman and their midwife 
should be strong, supportive and lasting.  That is why we will 
guarantee all women a named midwife throughout pregnancy 
who they can contact at any stage.  We will further increase 
choice for mothers by providing antenatal care locally in a range 
of friendly, accessible community venues such as children’s 
centres or primary care facilities. 

We will carry out a risk and needs assessment for all 
pregnant women to ensure that every woman is offered 
the type of antenatal care that most suits her own 
particular requirements.  Women will also be able to choose 
between midwifery care or shared care between midwives and 
obstetricians.

We will encourage all pregnant women to book for antenatal 
care before 12 weeks gestation to ensure that all screening tests 
are made available in a timely fashion.  When the pregnancy has 
progressed beyond 12 weeks gestation, we will guarantee referral 
for booking and assessment within 2 weeks of presentation.  
Where a need is identified for specialist services, such as feto-
maternal services, we will guarantee access through the new 
maternity networks.  

We will also proactively promote breast feeding as the best route for the baby, providing support and dealing 
with concerns to prepare the woman for the first time they feed their new baby.  This will be especially true of 
those sections of society who traditionally have low breast feeding rates, to promote better life chances for all 
from birth and further reduce unfairness in health.  Smoking cessation advice will also be offered at the earliest 
opportunity and intensive specialist support will be available to help women stop smoking.

Labour and Birth
The majority of births in the east of England are normal, vaginal deliveries supported by family and health 
professionals in hospital.  However this does not tell the full story.  Sometimes mothers do not feel as supported 
as they would like.  Sometimes mothers would choose to give birth outside an acute hospital but end up not 
having that choice.  Sometimes interventions by health professionals are too quick, or not quick enough.  And 
sometimes mothers don’t think they can have vaginal births when they have already had caesarean sections.  

That is why we are going to be very clear about what women can expect during labour, and what the NHS is 
committed to delivering.

The pathway for labour and birth should provide:

103



Towards the best, together

62

We will do this by applying the recommendations of Maternity Matters34, including:
Greater encouragement of home births

Increased use of midwife led birthing units

Policies to provide vaginal birth after caesarean section.

Women who have a planned home birth have a higher rate of spontaneous vaginal birth, a reduced likelihood 
of caesarean section and more likelihood of an intact perineum, compared with those who have a planned 
birth in an obstetric unit35.

Greater choice will be based on better information about risks, it is only right that choice is informed.  For home 
births and midwife led birthing units, we will undertake an assessment of risk and suitability for proposed place 
of birth.  At low levels of medical risk and social complexity, women should have a wide choice of place of 
birth.  However, as the level of medical risk and social complexity increases, delivering a safe birth for mother 
and baby becomes paramount and the choice of location will need to be reduced on expert clinical advice.

Vaginal birth after a previous caesarean section will be more available in obstetric units.  Early data suggests 
that where clinics are in place to assess women and prepare them for a vaginal birth after caesarean section, 
good results have been achieved.  One unit showed an 80% success rate for those women who opted for a 
vaginal birth after caesarean section instead of an elective caesarean section36.

We will guarantee one-to-one midwifery care for all women during established labour.  To ensure 
this we will recruit at least 160 more midwives across the region, meeting the Looking to the Future 
recommended ratio of 1:30 deliveries as an average caseload for midwives in the region.  Further work will be 
required, to confirm the exact number of new midwives and ensure that opportunities to develop new ways 
of working are properly considered.  If we discover we need even more midwives to meet this guarantee, we 
will recruit them.

Evidence shows that direct involvement of senior 
medical staff in the care of high risk women in 
labour improves outcomes and intervention rates37.  
New standards have recently been recommended 
for medical staffing of obstetric units based on 
activity and these will be implemented38.  All 
obstetric units in the east of England should 
provide at least 60 hours of consultant presence 
a week on the labour ward by 2009, with units 
with more than 4,000 births moving towards 98 
hours a week.

To support this wider choice, but also the 
requirement to ensure safety for mother and baby 
through access to senior medical staff if needed, 
we will co-locate midwife led birthing units 
with flexible staffing alongside existing 
obstetric units.  Where standalone midwifery 
led units exist, PCTs should ensure that they can 
continue to provide consistent, high quality, safe 
services.  Recent guidance from the Royal College 
of Midwives indicates that standalone midwife 
led units delivering fewer than 300 babies a 
year are unlikely to be independently financially 
sustainable39.

104



Towards the best, together

63

Neonatal Care
When problems arise, high quality, safe neonatal units with the right equipment and skilled staff save babies’ 
lives. Neonatal care is an integral part of care for high-risk pregnancies and requires the multi-disciplinary 
support of children’s services in order to deliver high quality care.  Neonatal services in the east of England are 
increasingly networked, with services classified as level 1 (special care), level 2 (high dependency care) or level 
3 (intensive care).

The majority of babies requiring special care should be looked after close to their homes and every obstetric 
unit will have at least one short term intensive care cot for resuscitation and stabilisation.  There are clear 
standards set out by The British Association of Perinatal Medicine for the operation of neonatal units at each 
of the three levels and all units will work towards these standards.  We will also ensure that an integrated 24 
hours transport service to ensure timely and safe transfers is available across our NHS.

Postnatal Care
The first few days and weeks after babies are born are often the most difficult for parents which is why NHS 
care does not end when babies are safely at home.  We will continue to provide general parenting 
support and ensure that women are able to choose how and where to access their postnatal care.  
This will include providing postnatal care in the community to ensure that the women most in need 
are targeted to receive the most attention.

A personal postnatal care plan will be developed with the mother, ideally in the antenatal period or as soon as 
possible after birth.  Communication and information to the new mother during this period will include:

well-being

population

for dealing with day to day matters.

Potential mental health issues will also be addressed as early as the pre-conception or antenatal period so that 
appropriate multi-disciplinary arrangements can be made for the postnatal period.  There are many examples 
of good practice in the region and it is important that such pathways are shared and a uniform approach 
adopted so that all across the east of England can benefit from the best.

Case Study

The midwifery team based in Sudbury covers a market town and rural hinterlands.  The community is a 
mix of affluent and needy people with 2 wards in the top 20 for the highest teenage pregnancy rate in 
Suffolk.  They have promoted choice for women as to where they receive their postnatal care, either in 
a town centre clinic or their own home.  The clinic is open 7 days a week and accessed via a ‘drop in’ or 
through an appointment.

Benefits have included:
-A 35% increase in the number of women visiting the clinic, with only 2% of women not accessing any 
midwifery service.  These are followed up and offered a home or clinic appointment

-An increase in targeted home visiting to vulnerable women and families including teenagers, victims of 
domestic violence, substance misuse and multiple social problems during both the ante and postnatal 
period, using the time released from more women attending the clinic

-A 9% increase in the number of women still breastfeeding at 6 weeks

-An increase in women accessing parenting skills through the clinic.

105



Towards the best, together

64

Proposed Model
This pathway, from pre-conception for some, to postnatal for all, includes many new commitments and 
guarantees by the NHS.  These will be supported by new staff and new midwife-led birthing units across the 
region.  They will also need to be supported by a different model of care if we are to ensure safety, normality 
of birth and choice for mothers.

Many services have proved that managed clinical networks work and deliver better outcomes for patients.  We 
will create robust networks for maternity and neonatal services.  This will ensure that common pathways 
are shared and equality of care exists across the region should mothers and babies need to be transferred.  It 
will also enable demand and capacity to be managed more efficiently within flexible populations.

Properly established clinical networks will ensure:

to their local populations

postnatal care to the wider population where necessary.

Each of the four smaller obstetric units in the east of England (at West Suffolk Hospital, Hinchingbrooke 

larger unit.  This, together with an increase in their consultant and midwife cover, will enable them to provide 
high quality, patient centred care and ensure their clinical viability.

However, their financial viability also needs to be considered.  Looking to the Future indicated that PCTs might 
need to support these smaller units with up to an extra £500,000 a year to ensure continued local access for 
patients.  If it is necessary, PCTs will do this, as it is far preferable to the alternative which would involve the 
two large obstetric units in Cambridge and Norwich expanding to over 7,000 births a year.

This means that we can pledge that all Acute Trusts will keep an obstetric unit.  We will also make every 
effort to increase the populations served by the smaller obstetric units, by ensuring they develop excellent, 
patient centred services for straightforward births.

For neonatal services all units will work towards the required British Association of Perinatal Medicine standards.  
This will enable patient outcomes to be improved and a better alignment of demand and capacity.

To deliver this we will need more level 3 capacity to ensure that all pregnant women or babies who need a 
place have one.  There should be sufficient high dependency capacity in the region to allow for transfer back 
to the local hospitals, whilst allowing for the sickest and smallest babies to continue to be treated in the level 
3 units.

Various scenarios have been modelled and the preferred option is:
 at Luton, Norwich and Cambridge, with Essex 

continuing to utilise facilities in Cambridge, Norwich and London.  These would provide intensive care 
services for their network, high dependency care services for their own babies and for the network and 
special care services for their own babies

then need to create more level 1 units.  These would provide stabilisation and transfer of intensive 
care and high dependency care (both for a maximum of 24 hours and requiring at least one short term 
intensive care cot) and special care services for their own babies.

fewer level 2 units.  These provide short term ventilation (less than 5 days) 
and transfer of intensive care, high dependency care services for their own babies and for the network 
and special care services for their own babies.

106



Towards the best, together

65

Due to staffing arrangements, hospitals providing level 3 or 2 neonatal services would also need to be providing 
full children’s inpatient services, whereas hospitals providing level 1 neonatal services would not necessarily 
need to do so.  This is dealt with in the section on children’s services.

Conclusion

This pathway delivers more choice and support for women with guarantees never before made by the NHS.  
To support the delivery of this we are committed to increasing the numbers of midwives and also reorganising 
current services to best meet the needs of patients and save more babies’ lives.  

It also, once again, delivers against our key principles and the case for change by extending choice and 
personalised services, whilst ensuring services are delivered locally where possible, but are centralised when 
appropriate.  It also implements changes that are evidence based to deliver better outcomes for mothers and 
babies.

We think this is the least that women expect for themselves and their babies.  

Children’s Health
“Children are not, and should not be treated by the NHS as mini adults who require nothing more 
than some colour and a cheerful face in a bright uniform to make the services we have for adults 
right for children.  This pathway takes the needs and wants of children, as children, and puts them at 
the centre of devising the new approach.” – Chris Upton, Consultants Paediatrician ,Chair, Children’s 
Clinical Pathway Group

After Pen Portrait
Sarah is able to register with a midwife early on in her pregnancy through her local children’s centre.  
She receives a medical, mental health and social risk assessment and is provided with a comprehensive 
care plan.  Her care plan is reviewed at regular intervals.  Sarah is regarded as a low clinical risk and 
she chooses to give birth at the midwife-led birthing unit, located on the local hospital site, which 
is far more homely than the main delivery suite at the hospital.  She breast feeds for 3 months as 
she gets support from the midwifery team who are based at the local children’s centre at Eddie’s 
school.

Key proposals – we will:

Ensure children’s services are truly designed for children, taking into account all their needs

Implement the Child Health Promotion Programme for all

Split non-urgent from urgent care by providing more of it in the community, rather than hospitals

Develop new Children’s Assessment Units, and review whether every acute hospital needs an 
inpatient ward

Create clinical networks for sub-specialty children’s services, including surgery

Strengthen Child and Adolescent Mental Health services

Ensure the needs of adolescents are properly catered for and there is a seamless 
transition to adult services

Have common information systems, integrated care and co-located staff to deliver better 
services for children

Create a region wide Children’s Services Board to oversee the development of children’s services

107



Towards the best, together

66

Pen Portrait Before
Eddie is six years old.  One evening at home, he has a violent seizure which he recovers from, but 
Sarah is extremely concerned.  She takes Eddie to the nearest A&E department where he is seen by 
an A&E doctor and then by a paediatrician (child specialist).  The paediatrician suspects that Eddie 
may have underlying problems in his brain which require further investigation, which cannot be 
done locally and can only be done at the request of a neurology specialist.  He is referred to see a 
paediatric neurologist at the specialist hospital 30 miles away and, after a wait, he is referred to and 
the investigations requested.  He has another wait for the tests to be performed and then sees the 
paediatric neurologist who diagnoses epilepsy and tells Sarah about the condition.  Eddie visits the 
specialist hospital as an outpatient on a regular basis to treat his epilepsy. 

“I couldn’t understand the words he was using.  He was using very technical language.” – Parent, 
deliberative event, Norwich

Children’s services should not simply be adult services provided to children.  Children have very 
specific health needs and the NHS will get better at meeting them, with services designed around 
those specific needs.

Children and young people make up one fifth of the population and interventions in childhood often have 
significant long term consequences.  The five desired outcomes for every child set out in Every Child Matters 
are40:

The core pathway for children’s services set out in 
Figure 19 shows how the NHS can play its role in 
delivering these outcomes.  However, there can be 
no single pathway for all children’s services.  Rather, 
there should be children’s versions of all the other 
pathways.  In effect, children’s services should be 
a mini-NHS – one where the child or young person 
is central to the planning and delivery of 
their services.  This mini-NHS will need to 
recognise that partnerships outside the 
NHS are absolutely crucial in the delivery of 
comprehensive children’s services.

108



Towards the best, together

67

Universal and Targeted Services
Universal services, such as screening and immunisation, are available to all children.  Many of these are part of 
the Child Health Promotion Programme which will be fully implemented across the east of England.  
This includes a needs assessment of the family that starts during the ante-natal period and should be complete 
by the time the child is a year old.  Universal services should address key lifestyle priorities, including reducing 
family smoking, obesity, alcohol related harm, sexually transmitted infections and teenage pregnancies.

On top of these universal services are services targeted at sections of the population with a higher risk of poor 
health and adverse lifestyle behaviours.  Priority groups include Gypsy and Traveller children, Looked after 
Children, parents with problems or low self-esteem and families in areas of high deprivation.  Services to these 
groups should focus on prevention as well as tackling health inequalities.

Figure 19: Core Children’s Pathway

Prevention

s฀#HILD฀(EALTH฀
0ROMOTION฀
0ROGRAMME

s฀)MMUNISATION฀
PROGRAMME

s฀.EWBORN฀
SCREENING฀
PROGRAMMES

s฀0ARENTING฀SUPPORT

s฀3UPPORT฀FOR฀BREAST฀
FEEDING

s฀&AMILY฀NEEDS฀
ASSESSMENT฀
COMPLETED฀BY฀AGE฀
�฀YEAR

s฀3AFEGUARDING

s฀4ARGETED฀฀SUPPORT฀
FOR฀LIFESTYLE฀
CHANGES�฀E�G�฀
SMOKING฀CESSATION

s฀3UPPORT฀FOR฀HEALTHY฀
EATING

s฀%DUCATION

Assessment

s฀4IMELY฀ASSESSMENT฀
IN฀CHILD฀FRIENDLY฀
FACILITIES

s฀-ULTI
DISCIPLINARY฀
ASSESSMENT฀
OF฀HEALTH฀AND฀
WELLBEING฀
INCLUDING฀
PSYCHOLOGICAL฀
HEALTH

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀PRIMARY฀
CARE฀SERVICES

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀
SECONDARY฀CARE฀
AND฀SPECIALIST฀
SERVICES

Identification

s฀0ARENTAL฀CONCERN

s฀0ROFESSIONAL฀
CONCERN

s฀#HILD฀(EALTH฀
0ROMOTION฀
0ROGRAMME

s฀.EWBORN฀
SCREENING฀
PROGRAMME

s฀3AFEGUARDING

s฀)NTEGRATED฀
INFORMATION฀
SYSTEMS฀BETWEEN฀
HEALTH�฀EDUCATION฀
AND฀SOCIAL฀CARE

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀PRIMARY฀
CARE฀SERVICES

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀
SECONDARY฀CARE฀
AND฀SPECIALIST฀
SERVICES

Management

s฀5NIVERSAL฀CARE฀
THROUGH฀PRIMARY฀
AND฀COMMUNITY฀
CARE฀AND฀THE฀
EDUCATION฀SERVICES

s฀-EDICAL

s฀3URGICAL

s฀0SYCHOLOGICAL�฀
BEHAVIOURAL

s฀%DUCATIONAL

s฀-ULTI
DISCIPLINARY฀
TEAM฀MANAGEMENT

Long Term Support

s฀5NIVERSAL฀CARE฀n฀
SUPPORT฀THROUGH฀
EDUCATION฀AND฀
PRIMARY฀AND฀
COMMUNITY฀CARE฀
SERVICES

s฀%DUCATION

s฀3OCIAL฀CARE

s฀&AMILY฀SUPPORT

s฀0SYCHOLOGICAL฀
AND฀BEHAVIOURAL฀
SUPPORT

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀PHYSICAL฀
ACTIVITY฀AND฀A฀
HEALTHY฀DIET

s฀!CCESS฀TO฀AGE฀
APPROPRIATE฀
SERVICES

s฀0ERSONAL�฀SOCIAL฀AND฀
HEALTH฀EDUCATION฀
IN฀SCHOOLS

s฀3EXUAL฀HEALTH฀
ADVICE฀AND฀
SERVICES

s฀/BESITY฀SERVICES

s฀3MOKING฀CESSATION฀
SERVICES

s฀!LCOHOL฀SERVICES

109



Towards the best, together

68

Safeguarding, which means the NHS and its partners taking all reasonable measures to ensure the risk of 
harm to childrens welfare are minimised and their wellbeing is promoted, is a particularly important element 
of targeted services.  Prevention is obviously the primary aim and parenting programmes are a key component 
of this, but we will also strengthen out-of-hours services and training for all involved in the care of children.

Universal and targeted services are better provided in partnership between health, social care and 
education and, for safeguarding, the police.  This requires the joint development of care pathways, e.g. for 
Looked after Children, better integrated information systems than currently exist and the development of multi-
disciplinary training programmes.  We are committed to creating and developing these partnerships.

As well as universal and targeted services, there are a range of specific services for children with particular 
needs, the most important of which are covered in the following sections.

Services for Children with Long Term Conditions
Around 18% of children aged 0-19 have a long-standing illness or disability14.  These children live with this 
condition every day, and many for the rest of their lives, which is why they should be respected as knowledgeable 
expert patients and supported by a multi-disciplinary team including nurses, therapists, teachers and social 
workers.  Their condition should be proactively managed, aided by a personal health plan, decision trees and 
algorithms for both patients and staff, with 24-hour access to telephone advice and shared health records.

Even more so than for adults these services should be seamless as set out in the case for change.  Whole 
pathways of care will be commissioned together and be provided in community facilities such as children’s 
centres, community hospitals or extended schools.  This enables the child to be cared for closer to home, 
thereby improving their long-term health and well-being.

The multi-agency multi-disciplinary teams should work together and be located together, supported 
by a high quality information system to ensure better decision-making, audit and communication.  In the 
longer term, Community Children’s Nursing Teams will form the core of the larger multi-agency team.

Figure 20 describes this pathway.

Case Study

An example of good practice from the region is the Health Led Parenting Pilot in south-east Essex, which 
is a joint project between the PCT and the local authority.  The pilot is testing an intensive home visiting 
programme for young, vulnerable first-time mothers during their pregnancy and the first two years of 
their child’s life.  100 families have been recruited onto the programme and early results are encouraging, 
particularly around the continued engagement and enthusiasm of a group of young people who have 
historically been reluctant to engage with statutory services:

-A 20% increase in breast feeding

-A reduction in low birth weights

-A 15% reduction in smoking in pregnancy

-25% of the young mothers accessing Children’s Centres.

110



Towards the best, together

69

Figure 20: Pathway for the care of children with long term conditions

Acute Children’s Services

Primary care will continue to provide care for most acute illness as it does now.  Children should not have to go 
to hospital unless it is absolutely necessary, so we will create a greater separation between non-urgent 
children’s services and urgent and emergency services.  In addition to care provided in GP surgeries, 
non-urgent care will be focussed in a community setting to deliver an extensive range of planned care 
services, including diagnostics, management of long term conditions, outpatient clinics, child protection work 
and multi-disciplinary work with partner agencies.  These centres could be located in a Children’s Centre or 
a local healthcare centre, depending on local availability and condition.  In some locations, it may also be 
possible to deliver children’s urgent care in these centres during normal working hours.

For urgent care, as with adult services, specific Children’s Urgent Care Centres run by primary care will be 
established, where geographically appropriate.  These should primarily be co-located with an A&E Department 
and act as the main point of entry to emergency children’s services.
As medicine and treatment gets better, fewer and fewer children need to stay overnight in hospital, especially 

Diagnosis

!CCESS฀TO฀DIAGNOSTICS฀
SAME฀DAY฀PRIMARY฀CARE�
SECONDARY฀CARE

24hr helpline WITH
APPROPIATE฀SKILL
3UPPORT฀AND฀RESPONSE฀TO฀SPECIALIST฀TEAM�฀
ADMISSION฀OR฀HOME฀VISIT

Anticipatory care plan FOR฀UNEXPECTED฀ILLNESS
2EFERRAL฀GUIDANCE฀FOR฀PROBLEMS฀฀DENTIlED฀AT฀
SCHOOL฀OR฀ANNUAL฀REVIEW
3ELF฀MEDICATION฀OR฀ADMISSION฀ARRANGEMENTS฀IF฀APPROPRIATE

Annual review

3ECONDARY฀CARE�฀CHECK฀FOR฀COMPLICATIONS�฀
SCREEN฀FOR฀CO
MORBIDITY
2EFRESH฀CARE฀PLAN
5PDATE฀TREATMENT฀SCHEDULE

Transition

0LANNED฀TRANSFER฀TO฀ADULT฀SERVICE฀
�PRIMARY฀OR฀SECONDARY	VIA฀JOINTLY฀
WORKING฀PAEDIATRIC฀AND฀ADULT฀TEAMS
9OUNG฀PERSON฀HOLDS฀CONTRACT

Multiagency approach

2EFERRAL฀TO฀SPECIALIST฀TEAM฀
�SECONDARY฀CARE	฀
4REATMENT฀AND฀%DUCATION

Stabilisation

(OME฀SUPPORT
+EY฀WORKER�SPECIALIST฀NURSE
%STABLISH฀CONTRACT฀FOR฀FUTURE
SERVICE฀DELIVERY

School care plan

3OCIAL฀SUPPORT
0ARENT�CARER฀SUPPORT฀NETWORK
!CCESS฀TO฀INFORMATION

INDIVIDUAL CONTRACT FOR CHILD

Parent / child held plan and follow up

3CHOOL฀BASED฀CLINIC฀REVIEWS฀�NURSE฀LED	฀���฀A฀YEAR
3CHOOL฀NURSE฀�฀SPECIALIST฀NURSE฀LINKS฀WITH฀MULTI
DISCIPLINARY฀TEAM
0OSSIBLE฀DEVELOPMENT฀OF฀(#!฀ROLES฀IN฀SCHOOLS
3%.#/฀LINKS฀WITH฀EDUCATION
,OCAL฀PRACTICE฀LINKS฀WITH฀PRIMARY฀CARE

111



Towards the best, together

70

if they have early assessment by a senior clinician.  The emphasis in hospital services is therefore shifting away 
from the traditional inpatient ward to Children’s Assessment Units run by consultant paediatricians.

Children’s Assessment Units will be established at all acute hospitals, ideally co-located with the 
Urgent Care Centre and the A&E department.  These units would include beds for children requiring 
observation for a planned duration of less than 24 hours.

With fewer children needing an inpatient stay, those that do tend to be more complex cases so the care 
needed is becoming increasingly specialised.  There is a broad clinical view that such children with complex 
needs would receive more effective care if these services were centralised with access to a mix of professionals 
in a multi-disciplinary team.  In addition, there is also a strong clinical view, including from the Royal College of 
Paediatrics and Child Health42, that it will not be possible to continue to staff all the existing inpatient units in 
their current format.  To comply with the European Working Time Directive, acute hospitals will need at least 

We therefore propose to review whether some hospitals should consider withdrawing from 
providing full inpatient children’s services and instead develop their Children’s Assessment Unit.  In 
addition, PCTs would invest in additional children’s community nurses.  Where this model has already been 
established, including in Hertfordshire, hospitals have demonstrated that they can manage about 90% of 
children without having to transfer them to another facility, but that where a transfer is necessary the inpatient 
care is better provided in a larger, more specialised unit.  Acute hospitals that do not have a full inpatient 
children’s service would still be able to provide a Level 1 neonatal unit (special care) but not a Level 2 unit (high 
dependency care) or a Level 3 unit (intensive care).

We believe this move from children’s inpatient wards in all acute Trusts to new Children’s Assessment Units 
supported by more specialised teams in central locations would deliver better care for children.  We will use the 
consultation period to seek views on this proposal and work up detailed proposals for how this could work.

Children’s Surgery and Sub-Specialty Care
In the same way that children’s services should be distinct from adult services, children’s surgery is becoming 
more specialised.  However, we do not recommend a wholesale shift to specialist centres, rather we will 
create local networks for children’s surgery, based on a maximum ambulance travel time of 60 minutes 
to a childrens surgical centre from all our acute hospitals.

These networks will see different levels of surgery carried out at different centres depending on the child and 
the complexity of the case:

than 24 hours will continue at all acute hospitals

provided by acute hospitals with full inpatient facilities

problems should be centralised to provide the best outcomes.

For children between one and five years old, the continuation of local services will depend on the skills and 
competencies of the local surgeons and anaesthetists and the numbers of cases they treat.  We will ensure 
that an independent peer review is carried out across the east of England to determine which hospitals will 
continue to provide these services.

Further work will be required to determine the right number of childrens surgical centres.  On the basis of 
the proposed 60 minute maximum travel time, however, it is likely that at least five such centres would be 
required.  

112



Towards the best, together

It is not possible for all acute hospitals in the east of England, or anywhere in the country, to appoint 
paediatricians experienced in all sub-specialties.  However, Trusts can and will work together to provide 
cover between them and ensure that sufficient sub-specialty expertise is available locally.

Some sub-speciality work will continue to be provided only in specialist centres, for example paediatric intensive 
care and complex endocrinology, where the numbers of children being treated are relatively small and a critical 
mass is required to ensure appropriate expertise and facilities.

This revision of how we provide children’s surgery and sub-specialty services is designed to ensure that the 
most appropriate staff with the right skills and equipment are ready and available when needed.  This meets 
the case for change in ensuring specialists continue to get the practice they need to deliver better outcomes 
but also keeping the vast majority of surgery as local as possible.

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
Probably even more so than those services affecting a child’s physical well-being, those that deal with mental 
health problems need to be focussed entirely on the child and be separate from adult services.  Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health services need to both be comprehensive and responsive.  They should also be 
provided by integrated multi-agency multi-disciplinary teams across all children’s services and we will explore 
whether these services could be provided from Children’s Centres.  We are committed to a focus on the 
delivery of mental health services for young people as part of our aim to be the best health service 
in England.

113



Towards the best, together

72

Local services will place greater emphasis on the early years of a child’s life, supporting parents and young 
children and promoting the development of positive parent-child relationships.  We will focus on vulnerable 
parents; early detection; and intervention for children with developmental disabilities.  This will require close 
partnership working with social services, education and the voluntary sector.  As with adults, there will be an 
emphasis on developing effective intensive services to support young people in crisis and prevent admission to 
an inpatient unit unless absolutely necessary.

For specialist services across a number of PCTs and local authorities, more emphasis will be placed on services 
for young offenders in secure and non-secure settings, particularly those who have drug or alcohol problems 
and learning difficulties.  Help for these young people goes to the heart of what a civilised society is.

A regional service for young people with forensic mental health problems will also be developed.  

In addition, we will recognise the importance of non-health specific services such as specialist social care, 
therapeutic foster care, educational behaviour support and voluntary sector support, by working more closely 
with partners and integrating these services into health provision.

Children’s Palliative Care Services
There are not enough palliative care services for children and young people. These services are supposed to 
support children and their families at their lowest ebb, but they have been developed in an ad hoc unplanned 
manner, with no consistent funding or commissioning streams, particularly for services provided or funded by 
charitable organisations.

We commit ourselves to the creation of a region-
wide, multi-agency palliative care network for 
children and young people.  This means the 
NHS, especially those who commission services 
putting their money where it is needed, and 
ensuring that funding streams are more 
secure and less reliant on voluntary sector 
contributions.

Adolescent Care and Transition to Adult 
Services
The move from childhood to adulthood is 
hard enough without the added complications 
of health problems, which is why we are 
committed to delivering the specific 
facilities adolescents need across the 
region.  The transition of care from 
children’s to adult services for young 
people with chronic health needs will 
receive particular attention, with condition-specific transition arrangements being developed.  This will 
be particularly challenging for young people with complex needs, including learning difficulties and physical 
impairments, where multi-agency co-operation is required.

114



Towards the best, together

73

Conclusion

Children’s services should be as professional, accessible, and effective as adult services, but they also need to 
be different.  If we are to create this mini NHS for children, with experts in their care caring for them on their 
terms, we will need a full service approach that accepts the need for planning and change.  The pathways 
described in this section pass the tests based on the Principles for Progress.  They respect patients as individuals 
by treating them as children; they accept and promote the need for partnership working across organisations 
and with partners; they localise where possible but centralise where appropriate; and include prevention as a 
key part of the pathway whilst insisting on better evidence-based outcomes.

To ensure children’s services get the attention they need and deserve we will create a region wide Children’s 
Services Board.  This board will bring together clinicians, managers and other experts to oversee the 
development of a specification for the provision of all care for children and young people and the production 
of guidelines for care and referral at all levels.  The specification made by this board will then be commissioned 
by PCTs within their local children’s network.  This region-wide approach is vital as we will have to develop 
transport and other policies as well as plan together for a future workforce and rotate staff between hospitals 
in order to maintain skill levels. 

Planned Care

mercy of the other priorities they and their consultants quite rightly have.  Care can only be truly planned if it 
is planned together, between the NHS and the patient, rather than the NHS telling the patient what treatment 
to have, where to have it and when.  That is why we place localisation, choice and a split from acute services 

Clinical Pathway Group

Pen Portrait After
Eddie is six years old.  One evening at home, he has a violent seizure which he recovers from, but Sarah 
is extremely concerned.  She takes Eddie to the nearest A&E department where he is seen by a paediatric 
nurse and then by a paediatrician (child specialist).  The paediatrician, who is part of the networked epilepsy 
team, refers Eddie to a neurological (brain) children’s specialist who holds clinics locally.  He requests a brain 
scan which is carried out locally and Eddie is diagnosed as having epilepsy.  A multi-disciplinary team led 
by an epilepsy nurse conducts an early assessment of Eddie’s needs.  Advice and guidance is provided to 
Sarah and to Eddie himself and early treatment options discussed with the paediatrician and the epilepsy 
nurse.  A key worker from the multi-disciplinary team, based in the community, liaises with Eddie’s mother, 
school and GP practice.  A heath plan is agreed with Eddie and Sarah and fed back to all members of the 
multi-disciplinary team.  The health plan is reviewed at regular intervals.

Key proposals – we will:

Deliver more care closer to home, away from acute hospitals

Guarantee better access to GPs, dentists and radiotherapy services 

Provide direct access to specialist advice and diagnostics and more local provision of diagnostics

Guarantee a maximum 18 week wait for more of our services including speech therapy, podiatry, 
orthotics, wheelchair services and orthodontics

Ensure that all patients have a full and free choice of where to go for planned care

Develop better local support for post-operative recovery

Agree, and measure, new clinical, quality of life and experience outcomes

Ensure that there is appropriate centralisation for complex care, particularly specialised surgery

115



Towards the best, together

74

“In my view, there was no real planning for my breast reconstruction in the longer term.  In other 
words, I came out of hospital and I thought  well, where do I go from here ?” – Patient, planned 
care workshop

Planned care should provide the most convenient services for patients in the whole system.  Patients should 
have a choice about where and when to get treatment that fits with their lives rather than the structures and 
bureaucracy of the NHS.  And, when the services are delivered, they should be safe and of the highest quality.  
In other words, if we cannot deliver choice, safety and quality in planned care, then we have a real problem.  

In this section the core principle of localise as much as possible, centralise where appropriate is the 
lynchpin of better services.  The emphasis should be on providing as much care as is practical closer 
to home, rather than in acute hospitals.  The pathway, Figure 21, sets out how we will provide services for 
patients that deliver on the principles, providing what patients need and expect.

Assessment
Most initial assessments for planned care take place in primary care, mainly by GPs but also by dentists, 
optometrists and occasionally by others, such as pharmacists.  The most important thing is that patients have 
good access to these services.  Currently, a sizeable proportion of the public are concerned that access to, and 
responsiveness of, primary care is not good enough.

To address this, each PCT will work with its practices to tackle issues identified in the national patient access 
survey and our research identified in the Case for Change, in particular ensuring that patients can book ahead.  
We want to ensure that public satisfaction on access and responsiveness of primary care is the best 
in England, as measured by research both nationally and regionally.  PCTs will develop incentives for GP 
practices to achieve this.

Pen Portrait Before
Gary has continual pain in his knee which makes him very irritable.  He sees his GP who refers him to a 
consultant at the acute hospital.  At the hospital the consultant requests an MRI scan which Gary returns 
for on another day.  Taking more time off work, he returns for another appointment to be told the result of 
the scan.  With a confirmed diagnosis he is given a date for an operation.  After the operation Gary attends 
physiotherapy and his follow-up appointment with the consultant on a different day.  It normally takes 
Gary just over half an hour to drive to the acute hospital and parking is difficult.  However, the time of his 
physiotherapy appointments means he has to travel in the rush hour and it takes him almost an hour.

Figure 21: Core Planned Care Pathway

!SSESSMENT

s฀3ELF฀ASSESSMENT

s฀4ELEPHONE฀ASSESSMENT

s฀0RIMARY฀CARE

s฀3ECONDARY฀CARE

4REATMENT

s฀3ELF฀CARE

s฀0RIMARY฀CARE

s฀,OCAL฀�฀COMMUNITY฀
HOSPITAL

s฀%LECTIVE฀TREATMENT฀
CENTRE

s฀!CUTE฀HOSPITAL

s฀3PECIALIST฀CENTRE

$IAGNOSIS

s฀0RIMARY฀CARE

s฀-OBILE฀DIAGNOSTICS

s฀,OCAL฀�฀COMMUNITY฀
HOSPITAL

s฀!CUTE฀HOSPITAL

s฀3PECIALIST฀CENTRE

2EVIEW฀AND
2EHABILITATION

s฀4ELEPHONE฀REVIEW

s฀'0฀REVIEW

s฀#ONSULTANT฀REVIEW

s฀)NTERMEDIATE฀CARE

s฀#OMMUNITY฀SERVICES

s฀!CUTE฀SERVICES

116



Towards the best, together

75

Initially, at least half of the practices in each PCT will offer extended hours outside 
the core hours of 8am to 6.30pm Monday to Friday.  Each PCT will also commission 
at least one new health centre that will be open 12 hours a day, seven days a week.  
These new centres will be open by April 2009.

Dentistry is another area where we will improve access.  We will ensure 
that NHS primary dental services are available locally to all who need 
them.  All PCTs will set out clear local standards for access and then identify where 
there is unmet need and expand provision.  PCTs will also be responsible for giving 
patients information about where to find an NHS dentist who will give them an 
appointment, as currently happens with GPs.

A further specific area where we will improve access is by greater use of telephone assessment.  Telephone 
assessment can be used to provide both pre-procedure assessment and post-procedure follow-up for many 
procedures, as is increasingly being used for non-complex surgical procedures.

Together, these new access measures will make it easier and far more convenient for patients to seek help.  The 
next stage of the pathway ensures that diagnosis and routine treatment also becomes much easier.

Diagnosis and Routine Treatment
We will make it easier and quicker for patients to have direct access to diagnostics and obtain 
results before going to see a consultant thereby reducing the overall length of most care pathways.  
This approach will be applied wherever possible, with the current system becoming the exception rather than 
the rule.  A greater range of diagnostics, such as X-rays, ultrasound scans, blood tests and potentially 
simple MRI scans, will also be available outside of acute hospitals.

Where the diagnostic results can be assessed by a GP, they will be and GPs will be able to refer directly for 
surgery depending on the nature of the diagnosis and treatment required.  The pathway, Figure 22, is suitable 
for conditions that are easy to diagnose, are relatively common, have a high conversion rate, i.e. percentage 
of referrals resulting in a surgical procedure being necessary, and for patients without complex needs.

Case Study

Peterborough District Hospital runs a ‘one stop’ service for people who need a cataract operation.  People 
see an optometrist in their opticians and are directly referred to the hospital for an operation.  To increase 
the convenience for patients, they attend the hospital just once, on the day of their operation.  Patients can 
also still follow the traditional pathway, with a referral for an outpatient appointment with a consultant.

Those patients using the ‘one-stop’ service are treated quicker than those following the traditional pathway 
because there are fewer waits in their pathway.  This also releases outpatient appointments for the 
consultants to see other patients, which has helped bring the waiting time between decision to treat and 
treatment down to eight weeks.

117



Towards the best, together

76

Figure 22: Pathway with direct access to diagnostics and surgery

Again, to make the planned care pathway more efficient we will split planned care away from acute care as 
much as possible.  This will free acute care to deal with more complex care and emergencies, and reduce the 
possibility of planned care being disrupted.  There are also a range of more straightforward procedures, 
such as minor and routine surgical procedures, that do not need to take place in a major acute 
hospital at all.  More of these procedures will be carried out locally through GP practices, community 
hospitals and elective treatment centres. 

Looking to the Future identified that as services are redesigned, we should aim to commission the following 
care currently provided in acute hospitals from out-of-hospital settings:

43.

This will, of course, vary according to local need but the principles of splitting planned care from acute care; 
making it easier and quicker to get the diagnosis and treatment you need; and reducing the numbers sent 
routinely to acute hospitals hold true across the system. 

Since 1 April 2008, patients have been free to have their planned care at any provider who meets the national 
quality standards and can provide that care at NHS prices.  We support this policy as key to increasing choice 
and delivering the quicker and more efficient planned care pathway outlined here.  We will ensure that all 
patients have a full and free choice of where to go to for planned care.  We will prioritise the roll-out 
of Choose and Book to make appointments easier for all, and will ensure that all organisations are using the 
system.  We will also ensure all providers extend the range of services available through Choose and Book to 
more than just consultant-led services.

'0฀#LINICAL
!SSESSMENT

$IAGNOSTIC
0ROCEDURES

'0฀REVIEW
OF฀RESULTS

#OMMUNITY
฀
BASED฀
SUPPORTIVE฀CARE

!CUTE฀4RUST
฀
BASED฀
TREATMENT

4ELEPHONE฀
FOLLOW฀UP

#OMMUNITY
฀
BASED฀
TREATMENT

#HOICE฀OF฀
SERVICE

0ATHOLOGY฀OR
DIAGNOSTIC฀
DOUBT

4ELEPHONE฀
FOLLOW
UP

NO฀PATHOLOGY฀REQUIRING฀SURGERY

118



Towards the best, together

77

We want to go further on guaranteeing waiting times as well.  As a result of the Improving Lives; 
Saving Lives consultation we have pledged to introduce a maximum waiting time of 18 weeks for 
a wider range of services including speech therapy, podiatry, orthotics, wheelchair services and 
orthodontics.

Complex Treatments
As outlined in the Case for Change and our Principles for 
Progress, complex treatments, such as pancreatic cancer 
surgery or cleft lip and palate surgery, are best provided 
in specialist centres to improve patient safety and clinical 
outcomes.

The best way to provide complex treatments in a 
predominantly rural area such as the east of England is 
through hub and spoke services, with larger hospitals 
providing a centre for a network of smaller hospitals.  This 
ensures that as much as possible of the care pathway, 
such as outpatients, diagnostics and follow-up clinics, is 
local and only the treatment is centralised.

To do this we need to ensure appropriate diagnostic 
tests, such as early pre-assessment, are arranged before 
specialist opinion is sought.  Patients can then be managed 
by specific multi-disciplinary teams, specialising in their 
condition, ensuring continuity of care.  One member of 
the team will be clearly identified as the main point of 
patient contact, to help them understand their treatment 
plan and make informed choices at appropriate stages.  
Integrated information networks will be needed to 
support these services, with reporting of results available 
across the network from general practice to the 
specialist unit. 

The majority of planned complex care in the east of England is already provided on a hub and spoke basis.  Our 
immediate priorities relate to the Cancer Reform Strategy and aspects of specialised surgery.

In cancer, we will increase radiotherapy capacity to meet the new waiting time guarantees and 
increase the availability of chemotherapy in the community, thereby improving access.  We are also 
developing plans to implement the Improving Outcomes Guidance for supportive and palliative care44 and 
continuing to implement the guidance on rarer cancers.

Looking to the Future identified that alternative arrangements were needed in a number of the 
surgical sub-specialties to ensure appropriate access to expertise and ensure their sustainability.  
These mainly related to specialised and complex orthopaedic surgery, specialised and complex urology, oral and 
maxillofacial surgery, complex ENT surgery and complex major elective gynaecology surgery and gynaecological 
oncology.  We will establish a programme of work for each of these specialties and agree specific arrangements 
which will be tested through the principles we have agreed in response to the Case for Change.

119



Towards the best, together

78

Review and Rehabilitation
We will make treatment reviews more accessible and convenient because that is what patients 
have told us they want.  We will ensure the most appropriate approach to recovery review is used for each 
procedure, recognising the needs of the patient and the complexity of the treatment.  In keeping with the Case
for Change, an increasing number of treatment reviews will take place away from acute hospitals, so three 
approaches will be the key to accessible and efficient review:

than the hospital.

Greater emphasis will be placed on effective rehabilitation and community-based services to ensure 
that the patient’s stay in hospital is as short as it can be and that recovery is as complete and swift 
as possible.  Care will be provided by the right person, in the right place, at the right time.  The ingredients 
for success which we are committed to making work are:

and skill

Conclusion

Our proposed changes to planned care all place the convenience of the patient at their centre.  Once again, 
the pathway delivers greater personalisation and care closer to home; cooperation across organisational 
boundaries; and a commitment to better outcomes, which will be identified, communicated to 
patients and the public, and then measured.

Pen Portrait After
Gary has continual pain in his knee which makes him very irritable.  He has an evening appointment with 
his GP who examines him and refers Gary directly for an MRI scan.  The mobile MRI scanner is based at 
the local hospital and a diagnosis is confirmed.  Gary is given a choice of location for his treatment and 
treatment options are discussed with him, (physiotherapy and/or surgery).  Gary decides to have day 
case surgery at his local hospital, which means his wife can easily pick him up after the operation.  He 
also gets physiotherapy locally rather than at the acute hospital.  The new information system in the NHS 
enables Gary to be reminded of his various appointments by text to his mobile phone and he selects an 
appointment time with the physiotherapist to fit in with work commitments.  His views are also collected 
on a patient experience tracker.  Gary goes back to his GP for his follow-up appointment and is back 
coaching football within two months.

120



Towards the best, together

79

Acute Care

“Acute care is where we turn when things go wrong, 
sometimes suddenly.  However, we need to recognise that 
not every hospital can do everything well.  Cooperation and 
specialisation in acute care will save more lives and that is why 
we make the proposals we do.  We need to be prepared to 
take the tough decisions about centralisation with the clinical 
confidence that they will produce better outcomes for our 
patients.” – Robert Winter, Consultant and Chair of Acute 
Care Clinical Pathway Group

“You need one part of the system knowing what the other is doing” 
– Patient, deliberative event, Norwich

Pen Portrait Before
Fiona is found collapsed in the kitchen by her husband Gary when he returns from doing some shopping.  
He has only been out of the house for 30 minutes and his wife was perfectly well when he left.  Gary 
immediately phones for an ambulance.  A paramedic crew arrive and take Fiona to the nearest Emergency 
Department.  Following triage by a nurse and examination by a junior doctor, a diagnosis of stroke is 
confirmed.  Fiona is admitted to a medical ward and has a CT scan the next day.  Over the following 
weeks in hospital she receives physiotherapy and general nursing care.  Fiona makes a gradual recovery 
over the next few weeks and is eventually discharged home with walking aids and social support.

Key proposals – we will:

Ensure all 17 Acute Trusts will continue to have an A&E department

Make access easier by creating a new memorable telephone number for urgent care and ensuring 
consistent triage across all services

Create a series of Urgent Care Centres

Create a series of Urgent Care Centres

Create new specialist centres for stroke, primary angioplasty and major trauma 

Create clinical networks for specialised services

121



Towards the best, together

80

To many the local hospital is the NHS, the largest and most visible symbol of the whole service.  It is where we 
go when catastrophe strikes, and it is where we go for many of our routine treatments and consultations.  It 
is also where we go when we need complex surgery delivered by the most expert staff in the most up to date 
facilities with the best equipment.

In other parts of this vision we explain how the whole system needs to get better at using, and in many cases, 
not using the facilities and expertise found in our acute hospitals.  This section explains that we must also 
change the way we deliver acute hospital services to make those services better.

In order to deliver effective A&E care for all, we need an A&E department in every Acute Trust in 
the region.  However, how we access A&E, how it fits with other services, and how we make it the last resort 
rather than the first port of call all need to change.

In considering acute care services, there are three main issues to address:
1. Where and how are patients triaged and assessed and to which pathway are they directed?

2. What is the first point of contact for patients who:
a. do not require specialist services and who can be assessed and treated in settings other 

than an acute hospital?
b. have acute conditions that should be treated in an acute hospital, either as an 

emergency or planned episode?

3. How should clinical networks of care be operated, and what are the transport implications, taking 
account of the rural nature of the east of England?

The proposed pathway (Figure 23) makes it simpler for people who need help to get it by ensuring they 
are at the start of the pathway and then directed appropriately.  The pathway calls for a single point of 
telephone access for urgent care.  This approach was supported in Our NHS, our future, NHS Next Stage 

public to urgent healthcare by exploring the introduction of a single three-digit number in addition to the 

and ensure that NHS services are most effectively used to deliver better patient outcomes.  We will therefore 
work with other Strategic Health Authorities and the Department of Health to explore how a new national 
number (possibly 888) could be introduced. We will also explore how a localised NHS Direct service might fit 
in with this.

122



Towards the best, together

81

Triage
The development of new services has given patients more choice but it has also caused confusion about which 
is the most appropriate service.  At present, the system does not always enable patients to have consistent 
advice about whether their condition requires emergency or urgent attention.  It is often this failing that leads 
to unnecessary use of A&E, rather than a lack of alternative services.

For many patients, A&E is not the right place to go, but it is seen as the catch all answer, the place they know 
and the easiest choice to make.  This is often not good for the patient or for the A&E team and it is this 
inappropriate attendance which can lead to long waits as emergencies come first.  

We will create a system where a clinician assesses the needs of the patient consistently, whether by 
phone or in person, and then directs them to the most appropriate service.  Experienced GPs will be 
our front line.  They have the right skills and are proven to make the right decisions and reduce the number 
of unnecessary referrals.  

We will create a system for guiding patients who arrive at A&E by themselves back to primary care if that is best 
for them.  To do this we will create a series of Urgent Care Centres, managed by primary care working 
with Emergency Care Clinicians.  These would act as a gateway to emergency and urgent care, making sure 
people get the service they need, and freeing up A&E departments for blue light ambulances.  The Urgent 
Care Centres could also be integrated with GP out-of-hours services and the new urgent care number.  

Primary and Community Care
Primary care will continue to provide care for most acute illness as it does now, providing continuing care for 
those with chronic conditions and offering oversight and co-ordination of care.  However, if we are to reduce 
unnecessary hospital attendances as outlined in the case for change then we need to make improvements to 
primary and community care, especially in out-of-hours provision.

There is no one answer to this, but we will work with PCTs and Acute Trusts to enable services to be delivered 
beyond 6.00pm Monday to Friday.  Some of this has already been addressed in the increased access guarantees 
we make in the planned care pathway, but we will also look at further use of Urgent Care Centres, GP 
federations, primary care booking services, next day appointments, pharmacy links and other ideas to create 
a full service approach after 6.00pm. 

The principle of only sending people to hospital when absolutely necessary is key to other areas of care.  The 
management of Long Term Conditions should include clearer plans to avoid unplanned hospital admissions – 
but also provide acute hospital admission when needed.  This is further explored in the section on Long Term 

3PECIALIST
4REATMENT

s฀!CUTE฀(OSPITAL

s฀3TROKE฀#ENTRE

s฀(EART฀!TTACK฀#ENTRE

s฀-AJOR฀)NJURY฀#ENTRE

!SSESSMENT฀AND
TREATMENT

s฀3ELF฀#ARE

s฀0RIMARY฀AND฀
#OMMUNITY฀#ARE

s฀5RGENT฀#ARE฀#ENTRE

s฀%MERGENCY฀CARE

4RIAGE

s฀'ENERAL฀0RACTICE

s฀���฀#ALL

s฀���฀#ALL

s฀5RGENT฀#ARE฀#ENTRE

s฀%MERGENCY฀$EPARTMENT

Figure 23: Pathway for Patients with Acute Needs

123



Towards the best, together

82

Conditions.  Secondary care admissions from residential nursing and care homes should only occur when 
there is a clearly defined benefit.  End of life care plans should also avoid distressing and unnecessary hospital 
admission at the end of life.  Again, this is further explored in the section on end of life.

PCTs and Practice Based Commissioning groups will need to commission new models of care by developing 
more local alternative services to A&E, as is currently planned in Hertfordshire.  In the long run as many as 
50% of existing A&E attendances could be seen in an alternative setting.  However, the delivery of such a shift 
will be very challenging and will depend on the development of alternative services that are recognised by the 
public as being easy to access and reliable, with robust processes to guide patients through the system.  

Acute Hospital Care
We know that only people who really need to should go to hospital, but it is important for those patients that 
their experience is as good as it can be.  We are committed to raising and then maintaining standards 
for emergency care in all our acute hospitals, providing a fuller range of key services, including 
diagnostics, 24/7.  Below we set out what patients and their families can expect from acute hospitals who 
will have to sign up to these basics as a condition of providing acute hospital services.

need to be admitted.  Wherever possible, the emphasis should be on avoiding the need for admission

experience and authority to implement a management plan

scanning 24 hours a day with immediate reporting

for the patient’s clinical condition both in terms of required specialty and presenting complaints.  Failsafe 
systems need to be in place for handover of patients between clinical teams

palliative care, should be in place so that unnecessary admissions are avoided.

The above sections deal with services across all our acute hospitals; local services available to all.  This meets 
the case for change that services should be as local as possible and we should do all we can to find alternatives 
to hospital admission.

The following sections are about following the best clinical advice on where centralisation of services will save 
more lives and deliver better clinical outcomes, as identified in our principles for progress.

124



Towards the best, together

83

Stroke Services
About 10,000 people a year in the east of England will have a stroke of varying degrees of severity and up 
to 2,000 people a year will have a Transient Ischaemic Attack (TIA – a so called mini-stroke where a patient 
recovers but is at very high risk of having a major stroke).  The key to treating these patients effectively is to 
get them to appropriate care as quickly as possible.  The evidence is clear that treating patients this way will 
lead to better outcomes45.  Across the east of England, we believe we could save about 50 lives each year, 
ensure about 50 people did not suffer from major lifelong disability and improve the outcomes for a further 
450 people.

The ideal pathway is to treat stroke as an emergency, meaning patients are taken to a specialist 
stroke centre which has:

within 60 minutes

the brain scan and within three hours of the onset of stroke symptoms.  Specialist stroke centres should 
expect to give urgent thrombolysis to at least two patients a month

within seven days

After the initial high-risk period has passed, typically 48 hours, the patient 
should be transferred back to their local acute hospital for further 
multi-disciplinary treatment and rehabilitation services, again provided 
in dedicated facilities.  All stroke patients will be seen within a 
managed clinical network under the care of a stroke specialist at 
all times.

(recognising that some of our patients use London hospitals) how and 

include consideration of transfer times and specialist staff availability 
and will involve a process of accrediting local providers of both 

specialist and rehabilitation services.  The aim is to guarantee 
that 100% of our population will be able to have 

thrombolysis within three hours of the onset of 
stroke symptoms, should they need it, provided a 

999 call is made immediately and the timing of 
the onset of stroke is clear.

125



Towards the best, together

Primary Angioplasty
Evidence shows that patients who have recently suffered a heart attack have a greater chance of survival 
and recovery if they are treated in a specialist centre that provides primary angioplasty services46.  This is an 
emergency procedure that uses a balloon catheter to open up blocked blood vessels in the heart.  It is estimated 
that about 50 lives a year would be saved by having such services provided across the east of England.

Services for heart attack patients will be developed on the basis of the following principles:

primary angioplasties a year

and a half hours of calling for help

including anaesthetic cover

established locally with appropriate communication.

This means there can only be a limited number of 24/7 Heart Attack Centres in the east of England.  
An initial mapping exercise was carried out by the Eastern Region Public Health Observatory to understand 
the issues of travel times and potential populations served.  Taking into account transfer times into and out 
of an ambulance, the ‘door to balloon’ times in hospitals, and the requirement for patients to receive primary 
angioplasty within two and a half hours of having a heart attack, this equates to an ambulance journey time 
of no more than 75 minutes.  Taking these principles into account, and recognising that the southern parts 

of Hertfordshire and parts of south-west Essex 
look to providers in North London, the exercise 
demonstrated that about 93% of the population 
would be less than 75 minutes from a primary 
angioplasty centre if there were three such 
centres in the east of England.  This is a significant 
increase on the 9% who currently have access to 
these services.

Where it is not possible to transfer patients to a 
hospital providing primary angioplasty services 
within 75 minutes, the best treatment is likely 
to be thrombolysis.  In these circumstances, 
consideration should be given to providing pre-
hospital thrombolysis to minimise the delay in 
providing treatment.  Pre-hospital thrombolysis is 
already provided by the East of England Ambulance 
Service for some of our PCTs.

Further work will be needed to assess the feasibility and timescales for developing these Heart Attack Centres 
and to ensure we maximise the proportion of our population who are able to be transferred to a Heart Attack 
Centre within 75 minutes.  Every 2% rise in coverage we can deliver will save one extra life a year in our region.  

provide a primary angioplasty service during daytime hours in the week.  This would reduce the delay before 
patients receive treatment, thereby potentially improving outcomes further.

126



Towards the best, together

85

Major Injury Services
Evidence shows that outcomes are better when patients suffering from severe injury or multiple trauma are 
treated in centres with all the necessary supporting services and facilities on site47.  There is a clearly recognised 
standard for such centres48.  The future care of the small number of patients with very severe injury should be 
planned on the basis of:

cardiothoracic surgery and neurosurgery, each serving a population of 2 to 3 million

for people with less severe injury

injury centres to local acute hospitals for their ongoing care.

It is likely that this would mean we need one designated major injury centre in the east of England,
with some patients from south Hertfordshire and Essex going to similar units in London, in line with existing 
patient flows.  We will work with the latest evidence and the best information about how services are 
currently accessed in the east of England to identify this major injury centre and make these services 
available to the people of our region. We will also review the provision of spinal injury services to 
ensure effective coverage across the east of England.

Emergency Surgery
The provision of emergency general surgery is a key service for acute hospitals who will need to ensure that 
the service they provide:

To achieve these criteria they will need to:

for 2009

Acute hospitals which are unable to meet the above criteria for general surgery on their own will need to 
provide services in conjunction with another unit on a network basis.  The absolute priority is the provision of 
a clinically safe service.

There is strong evidence that emergency vascular surgery should be provided by specialist vascular 
surgeons rather than general surgeons, to improve outcomes49.  This requires a sustainable emergency 
on-call rota for vascular surgeons.  Given current workload, this is likely to mean a rota of 1 in 6 and a broad 
population range between 600,000 and 900,000.

However, emergency vascular rotas have implications for other disciplines and services.  Careful consideration 
will need to be given to local circumstances, including local morbidity and local geography in terms of travel 
times.  Where services are to be reorganised, it is likely that a clinical network approach, whereby two 
or more hospitals operate a joint on-call rota, rather than centralisation of services would be the favoured 
option, as this will facilitate the maintenance of local elective services to deliver against the principle of local 
where possible, only centralise where appropriate.  

127



Towards the best, together

86

We will also apply our principles for progress to critical care and a series of other surgical sub-
specialties to assess the need for the development of clinical networks.  These are: 

Conclusion

The proposals for acute care may appear the most radical in the whole vision, mainly because they deal with 
the most recognisable parts of the NHS.  However each proposal delivers against the case for change and the 
principles for progress.

They break down organisational boundaries for the benefit of patients; they centralise where needed, but 
remain local when possible; and they deliver better, measurable, outcomes based on the latest evidence.  We 
make these proposals, on the advice of senior surgeons, GPs and emergency physicians because they pass the 
ultimate test for change.  They will, if implemented in full, save more lives.

Case Study

The emergency treatment of vascular conditions such as a ruptured aortic aneurysm requires specialist 
vascular surgeons for the best clinical outcomes. The ideal population for a rota of specialist vascular 
surgeons to cover is 800,000.  A single on-call rota was formed for the 750,000 catchment population 
between Ipswich and Colchester Hospitals, based on:
3 vascular surgeons on each site and a workable rota of 6 vascular surgeons
An operational policy for the management of vascular emergencies led by the vascular surgeons and with 
Primary Care Trusts, the Ambulance Service, hospital switchboards, intensive care clinicians, radiologists and 
Trust management all working together.

Benefits have included:

-Working together on the development of joint screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm across the 
two sites and a joint audit

-General practitioners being able to get an urgent vascular opinion.

Pen Portrait After
Fiona is found collapsed in the kitchen by her husband Gary when he returns from doing some shopping.  
He has only been out of the house for 30 minutes and his wife was perfectly well when he left.  Gary 
immediately phones 999 for an ambulance.  The paramedics carry out a Face, Arm and Speech Test on 
Fiona which suggests she has probably had a stroke.  Whilst transferring her on ‘blue light’ to the nearest 
specialist stroke centre, the paramedics collect essential clinical information on the electronic care record 
which is immediately available to the stroke centre so that staff there can arrange an urgent scan.  On 
arrival, Fiona is met by the stroke physician, assessed and taken for a CT scan.  It is estimated that Fiona has 
had a stroke in the last 60 – 90 minutes and as the scan shows a clot in the brain she is given thrombolysis.  
Fiona spends a couple of days on the stroke unit and makes enough progress to be transferred to her local 
acute hospital where she receives multi-disciplinary rehabilitation and life-style advice.  She is discharged 
under the care of her GP and specialist stroke nurse after a further week.

128



Towards the best, together

87

Long Term Conditions

“There is a clear consenus from patients and clinicians about the best care of people with long term 
conditions: we should do what we can to prevent long term conditions: we should treat people with 
long term conditions with respect and as individuals (not as long term condition labels): and we 
should empower people to take control of their long term condition(s) through support, education 
and their own personal health plan.” – 
Steve Laitner, GP and Chair, Long Term Conditions Clinical Pathway Group

Long Term Conditions such as diabetes, coronary heart disease, high blood pressure, chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease, neurological conditions and other disabilities, are extremely common.  It is estimated that 
there are 1.6 million adults in the east of England with a long term conditions .  Having an Long term condition  
can impact significantly on a person’s quality of life and that of their carer(s) and family.  

One of the cores of our approach is that we must treat individuals with Long term conditions with 
dignity and respect, seeing them as an individual who happens to have a Long term conditions, and 
not an Long term conditions label – importantly, as “a person with diabetes” not “a diabetic”.

The nature of these conditions means that those who have them and their families need help that is long term 
and supportive, but also based on an understanding of the individual patient and when and where interventions 
are needed and wanted.  Primary Care Trusts, Practice Based Commissioners, Local Authorities and individuals 
with long term conditions need to be partners in commissioning multi-disciplinary and integrated Long term 
conditions  services which cover the whole system, using the principles and attributes set out in Figure 24.

Key proposals – we will:

and not

Ensure personal health plans for everyone with a long term condition  

Extend expert patient programmes

Improve timely access to specialist advice and diagnostics in primary care 

Guarantee access to cardiac and pulmonary rehabilitation

Ensure comprehensive disease registers are in place for long term conditions

Increase the emphasis on self care and pilot patient held budgets 

Agree and measure a new set of patient outcome and patient experience indicators 

Ensure all relevant staff have received training on delivering a self care approach

Pen Portrait Before
Eric has been diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.  One weekend he doesn’t feel so 
well.  He has a cold affecting his breathing and feels too weak to get out of bed.  His wife Molly does not 
know who to call and she is so concerned at his breathing that she phones 999 for an ambulance.  Eric 
is taken to the local hospital where he is admitted.  He is discharged home after 3 weeks.  His discharge 
was delayed as he developed C difficile with the antibiotics he was given.
Molly found it difficult to visit Eric in hospital as public transport to the hospital in Great Yarmouth is 
poor from where they live.  She relied heavily on friends and her daughter in Harlow to give her lifts, but 
she disliked being so dependant on other people.

129



Towards the best, together

88

Figure 24: Core Long Term Condition Pathway

0REVENTION

3ERVICES฀THAT฀ARE�฀PERSONALISED�฀EMPOWERING�฀EFFECTIVE�฀INTEGRATED฀�
)-02/6%$฀15!,)49฀/&฀,)&%

/54#/-%3

s฀0OPULATION฀BASED฀
PREVENTATIVE฀
MEASURES฀�HEALTHY฀
EATING�฀EXERCISE฀
OPPORTUNITIES�฀
SMOKING฀CESSATION฀
AND฀ALCOHOL฀HARM฀
REDUCTION	฀WILL฀
BE฀DELIVERED฀AS฀
PART฀OF฀NATIONAL฀
AND฀REGIONAL฀
PROGRAMMES

s฀&OCUSSED฀ON฀CHILDREN฀
AND฀SCHOOLS

s฀0REVENTION฀OF฀LONG฀
TERM฀CONDITIONS฀IS฀
DIRECTED฀AT฀SPECIlC฀
AT฀RISK฀GROUPS�

s฀/PPORTUNISTIC฀HEALTH฀
PROMOTION฀ADVICE฀AT฀
ANY฀HEALTH฀SETTING฀

s฀!DDRESSES฀POOR฀
ENVIRONMENTAL฀
FACTORS

s฀2EDUCTION฀
IN฀SMOKING฀
PREVALANCE

s฀2EDUCTION฀
IN฀CHILDHOOD฀"-)
LEVELS

s฀)NCREAS฀IN฀POPULATION฀
ACTIVITY
LEVELS

#ASE฀&INDING฀
�฀$IAGNOSIS

s3CREENING฀FOR฀LONG฀
TERM฀CONDITIONS฀฀
RISK฀FACTORS฀IS฀
OPPORTUNISTIC฀AND฀
BASED฀ON฀PERSONAL฀
AND฀FAMILY฀HISTORY฀
AND฀LIFESTYLE฀RISK฀
FACTORS

s฀$IAGNOSIS฀OF฀LONG฀
TERM฀CONDITIONS฀฀
INVOLVES�


฀+NOWLEDGE฀OF฀
THE฀PRESENTING฀
SYMPTOMS


0ROMPTS฀AND฀TRIGGERS


฀0ROTOCOLS


฀0ROMPT฀ACCESS฀TO฀
DIAGNOSTICS฀AND฀
EXPERT฀ADVICE


฀0ROMPT฀
COMMUNICATION฀OF฀
RESULTS฀TO฀PATIENTS


฀-ULTIDISCIPLINARY฀
APPROACH

s฀)MPROVED฀OBSERVED฀
TO฀EXPECTED฀
PREVELANCE฀RATIO฀
OF฀LONG฀TERM฀
CONDITIONS

s฀0ATIENT฀SURVEY฀OF฀
DIAGNOSTIC฀PROCESS

-ANAGEMENT฀0LAN

s฀0ERSON฀CENTRED฀
ASSESSMENT

s฀0ERSONAL฀HEALTH฀PLAN฀

s฀3UPPORTED฀SELF฀CARE฀
AND฀MANAGEMENT

s฀3UPPORTIVE฀
ATTITUDE฀OF฀HEALTH฀
PROFESSIONALS

s฀3TRUCTURED฀EDUCATION

s฀%ASILY฀ACCESSIBLE฀
INFORMATION

s฀2EGULAR฀hAS฀REQUIREDv
฀ REVIEWS

s฀#ARER�FAMILY฀
SUPPORT฀n฀PEER฀AND฀
PROFESSIONAL

s฀4RANSITIONS

s฀0ERSONAL฀CARE฀
PACKAGE

s฀%QUIPMENT

s฀%NABLING฀
REHABILITATION

s฀(OUSING

s฀&INANCE

s฀0SYCHOLOGICAL฀
SUPPORT

s฀%FFECTIVE฀MEDICINES฀
MANAGEMENT

s฀0RE
CONCEPTION฀
ADVICE฀AND฀OBSTETRIC฀
CARE

s฀0ATIENT฀SATISFACTION฀
WITH฀PROCESS฀OF฀CARE

s฀)MPROVED฀CONDITION฀
SPECIlC฀AND฀GENERIC฀
QUALITY฀OF฀LIFE฀
MEASURES

%XACERBATIONS

s฀!NTICIPATORY฀CARE฀
PLANS฀LINKED฀WITH฀
OUT
OF
HOURS฀AND฀
AMBULANCE฀SERVICES

s฀����฀COMMUNITY฀
HEALTH฀AND฀SOCIAL฀
CARE฀SERVICES

s฀#ONSISTENT฀฀฀
REGARDLESS฀OF฀ENTRY฀
POINT฀

s฀0OST฀EXACERBATION฀
REVIEW

s฀0OST฀EXACERBATION฀
REVIEW฀
DEMONSTRATES฀THAT฀
ANTICIPATORY฀CARE฀
PLAN฀FOLLOWED

s฀2EDUCTION฀IN฀
EMERGENCY฀
ADMISSIONS฀FOR฀LONG฀
TERM฀CONDITIONS

0ALLIATIVE฀#ARE

s฀)NTEGRAL฀PART฀OF฀THE฀
MANAGEMENT฀PLAN฀

s฀!DVANCED฀CARE฀
PLANNING฀�PREFERRED฀
PLACE฀OF฀CARE	

s฀'OLD฀3TANDARDS฀
&RAMEWORK฀�LAST฀YEAR฀
OF฀LIFE	

s฀,IVERPOOL฀#ARE฀
0ATHWAY฀�END฀OF฀LIFE	

s฀!NTICIPATORY฀CARE฀
PLANS฀LINKED฀WITH฀
OUT
OF
HOURS฀AND฀
AMBULANCE฀SERVICES

s฀#LINICAL฀REVIEW฀SHOWS฀
ADVANCED฀CARE฀PLAN฀
FOLLOWED

s฀)MPROVED฀RATIO฀OF฀
PATIENTS฀WISHING฀TO฀
DIE฀AT฀HOME฀WHO฀DO฀
DIE฀AT฀HOME

130



Towards the best, together

89

More than any other part of this vision, perhaps due to the sheer number of different Long term conditions 
and the longevity of the conditions, the links to different parts of the NHS need to be as robust as possible.  
This is highlighted in Figure 25, which shows how the work of other Clinical Pathway Groups is vital to the 
delivery of better care for those with long term conditions.  

Figure 25: Person (and carer) centred service

%VERYONE฀WHO฀HAS฀
MODIlABLE฀RISK฀FACTORS฀IS฀
IDENTIlED฀AND฀ADVISED�
TREATED฀TO฀OPTIMAL฀
CLINICAL฀OUTCOMES

%VERYONE฀WHO฀HAS฀�฀
OR฀MORE฀LONG฀TERM฀
CONDITIONS฀฀IS฀IDENTIlED฀
AND฀ADVISED�TREATED฀
TO฀OPTIMAL฀CLINICAL฀
OUTCOMES

%VERYONE฀IS฀MANAGED฀
WITH฀RESPECT฀AS฀AN฀
INDIVIDUAL฀�EG฀NOT฀
@DIABETIC�฀BUT฀A฀PERSON฀
WITH฀DIABETES	฀AND฀A฀
PARTNER฀IN฀CARE

%VERYONE฀HAS฀
IMMEDIATE฀SUPPORT฀
�฀ADVICE฀TO฀ACCESS฀
INFORMATION฀AND฀
EDUCATION

%VERYONE฀UNDERSTANDS�฀
HAS฀CHOICES฀AND฀IS฀IN฀
CONTROL฀OF฀THEIR฀CARE

%VERYONE฀RECEIVES฀
PHYSICAL฀AND฀EMOTIONAL฀
CARE฀AND฀SUPPORT฀AT฀
APPROPRIATE฀LEVEL฀OF฀
INTENSITY

%VERYONE฀WITH฀
EXACERBATIONS฀OR฀
APPROACHING฀END฀OF฀LIFE฀
RECEIVES฀APPROPRIATE฀CARE฀
AND฀SUPPORT

3TAYING฀
HEALTHY

!CUTE฀
CARE

%ND฀OF
LIFE

-ENTAL
HEALTH

)MPROVED฀QUALITY฀OF฀LIFE฀
AND฀CLINICAL฀OUTCOMES

131



90

Prevention
Many Long term conditions are preventable so we will deliver evidence based interventions known to prevent 
Long term conditions.  These services will be both whole population focussed (such as smoking cessation and 
encouraging physical activity) and targeted at specific risk groups (for example healthy eating and physical 
activity promotion for the elderly and certain ethnic groups at greater risk of diabetes).  Services need to be 
both proactive and opportunistic as set out in the Staying Healthy section of this vision.

Case Finding and Diagnosis
As well as preventing Long term conditions, we need to intervene for those who have risk factors or show early 
signs associated with their onset.  We need to use case finding, which includes finding out about smoking 
status whilst advising cessation support and checking body mass index or blood pressure.  We also need to 
target at risk groups such as smokers aged over 35 years of age (for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease), 
or obese people with a family history of type 2 diabetes (for diabetes).

As well as identifying those at risk, and providing the appropriate prevention support, we also need to ensure 
early diagnosis to get treatment quicker and improve outcomes.  We will, as identified in the planned care 
section, ensure timely specialist advice and diagnostic services are available in primary care including: 
early recognition of significant symptoms (e.g. chronic cough); diagnostic tests; and specialist advice and 
support to confirm diagnoses and advise on treatment plans.

To ensure we have the processes, facilities and properly skilled staffing in place to support all with Long term 
conditions, we will create comprehensive disease registers and then build a specific staff training 
programme that supports the self care approach we are proposing.

Management
There are 8,760 hours in a year – a person with a well managed long term condition may spend 3 hours with 
their health care professional – that leaves 8,757 hours where they manage their own care, health and well-
being.

That is why people need to be empowered to manage their own long term condition.  An increased emphasis 
on supportive self care and patient empowerment, recognising the expertise patients and their carers 
have in managing their own condition, is essential to improve care and support.  To do this we will 
fund a significant increase of the expert patient programme and disease related programmes such as 
DESMOND50.

To achieve this, people need timely, high quality 
and personalised information, education, 
advice and support for themselves and 
their carers.  There are also individuals 
with particular needs, such as those 
with depression, dementia, learning 
disabilities and multiple conditions, 
who are less able to ‘self care’ and 
require additional support and 
rehabilitation for themselves and 
their carers, for example through a key 
worker.

Towards the best, together 132



Towards the best, together

91

To deliver this approach we will ensure that all people with Long term conditions have an agreed 
personal health plan describing their day-to-day self-care, reviews, tests and what to do and who to contact 
if things get worse.  Health plans will also describe and communicate the individual’s wishes, choices, and 
goals for their well being.  We will ensure these are delivered across the east of England by 2010, based on a 
national standard if possible, or one developed specifically for the east of England if necessary.

Our priorities for delivering improvements in disease management are chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, 
coronary heart disease, diabetes, hypertension, multiple sclerosis and Parkinson’s Disease.  PCTs will identify 
two they wish to develop specific improvement plans for over the next year, with a further three areas to be 
developed the following year and the rest the year after.

These improvements in care will be further supported by us guaranteeing access to cardiac and 
pulmonary rehabilitation to all who meet the criteria over the next two years.  We will also increase 
renal dialysis capacity by 40% over the next 7 years to ensure the capacity we need is there for projected 
demand.

Exacerbations
People experiencing a worsening or acute complication of their long term condition need to understand 
exactly what to do which is why we will give everyone and their carers one contact number for help and 
consistent high quality advice according to their needs and preferences.  This requires us to ensure sufficient 

Palliative Care
People with Long term conditions also need clear advance plans for palliative care in their personal health plan.  
Those nearing the end of their life will be identified using indicators in the Gold Standards Framework51 which 
will enable them to enter the end of life pathway identified in the next section of this vision.

Process and Outcome Measurement
To ensure this pathway is delivering the better outcomes it is designed to, we will collect and review 
measures which describe the person’s experience of the health and social care services they receive 
and patient outcome measures such as quality of life (e.g. Euroqol52) and condition specific measures (e.g. 

Case Study

The Parkinson’s Disease service in Peterborough has been redesigned to ensure appropriate and timely 
access to specialist advice; improved access to support during times of crises; improved understanding of 
the condition to enable self management; and improved signposting to therapies and other services.

The hospital and community based clinicians worked with commissioners to move ongoing maintenance 
care to a community based service focussing on education and support to individuals with Parkinson’s 
Disease and their carers.  The service also provides information and local signposting to services such as 
therapists, benefits advice and vocational rehabilitation.

With less than a full year in operation, the achievements are:
-97 people referred from consultant led, hospital based clinic to nurse led community based clinic

-73% reporting reduced anxiety about having the disease and 91% reporting increased understanding of 
the disease

-Exercise classes which have resulted in 82% of people continuing with exercise after the programme

-Savings in outpatient appointments alone of nearly £30,000.

133



Towards the best, together

92

All of this work will be supported by a series of pilots we will set up to assess the viability and 
success of patient held budgets that put even more control and choice into the hands of patients 
and their carers.

Conclusion

If we implement this pathway comprehensively across the whole region, people with Long term conditions will 
enjoy an improved quality of life; a feeling of being more in control of their condition; fewer or no exacerbations 
or complications; a reduction in unnecessary acute admissions or unscheduled care; and potentially for some, 
if it is their choice, death at home.

These proposals meet the principles for progress in that they are all based upon the creation and measurement 
of better outcomes whilst putting respect for, and partnership with, the patient at the centre of a pathway 
that links services across the NHS and beyond.  Together, this approach will deliver on one of our Improving
Lives; Saving Lives pledges, that we will improve the lives of those with long term conditions.  It also links to 
the proposals we make in the mental health section of this vision about increasing support for carers.

End of Life Care

“We only have one chance to get End of Life Care right.  Our aim is to enable people to live well 
until they die, focussing on quality of life as well as quality of dying.  It is essential that the services 
we deliver provide the best level of care and by putting the patient and their family at the heart of 
care planning, the End of Life care pathway can deliver this.” – Dee Traue, Consultant in Palliative 
Medicine and Chair, End of Life Clinical Pathway Group

Pen Portrait After
Eric has been diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.  One weekend he doesn’t feel so 
well.  He has a cold affecting his breathing and feels too weak to get out of bed.  His wife Molly knows 
which number to call.  The call handler sees on Eric’s electronic record that he is on the vulnerable 
patient scheme and in his record it states that he would prefer not to go to hospital if at all possible.  Eric 
has a management plan for his condition and has supplies of medication at home which he can begin 
to take immediately.  The respiratory nurse is contacted and goes to Eric’s house to support him and his 
wife.  With daily visits from the district nursing team, five days later and Eric’s breathing is back to its 
usual condition and he is up and about.

Key proposals – we will:

Deliver world class standards in choice of place of death

Set and monitor core best practice standards for all end of life providers 

Create and extend support services for all families and carers, including bereavement support

Ensure needs assessments and advance care planning for all identified as being in their 
last year of life

Guarantee better access to supportive and palliative care services, particularly out-of-hours

Work with the public and partners to raise awareness of end of life issues

Establish a Palliative and End of Life Care Board and create managed Palliative and 
End of Life Care networks

134



Towards the best, together

93

“Two weeks in hospital, before she died, she was seen by a number of people … including an 
oncologist, who said chemotherapy was not helpful … The final things that were said to me before 
she died were, we’ll do some more tests and then during the night the nurse said you’d better 
prepare yourself ...” – Carer, end of life workshop

More than 55,000 people die every year 
in the east of England.  On average these 
people are admitted to hospital three 
times and spend nearly a month of the 
last year of their life in hospital.  Over half 
of them actually die in hospital.  Despite 
more than 50% of people wishing to die 
at home, only 20% of them do.  Many 
of these people will have received high 
levels of support in that last year of life by 
both NHS and social care services but this 
may not have met their specific needs 
and choices.  This is reflected by the high 
number of complaints about end of life 
care in acute hospitals. 

Our vision is to ensure high quality, 
integrated end of life care to all who 
need it, irrespective of diagnosis or place 
of care.  We propose a five stage end of 
life care pathway (Figure 26) to ensure 
that the level of all care in the east of 
England is raised to that of the best. 

Pen Portrait Before
Sheila is 78 years old and has chronic heart failure.  Doctors have told her that this is now very advanced 
and she has expressed a wish to die at home.  One night Sheila has problems breathing and Ron, her 
husband, calls 999.  An ambulance arrives and takes her to A&E from where she is admitted to a general 
ward.  Sheila’s condition initially improves slightly but she dies a few hours later in an unfamiliar 
hospital bed. 

135



Towards the best, together

94

This pathway will need to be delivered across organisational boundaries, making sure that people at the end 
of their lives and their families receive an integrated service with excellent communication amongst those 
delivering care.  To do this we will create managed Palliative and End of Life Care Networks that use 
the Marie Curie Delivering Choice Programme, or a similar model, which has been shown in Lincolnshire 
to improve outcomes in preferred place of care and admission avoidance at the same time as reducing costs.

Raising Awareness
Death is not often openly discussed and there are many fears about death and the dying process.  We need 
to make both the public and professionals more aware of the challenges faced by individuals and families at 
the end of life, and the support available to them.  We will deliver targeted communications campaigns 
for the public and raise awareness for all health and social care professionals through appropriate 
education and training to address end of life issues.

This will help improve the identification of individuals entering the last year of life and ensure that a holistic 
approach to care is taken rather than one that focuses just on physical problems.  It should also help address 
the cultural shift that is needed to recognise that, for many, death does not represent failure and that enabling 
people to die well is a core function of health and social services.

Assessment and Care Planning
To make end of life care effective we need to recognise and assess the needs of patients and their families or 
carers.  All patients identified as entering the last year of life will have a holistic needs assessment, 
including consideration of physical, psychological, social and spiritual domains.  All carers should 
also have a full assessment to identify their needs. 

*/).4฀(%!,4(฀!.$฀3/#)!,฀#!2%฀#/--)33)/.).'

3500/24฀&/2฀&!-),)%3฀!.$฀#!2%23

7/2+&/2#%฀$%6%,/0-%.4

).4%'2!4)/.฀!.$฀#/
/2$).!4)/.

).&/2-!4)/.฀!.$฀#/--5.#!4)/.

(%!,4(9฀
0/05,!4)/.

s฀'ENERAL฀0UBLIC

s฀(EALTH฀AND฀3OCIAL
#ARE฀0ROFESSIONALS

2!)3).'
!7!2%.%33

!33%33-%.4฀!.$
#!2%฀0,!..).'

3500/24)6%฀!.$
0!,,)!4)6%฀#!2%

$%,)6%29

2%!33%33 2%6)%7

#!2%฀/&฀4(%฀$9).' #!2%฀!&4%2฀$%!4(

,!34฀9%!2฀/&฀,)&%

s฀!DVANCED�฀PROGRESSIVE�฀LIFE
LIMITING฀ILLNESS

s฀0ROGNOSTIC฀)NDICATORS฀EG฀'OLD฀3TANDARDS฀&RAME฀
WORK฀�'3&	฀CRITERIA

s฀0ATIENT฀CHOICE฀AND฀NEED

s฀"ENElTS฀ELIGIBILITY฀EG฀$3����฀CRITERIA

,!34฀$!93฀/&฀,)&%

s฀,ONG฀TERM฀
CONDITIONS฀AND฀
ACUTE฀ILLNESSES

s฀0ROGNOSTIC฀INDICATORS฀
EG฀,IVERPOOL฀#ARE฀
0ATHWAY฀�,#0	฀
CRITERIA

$%!4(

s฀%XPECTED฀AND฀
SUDDEN฀DEATHS

s฀&AMILIES฀AND฀CARERS

136



Towards the best, together

95

We will then begin an advance care planning process.  This plan needs to be accessible to all appropriate 
health and social care staff to share information and decisions, for example as part of an end of life care 
register.

This process will be based on the Preferred Priorities for Care (PPC) document which records patients’ key 
preferences and goals for care.  It is not currently used systematically across the region, which is why we will 
ensure it is available to all through all providers of end of life care.

Another area where best practice is not being applied for the benefit of our whole population is in the use 
of the Gold Standards Framework (GSF) or an equivalent.  This should provide a systematic approach to 
the community care of patients in the last year of life and act as an end of life care register.  It is not being 
used by all providers, especially by GP practices and care homes with no end of life facilitator or Macmillan GP 
facilitator.  We will specify that all providers follow this best practice.

Supportive and Palliative Care Delivery
Whilst we have areas in our region providing excellent supportive and palliative care services, this is not 
available everywhere.  Not all health and social care professionals currently have the skills to provide generalist 
palliative care and access to specialist palliative care is not available in all settings 7 days a week.  Out-of-
hours services are an area in particular need of development.

Generalist Palliative Care from both medical and nursing staff should be available to all patients in 
all settings 24/7, including appropriate medicines and equipment.  When out-of-hours or ambulance services 
are involved, communication and handover mechanisms should be in place for patients on end of life care 
registers.

Specialist Palliative Care services should:

inpatient services, day therapy services, outpatient services and community teams

Better Lives guidance54.

Case Study

In west Essex the Preferred Priorities for Care document was introduced in 2006 to record people’s 
preferences and choices about end of life care.  It provided the opportunity to record:

-The patient’s thoughts about their care, their choices and preferences, including where they would 
like to die

-Family profiles and carers’ needs

-The services available in the locality and being accessed by the patient

-Changes in care needs.

The system follows the patient through their path of care and information is shared with all relevant health 
and social care professionals.  Of the first 100 patients to use the document, 88% of those who have died 
achieved their preferred place of death.

137



Towards the best, together

96

Supportive care should underpin palliative and end of life care provision, including assessment of need for 
and, if needed, referral to psychological; social; spiritual; and family and carer support services.  Carers should 
have access to support through an expert carers programme and a carers forum which delivers on the 
feedback we got from the Improving Lives; Saving Lives consultation about the role of carers.

We are not currently delivering these levels of care and support across the whole region.  This vision says we 
will invest in and develop services to address these unmet needs. 

Care of People who are Dying
To ensure a good death, and minimise distress to patients and their families and carers, we need high quality 
co-ordinated care in the last days of life.  What constitutes a good death can vary significantly between 
individuals, and a key role of assessment and care planning is to identify personal priorities and wishes.

For many, a good death will include:

The majority of patients would also prefer to die at home.  We will ensure that the east of England 
delivers world class standards in choice of place of death.

It is important to recognise that people’s views may change over time because of negative experiences or 
disease progression.  It is therefore essential that, as the patient is identified as entering the last days of life, a 
further review is carried out to establish current wishes.

The Liverpool Care Pathway for the Dying Patient is a multi-professional integrated care pathway for 
the last days of life and provides an evidence based framework of best practice to enable staff to deliver high 
quality holistic care.  Again, this is not being used universally across the region but we will ensure it 
is, especially by care homes and primary care services.

Care after Death
End of life care does not stop at death, but extends to the provision of practical and bereavement support 
for families and carers.  All care settings need to provide streamlined verification, certification and registration 
of death in line with national guidance and have clear policies for referral of deaths to the coroner and post-
mortem examinations.  We will also ensure that bereavement services are available for families and 
carers if they need them.

To ensure we deliver this new pathway universally, we will set up a Palliative and End of Life Care Board
who will set out the framework to be followed by commissioners and providers, and will then monitor delivery 
against agreed outcomes.  This Board will also ensure all PCTs have end of life care registers, to help the 
sharing of information between service providers, and an effective training programme for all staff, allied to 
effective workforce planning for the future.

138



Towards the best, together

97

Conclusion

To raise the level of all end of life care in the region to that of the best, there are a number of important areas 
that need to be addressed.  These include, working in partnership with the public and professionals to increase 
awareness of end of life issues; identifying individuals’ wishes and making them central to the care planning 
process; and ensuring access to high quality personalised services for both patients and carers.  These will help 
more people achieve their goals, including preferred place of death.  Central to this is the development and 
training of a competent and compassionate workforce to support patients and their carers throughout their 
journey.

This pathway places end of life care where it belongs; an equal partner with other parts of the NHS.  It sets 
out how partnership across organisational boundaries and with the patient and carers are needed to deliver 
better care; it delivers better outcomes for families, and greater choice for the patient; and it treats people as 
individuals through the provision of personal plans.  This, the final pathway, meets the principles for change 
and addresses an area that has remained hidden for too long. 

“You matter because you are you. You matter to the last moment of your life.  We will do all we can, 
not only to help you die peacefully, but to live until you die.”
Dame Cicely Saunders, founder of the modern hospice movement

Pen Portrait After
Sheila is 78 years old and has chronic heart failure.  Doctors have told her that this is now very advanced.  
Sheila wants to die at home and her key worker draws up an end of life plan that is shared with the family 
and available to healthcare workers who may need it.  The plan is very personal as Sheila is clear about 
wishing to die at home, not wanting to be resuscitated, and who she wants with her at the end.  Having 
lived in the same house for forty years her neighbours and friends are very important.  The daily visitors 
have meant a great deal to Sheila and Ron.  One night Sheila has problems breathing and Ron calls the 
contact number given by the key worker.  A team member arrives who is trained and experienced in 
end of life care, consults Sheila’s personal electronic record, and administers medication to help Sheila 
become more comfortable.  Sheila dies at home with her family and close friends present.  Comprehensive 
bereavement support is provided for Sheila’s family after her death.

139



Towards the best, together

98

Conclusion

In many respects the core of the NHS will be little different as a result of this vision.  The vast majority of people 
will continue to see their local GP for most of their healthcare needs.  Community hospitals and community 
teams will continue to be important local facilities and trusted providers of care.  And, all Acute Trusts will 
continue to have A&E departments and inpatient obstetric units.

But, in the experiences of those who use the NHS, services will be better, more personal, more integrated 
and more accessible.  This vision makes sure best practice is available to all across the east of England, from 
maternity care and core standards for IVF, through to better services for those who are dying.  

This vision makes a series of guarantees never before made by the NHS about access to services; reduction in 
waiting times; and choice of place of birth.

It increases choice across the system and the integration of services across organisational boundaries and 
creates effective partnerships with patients, carers and others in the public and private sector.  

It creates new bodies in end of life care and children’s services to set core standards and measure their 
implementation as well as imbedding cross NHS processes for delivering programmes that will benefit from 
economies of scale.

It promises new staff and better training to deliver on the guarantees and improvements we propose.

It meets the case for change and the aspirations of our population, as well as delivering against the principles 
for progress.  It also points the direction to delivering the pledges we made in Improving Lives; Saving Lives.

The vision is clinically driven, evidence based, patient centred and delivers better outcomes that will be measured 
systematically and communicated to those we serve.

It is the product of thousands of hours work by hundreds of people, including clinical staff, who came together 
and said the case for change showed action needed to be taken.  We are not delivering well enough for 
enough people.  They agreed to recommend change to create a better NHS, and to ensure we, in the east of 
England, deliver on our vision to be the best health service in England.

In all, this vision is a journey, Towards the best, together.

140



Towards the best, together141



142



Towards the best, together

101

How we Move Towards the Best

In previous chapters we have described the population and health and healthcare needs of the region; we 
have outlined a case for change and the principles that underpin that change; we have set out our pledges 
for a better NHS in the short term and a concrete and detailed vision for the NHS over the next decade.  So 
far, seven chapters of what we plan to do, but now we must answer the question of how we will move from 
plans to action.  This chapter does that.

Moving Towards the best, together will not be easy.  It will mean removing old boundaries, and working across 
organisations and silos to create change.  It will mean throwing away old approaches where they don’t work 
to look at how different ways of working can deliver better outcomes.  And it will mean focussing on issues 
and services that too often have been bottom of the pile in terms of investment and priority.

This section highlights how we have already started work to deliver our Improving Lives; Saving Lives pledges, 
and how, if this vision is agreed after consultation, further specific work will help drive us on our journey 
Towards the best, together.

This section highlights a series of cross cutting support mechanisms that will each help shape how the NHS 
moves forward.  These are:

Each, in their own way, will build the vital infrastructure that the NHS and its partners will need to refocus and 
realign to deliver change.

We then outline 30 first steps; actions that are already in train; actions that we will initiate in preperation for 
the outcome of this consultation; actions that we will be ready to initiate if the proposals in this division are 
supported. This is not in any way intended to pre-empt the outcome of the consultation but to ensure that the 
NHS is ready to move forward quickly once decisions have been taken.

Towards the best, together143



Towards the best, together

102

Leadership

Change requires leadership, from the top and from every level of the service.  Clinicians need to lead from the 
front, standing up for change and bringing their colleagues with them on the journey.  Managers need to move 
beyond the day-to-day tasks into leading staff and engaging partners in change and progress.  Stakeholders 
will also need to lead, shaping the vision and delivery around their priorities, but also playing their part in 
understanding and contributing towards the bigger picture.  And patient leadership will also be important to 
ensure that the patient voice is strong, is heard and is acted on.  

Our Talent and Leadership Plan will build on the existing work of the Breaking Through and Gateway 
programmes, to increase the opportunities for people from Black and Minority Ethnic Groups, and people 
not currently working within the NHS, to become NHS leaders.  Our aim is to identify, support, develop and 
position talented individuals so that we are ‘spoilt for choice’ when making senior leadership appointments.

Clinical Leadership
Our NHS is recognised across the national system as being at the cutting edge of identifying and developing 
leaders.  In the past two years we have delivered training and development programmes for nearly 1,000 
clinical leaders, including front line staff and consultants.

We are now committed to investing £3 million in each of the next three years, significantly raising our game, 
to shape and prepare the next generation of leaders, giving them the confidence and skills they will need now 
and in the future.  This new investment will see over 350% more clinicians and other leaders benefiting from 
leadership development over the next three years as we identify and build leadership skills of 5,000  clinicians 
and other individuals. These will be leaders at all levels with training provided to meet the needs of them and 
their teams.

This training and talent programme will be directly aligned to this vision, using the challenges and proposals 
here to shape our programmes and test our leaders.  These practical applications will benefit these leaders 
when they go back to their organisations and put their new skills and confidence to work.

We have also put clinical leadership firmly at the heart of our own organisation, the SHA.  Building on the 
clinicians that already sit on our Board we have recruited a new Medical Director and four Associate Medical 
Directors with experience of the acute, primary care, public health and mental health sectors.  These new leaders 
will all continue clinical practice alongside their duties at the SHA, ensuring that real front line experience and 
knowledge is integral to every decision we take.

That is why we will not allow the Clinical Pathway Groups to wither on the vine now they have delivered their 
proposals.  We will change them into Clinical Programme Boards and charge them to influence and ensure 
delivery of the visions they created.

Management Leadership
We have created and invested in, Talent and Aspiring Director programmes.  We have cast our net wide across 
the region and identified a group of people who will lead the NHS, alongside their clinical colleagues, within 
the lifetime of this vision.  These managers have been enrolled on year-long Aspiring Directors’ programmes 
which test their skills and knowledge of the NHS, and then identify where they need to improve and develop.  
These programmes have been made available to every NHS organisation in the region, and again the training 
is aligned to and driven by the delivery of this vision.

We have also aligned the managerial leadership of the NHS to the delivery of this vision.  The Chief Executives 
of all our PCTs now sit alongside the Executive Team of NHS East of England on the East of England NHS 
Management Board.  This board will shape and monitor the delivery of the vision, spreading best practice and 
learning lessons where appropriate, and pooling resources where it will deliver a better deal for the NHS and 
its patients.  There has never before been this level of co-operation across our NHS.

144



Towards the best, together

103

Also, within the SHA, the personal and directorate priorities of the whole Executive Team have been aligned to 
the delivery of the vision.  The success or not of individual directors will be judged on how they have helped 
the vision become real.  Staff have also been given permission to tell managers where work they currently do 
does not contribute to the delivery of the vision and then change focus so that the effort of every member of 
staff is about delivery.

Stakeholder Leadership
NHS East of England is the first, and so far only, Strategic Health Authority to invest in building partnerships 
through the appointment of a specific Director of Strategic Partnerships.  This post was identified in recognition 
that we could not deliver our pledges or the rest of this vision on our own – we need to work with stakeholders 
and partners across the region.

Work has already begun to build these relationships.  We have identified a joint programme of priorities with 
the East of England Development Agency which will bring economic, environmental and health benefits to the 
region.  This includes the work on sustainability and the Staying Healthy in the Workplace initiative outlined in 
the Staying Healthy section.

Further work has also been carried out locally to align Local Area Agreements to this vision, including identifying 
marginalised groups; supporting smoking cessation; and ensuring we take a full partnership approach, using 
all the levers available, to deal with the problems of alcohol.  We will build on these partnerships to better align 
community health services with other services provided by local government.

We will also work, with the voluntary sector, like Marie Curie Cancer Care and the regional Carers Forum to 
ensure their expertise, experience and outlook are drawn upon effectively. 

Local authorities and elected local councillors are probably the single most important group of partners the 
NHS has.  Whether through LAAs, aligning local services to create one-stop community centres, or carrying 
out their legal function to scrutinise proposals for change from the NHS, local authorities are key to delivering 
progress.  That is why we have supported the establishment of a regional Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
which brings together all the councils in the east of England that have a scrutiny function, to consider this 
vision.

These partnerships, and many more, have required leadership and a change of focus by our stakeholders and 
by the NHS.  We have worked to align agendas where possible, and negotiated change where necessary.  This 
is the sort of leadership and partnership building we will need more of over the next decade.

Patient Leadership
Patients have told us that they want to be more involved in their own care and treatment and they want the 
NHS to meet their expectations more consistently.  To do this effectively patients need to continue to make 
their views known, whether it is ensuring their GPs offer choice, or asking staff to make sure they have washed 
their hands between treating patients.  This is leadership at the sharp end, personal leadership, standing up 
for your own rights and those of fellow patients.

There also needs to be better organisational leadership by patients.  We have already committed ourselves 
to working with local authorities to ensure our Local Involvement Networks (LINks) which are designed to 
represent patients are the most effective in the country.  We have made clear that we expect these organisations 
to have adequate resources and have started to create a regional LINks Hosts Network similar to the regional 
OSC we work with.

We have also started to create a Regional Carers Forum.  This body will support and advise the NHS, whilst 
monitoring our promises to carers, thereby increasing the quality of life of both carers and those they 
care for.

145



Towards the best, together

104

Finally, the expert patient programme will make sure that patients are leaders in their own care.  This programme 
institutionalises patient leadership, making it central to the delivery of better care.

Quality and Safety

This whole vision will improve the quality of NHS services.  Whether by centralising stroke and specialist heart 
attack treatments, or investing in new clinical staff, the whole thrust is delivering a better quality service to 
patients and the public.

However a quality service that is not a safe service is not worth having.  That is why we have pledged to create 
the safest health service in England.  Do no harm is lesson number one for aspiring clinicians and it must flow 
through everything our NHS does for everyone who works in it.

We will be investing in quality and safety to underpin the delivery of this whole vision.  Currently there is 
variation in basic standards and best practice is slow to filter through systems.  These failings can lead to 
unsafe services.

We will change this through the leadership programmes and through embedding quality and safety into the 
business planning, operational delivery and monitoring of every NHS organisation.  And we will measure the 
outcomes, making safety a fundamental driver of choice and a mark of performance.

Our focus on reducing Healthcare Associated Infections has already delivered reductions of 58% in C.difficile
infections and 32% in MRSA bacteraemias this year, amongst the best in the country, but we are not going 
to stop there.

We are in the process of establishing an East of England Patient Safety Faculty which will bring together 
clinicians, patients, staff and managers to facilitate a focus on safety, fighting infection, reducing medication 
and clinical errors and improving clinical leadership around patient safety, across the whole health system.  
This Faculty, under the leadership of the National Patient Safety Champion, will establish a patient safety 
programme that will:

and measuring the quality of care

others developed specifically within individual teams.

This Faculty will spread best practice, provide learning, and intensively support organisations that need it.  We 
will set tough system-wide targets and institute measurement of safety and quality through a bespoke east of 
England patient safety scorecard for all organisations.  One of the measures will be evidence of deep cleaning 
as an ongoing process across all NHS organisations and facilities, year on year, every year.

We will also hold organisations and individuals accountable for safety, recognising that mistakes happen but 
having zero tolerance for avoidable mistakes and infections – ensuring proper reporting, responding to serious 
failures robustly and learning from near misses.  

We have already agreed to spending up to £3.75 million over the next five years on an external partner to 
drive and support system wide patient safety work, learning from results in NHS Scotland. We will also ensure 
that PCTs reflect not just national priorities but also local priorities for patient safety and quality in contracts 
with providers.

146



Towards the best, together

105

This focus on quality and safety will be allied to the leadership programmes, be system wide and operate at all 
levels of every NHS organisation.  It is only through delivery on the basics of patient safety that we can hope to 
hold the confidence and support of our patients, staff and public as we move towards the long term delivery 
of this vision.

Innovation and Improvement

Elsewhere in this vision we point out that 30% of medicine changes every decade.  That is one of the drivers of 
change and reform.  This progress is by design, through the innovation of healthcare professionals and others 
constantly searching for new and better treatments and processes.  

We, in the east of England, have already made our mark, winning three of the four national health innovation 
awards handed out in 2008.  We will build on this by encouraging funding and supporting innovation and 
improvement ideas from wherever they come.

This need to support innovation has already been recognised at a national level through the establishment of 
the Health Innovation Council.  As well as supporting innovation, this body will lead work in an area where the 
NHS is not good enough: systematically testing ideas and then adopting system wide the ones that are proved 
to work.  That is why a Health Innovation Challenge Fund is also being created at a national level.

In the east of England we want to build on our reputation for innovation and improvement, going beyond the 
national drivers.  NHS East of England will work in partnership with Health Enterprise East to offer prizes for 
innovation which help to achieve our pledges.  This year we are sponsoring a prize for the best innovation in 
tackling childhood obesity.  The prize will support the development of the idea into practice through our new 
innovation fund.

147



Towards the best, together

106

Resources will also be available to undertake a critical and health economics appraisal of research evidence and 
innovation to support our priorities.  This will be developed and implemented by Health Enterprise East and 
the East of England NHS Management Board who will use commissioning practice to encourage, support, test 
and roll out innovation across all NHS organisations.

Areas for innovation that we want to encourage are: technologies (devices, equipment); drugs (taken forward 
nationally); clinical processes (improvement of a clinical process within e.g. A&E); and management systems 
(how services are managed and co-ordinated together).

The east of England is host to a wide range of universities with health or health related faculties, many of 
which have international reputations in research and development in health related fields.  Of particular note is 
Cambridge University’s international reputation for innovation and excellence in biomedical science, including 
the specialist MRC-funded epidemiology unit, with particular expertise in nutrition and obesity.  The University 
of East Anglia also has an international reputation for research on the impact of climate change.  In addition, 
the east of England is home to one of only five national Biomedical Research Centres, a number of large 
pharmaceutical companies and many biomedical science and technology companies.

The opportunities that this creates to develop research that links fundamental biomedical science to 
improvements in patient care are considerable which is why we will be working with our academic colleagues 
and some of the brightest and best in business through the Research, Development and Innovation Alliance. 
We will identify areas where we know the problem, but don’t know the answer and ask these people to 
support us in the search for those answers. We will also consider whether creating an Academic Health 
Sciences Centre should be explored and tested out.

We will not limit our sights to our own backyard.  We will work with the PCT Support Unit for Evidence 
Based Practice to identify and systematically implement best practice and innovation from across the country 
and the world.  We are not, and never will be, ashamed of learning from other countries, cultures and 
health services.

To support this we have held for the first time this year regional Health and Social Care Awards.  These awards 
reward best practice, innovation and improvement across our local NHS.  The winners of these awards this year 
will each receive £10,000 to help communicate and spread best practice across the region.  These awards will 
now be an annual event and we will add two new awards.  One will be for innovation from across the NHS 
in England; the other will be for innovation from across the globe that we have implemented for the benefit 
of our people. We will also explore whether the East of England NHS Bank (see below) could establish a small 
fund to encourage the development of early stage innovations into service delivery.

Improving the Experience of Patients and Carers

Pledge one is to deliver year on year improvements in patient experience.  We will set up a monitoring 
and measurement process for this that will be more sophisticated than any used currently: using real time 
patient experience trackers; public research; partnership with LINks and expert charities; and an analysis of 
NHS complaints to create one single measure of experience and confidence in the NHS. This approach to 
patient satisfaction and public confidence as a core function of ensuring the NHS gets better year on year will 
be allied to a programme of work that will explore new ways of making PCTs more accountable and responsive 
to local populations.

We have already taken steps to create a Regional Carers’ Forum.  This will be supported by the Expert Carers 
Programme and the Pathway for Carers; identified in the Mental Health section but referring to all carers 
whoever they care for.  We will also ensure that all PCTs have a Carers’ Commissioning lead and that all 
identified carers are offered an annual review of their own health needs and a discussion on the health of the 
person they are caring for, subject to the consent of that person.

148



Towards the best, together

107

We will carry out and publish a local annual public survey across the east of England to determine local views 
on NHS services and the organisations that provide them.  This survey will support World Class Commissioning 
and the performance management of PCTs in the region, but will also be a powerful tool for directing change 
and improvement where need is identified.  In addition, we will expect all Trusts to be in the top half of 
national patient survey findings.

We are also committed to improving the patient experience through better access and more choice, and by 
reducing waiting times through the introduction and management of waiting time guarantees in services where 
guarantees have not previously been offered by the NHS.  We have already begun this work by managing 
a region-wide procurement for a new 8am-8pm, 7 days a week GP led health centre in each PCT area to 
provide more integrated services at more convenient times to local people.  If these waiting time guarantees 
are supported in the consultation we will ensure they are clearly set out in service contracts and will then 
performance manage the delivery of these targets.

Workforce and Training

The proposed service changes, set out in our vision are radical and will require significant changes to and for 
our workforce. Essentially, we need to do three things: 

the needs of patients and carers, including in perhaps unfamiliar areas like promoting healthy living and 
recognising patients entering their last year of life; 

future, breaking down organisational and geographical boundaries where necessary.

We have already begun this work, 18 months ago, in the workforce technical group that supported Looking to 
the Future.  More recently we have carried out a risk and needs assessment around the delivery of this vision.  
This work has identified some of the workforce changes, which we will need to make and, in some areas, we 
have taken early steps to address them.

More Staff

midwifery workforce over the next three years adding at least 160 more midwives to our maternity and new 
born services.

Similarly, in mental health we are currently tendering contracts with local universities to train and recruit at least 
350 more psychological therapists over three years to deliver the specific changes envisaged in psychological 
therapy services.

Developing Current Staff
However, it is not just about recruitment, it is about developing and improving our current workforce.  To do 
this we have created a regional partnership with the Learning and Skills Council and Skills for Health - the 
first in the country.   This will receive investment of £21 million over the next three years and be specifically 
aimed at training our support staff.  This will enable us to develop new roles to support clinicians such as care 
assistants and health trainers. That is why we have created an innovative Strategic Workforce Investment Fund 
for all east of England staff of £20 million for each of the next three years, a total investment of £60 million 
over the lifetime of the pledges. We have also committed ourselves in the Staff Commitment to ensuring that 
all funds allocated to the SHA over the lifetime of the pledges for training and development are ring-fenced for 
that purpose.  In addition, we will explore how we could create incentives so that Trusts who provide a good 
education experience for students would be rewarded accordingly.

149



Towards the best, together

108

Community Services
We need to enhance the skills and capacity of our community workforce.  This vision calls for more care to be 
provided in the community, some of which will be different to that currently provided.  This change of focus 
will require investment, training and support of the existing workforce and identification of where relevant 
skills and capacity may exist in the acute sector.  

Flexibility
We will also need to increase the flexibility of our staff, recognising that staff may now need to travel where 
before we expected patients to do that.  Some of the proposed changes will require staff to work, think and 
respond to patients and carers very differently to the way they do now.  Far more services will be provided by 
managed clinical networks that cross organisational boundaries and staff will be encouraged and supported 
to change their working practices accordingly.  Many staff will see this as a welcome opportunity to improve 
their clinical practice and the quality of care which they are able to deliver.

Personalisation
In the future services will be more personalised.  Patients and carers want to be more involved in decisions 
about their care and therefore need more information about their condition and how to manage it and more 
support when making decisions about treatment. This will place new and challenging demands on staff, 
sometimes challenging an entire career’s approach and outlook to treating patients.  This is particularly true in 
needing to use every clinical engagement to promote prevention and well-being. 

All of this will have a major impact on training, whether through changing and improving training programmes 
or simply buying more training places.  This will be a particular issue in ensuring staff are ready and trained to 
support both the expert patient programme and the expert carer programme. 

Managing Change
Change of this magnitude needs to be carefully planned and well managed, involving staff every step of 
the way. 

PCTs as commissioners will need to assess their current position, determine their local priorities and develop 
local strategies to deliver the vision.  Identifying changes needed in the workforce and making those changes 
happen will be an integral feature of local strategies.  To achieve this, we are setting up six County Workforce 
Groups across the region.  Each County Workforce Group will be led by a PCT, with representation from 
clinicians, service providers, social care, Higher and Further Education, the Learning and Skills Council and 
Skills for Health. These groups will be responsible for aligning local workforce plans to service and financial 
strategies and ensuring that resources are invested appropriately. 

A Timetable for Workforce Change
Delivering the changes required by, and for, our workforce should not be underestimated, so we have set out 
a three stage process that will ensure we get it right first time.

June 2008
We will carry out workforce risk assessments which we will share and agree with each of the Clinical Pathway 
Groups.  We will also pilot our future approach to modelling workforce options with children’s services and 
develop a model education and training investment plan with the End of Life group.

September 2008
We will develop options for the future workforce required to deliver each of the clinical visions, in conjunction 
with the Clinical Pathway Groups.

October 2008-March 2009
We will then enter the delivery and implementation phase, where we will work with both the Clinical 
Pathway and County Workforce Groups to implement our plans, including the commissioning of new 
education and training.

150



Towards the best, together

109

All of this work will be underpinned by the Staff Commitment which ensures we work in partnership with 
staff and their representatives to deliver change sensitively, provide appropriate time, access and support for 
training and development, and that we measure staff satisfaction year on year.

Information

Access to accurate, timely and integrated patient information is key to the delivery of these changes.  Developing 
this vision has strengthened our understanding of where the gaps are and what we will need to do to fill them.  
Implementing systems provided by the National Programme for Information Technology (NPfIT) effectively, 
supplemented by other local systems where necessary, will be essential to achieve our objectives.

This will include online booking services such as Choose and Book; prescription services; summary care records; 
primary care records; fully integrated primary and secondary records; and the PACS system which allows 
images such as X-rays and scans to be shared electronically.  Integrated primary care records are already 
available across all community and child health services, and over 25% of our GP surgeries have joined the 
programme.  We intend, where possible, to roll it out to all GPs.

Similarly Choose and Book is already used in 44% of referrals but we will ensure this number is raised to 
90% recognising that some clinical reasons will mean not every referral will be via this route.  However, we 
will go further and use Choose and Book to reduce more of our waiting times by extending the technology 
to other areas where we make waiting time guarantees. We will also promote the use of NHS Choices as a 
means of giving the public more information about healthy lifestyles as well as choices about treatments and 
providers.

Much of the current IT investment programme has been about improving the access to, and exchange of, 
information within the NHS.  As we move care closer to home, the use of portable devices and mobile 
communications will become even more important, so we will ensure that training and policies are in place to 
protect and encrypt data held like this.  

PACS is already revolutionising the way X-rays and other information is passed between clinicians, allowing 
expert opinion and diagnosis in near real time across organisational boundaries.  We will further develop and 
invest in this technology to guarantee the safety and quality of the clinical networks we will establish as a result 
of this vision.  This will include building on our South West Essex pilot of summary care records and rolling out 
Lorenzo (full clinical records shared across organisations) over the next four years.

One key strand to information is improving the awareness of what services are available and how to access 
them.  There are a variety of different ways in which this can be achieved, but the role that ‘Patient Navigators’ 
could play is one that we will explore more fully.  We will also investigate the use of patient-held records.

We will also make use of new real-time Patient Experience trackers which allow information about patient 
experience to be collected, analysed and acted upon from local wards to cross-regional action.

One area where information is particularly poor is public health data for mental health.  Working closely with 
the Eastern Region Public Health Observatory, NHS East of England will put in place a programme of data 
development and capture to address this important area.

We will also increase the information and understanding we have of our population through an annual 
lifestyle survey which will help us direct interventions more effectively to where they are most needed.  This 
will be supported by the work we carry out to measure public confidence and the broader patient attitudes to 
the NHS via public research on an annual basis.  

151



Towards the best, together

110

Commissioning and System Management

This vision sets out a commissioning framework for PCTs.  They will need to drive local delivery by ensuring 
they commission the right services and manage the system and the performance of their providers effectively.  
Some of this will be driven by local need and local conditions, but in other areas co-operation across the region 
will deliver better results for patients and the public.  That is why the East of England NHS Management Board 
will be a cornerstone of delivery.

World Class Commissioning, currently being developed by the Department of Health, identifies a set of key 
competencies for PCTs that will be used to develop them and measure their performance.  All 14 PCTs in the 
east of England will take part in a World Class Commissioning assurance exercise later this year to support the 
development of NHS commissioning to world class standards.

Alongside the development of their commissioning capabilities, all PCTs have set up, or are in the process 
of setting up, their provider functions as separate stand alone parts of their organisations.  Discussions are 
continuing as to how best to develop these functions to ensure that the organisational arrangements are 
sustainable in the long term and will support the provision of the best levels of care.

Co-operation does not end with agreeing joint agendas and priorities.  It will need to extend to commissioning 
joint services with social care. This will be particularly important in children’s services; mental health services; 
long term conditions; end of life care; and the whole area of prevention and well-being. We will also need to 
devise and implement a programme to get secondary care clinicians more involved in commissioning along 
similar lines to the potential of Practice Based Commissioning in primary care.

Another aspect of partnership that we wish to explore is that between PCTs and their populations.  We would 
like to develop concepts that build participation, for example PCTs having members, similar to Foundation 
Trusts, to encourage greater engagement and give the public a greater voice on local priorities.

We also want to explore the potential for creating new ways for ensuring more integrated care between 
primary and secondary care.  We believe that this may be particularly relevant where acute hospitals are 
located in more rural or remote locations

We are committed to supporting change by reforming the way we pay for and incentivise services.  The 
national tariff, Payment by Results, is actually Payment by Activity.  It is too blunt a tool to deliver the complexity 
of service we propose.  We will ensure payment systems are developed to become sophisticated enough to 
support our changes.  This will include unbundling the tariff to recognise that current payments for say, hip 
operations, include payments for the operation and the recovery, but if more recovery becomes community 
focussed then we will need to ensure money follows the patient.

The SHA will also take its new responsibilities for managing the system of NHS-funded care very seriously.  
We will ensure, through effective communication that patients are aware of all the options open to them for 
choice of care, including independent sector providers who will carry out NHS procedures, free at the point of 
use, at NHS prices.

We will also set up a regional competition and disputes panel to ensure that those providers who wish to treat 
NHS patients are playing by the rules, putting patients and care first.  This will include closer working with the 
independent sector, bringing them into the NHS family so that they know providing NHS services comes with 
responsibilities to ensure safety, quality and service improvement.  All providers will be required to report an 
agreed range of outcome measures in an agreed format that allows direct comparison between providers.  We 
will begin this work by analysing and producing an effective map of all local and regional service providers and 
then assessing the public’s attitudes to using these services effectively. 

152



Towards the best, together

111

On a broader front, we will consider what other partnership and liaison groups we might usefully establish.  
These could include groups with local government; key employers; the Learning and Skills Council; higher 
education; or the East of England Development Agency (for example), as well as with voluntary and third 
sector partners or with organisations with specific interests in helping us deliver our pledges.  We would 
welcome any comments on what groups might usefully be established, as part of this consultation process. 

All of these changes need to be paid for.  We know that the decisions over the last two years to reduce and 
then abolish debt have been tough, but they put our regional NHS in a strong position to plan and invest.  
We recognise that some of these changes will require up-front investment and probably some double running 
costs in the early stages.  To help support these strategic decisions we have created the East of England NHS 
Bank, a pooling of funds from both the SHA and PCTs to support cross border initiatives and pilots of new 
ways of working or delivering treatment.  This supports our assertion that the NHS in our region has the 
financial stability to pay for the delivery of the vision.

Conclusion

These support mechanisms, from more effective and inclusive training to better collection and use of information 
show that we are willing and able  to start the journey Towards the best, together.

Below we lay out our first 30 actions, some already in train, some we will put in train but some awaiting the 
results of the consultation, ready to go if you agree with our proposals.

1. We are already procuring new GP led health centres in each PCT area that will be open 8am-8pm, 7 days 
a week by December 2009. 

2. PCTs are commissioning to ensure that at least half of their GP practices offer extended hours this year.  

3. We have set a target for each PCT to increase the number of people using an NHS dentist and we are 
supporting this through research to identify areas underprovided with dentists.

4. We are commissioning an east of England public research company who will support measuring patient 
and public confidence and experience as well as delivering the annual lifestyle survey. 

5. We are pushing ahead with the recruitment and development of skills to deliver effective social marketing 
programmes that will target advice and support on staying healthy, where it will be most effective in 
reducing unfairness in health.  

6. We will invite expressions of interest from east of England providers for providing a range of stroke services 
and we will assess their ability to meet the relevant quality standards. 

7. We will carry out a similar preparatory exercise for the potential designation of heart attack centres and a 
major trauma centre for the east of England.

8. We are agreeing a set of improvment targets for each PCT to increase the proportion of people dying at 
home over the next threee years.

9. We are seeking a partner to provide £3.75 million worth of patient safety activity across the whole region.

10. Our cardiac networks are refocussing their work on the priorities set out in this vision; in particular expanding 
their remit to include stroke and also to focus on heart failure, cardiac rehabilitation and the primary and 
secondary prevention of coronary heart disease.

153



Towards the best, together

112

11. We have similarly asked our cancer networks to refocus their work on the national Cancer Reform Strategy, 
including further reducing waiting times for cancer care and preparing plans to increase radiotherapy 
provision, as well as reviewing the development of services at The Mount Vernon Cancer Centre.

12. We are seeking to identify a pilot for the proposed urgent care number, working with a local PCT, the 
Ambulance Trust, acute hospitals and NHS Direct to test this idea.

13. We have already started work to recruit at least 350 more psychological therapists.  

14. We will ask our Maternity Matters Group to work with our Neonatal Networks to set up Perinatal Networks, 
taking responsibility for planning uniform pathways of care in the region in addition to planning maternity 
services for high risk mothers and neonatal care.

15. We will carry out a detailed stocktake of surgical services to identify how change could be carried out for 
vascular surgery, peadeatric surgery and others before coming forward with detailed proposals.

16. We have already commissioned another 55 midwife training places and will then recruit at least 160 new 
midwives over the next three years.

17. We have set up an East of England NHS Bank to provide support to the delivery of this vision.

18. We have created the East of England NHS Management Board to monitor and drive implementation of 
the vision.

19. We have created a £60m Strategic Workforce Investment Fund.

20. We are investing over £9m in a Clinical Leadership Programme.

21. We are establishing an East of England Patient Safety Faculty.

22. We are setting up an Innovation Fund for new approaches to staying healthy.

23. We have already signed the first Workforce Development Programme for support staff in partnership with 
Skills for Health supported by £20m investment.

24. We are establishing a Regional Carers’ Forum and a Regional LINks Host Network.

25. We have already held and will now hold annually regional Health and Social Care Awards to support 
innovation and reward and recognise staff.

26. We have asked the East of England Specialised Commissioning Group to prepare plans in a number of 
areas.  These include a designation process for neonatal care centres across the east of England, preparing 
a strategy to increase the provision of renal dialysis and establishing a single set of eligibility criteria for IVF 
so patients will have the same entitlement wherever they live in the region.

27. We will recast the Clinical Pathway Groups as Clinical Programme Boards to oversee and support the 
implementation of the vision in their respective areas.

28. We are preparing for a major assurance exercise during 2008 to strengthen commissioning in all 
our PCTs and are tendering for an external partner to work with PCTs on developing their local strategies 
later this year.

154



Towards the best, together

113

29. We will roll out the Productive Ward - Releasing Time to Care initiative across the region over the next two 
years.  This initiative aims to reduce paperwork, increase direct patient care and develop and strengthen 
the roles of ward and community sisters.

30. We will pilot the introduction of patient held budgets for people with long term conditions who have 
personal health plans.

Consultation and Next Steps

Join us on our journey Towards the best, together. Your views are important to us; they will help us ensure we 
have the right vision for the future. This is your opportunity to make your views known and help shape the 
NHS across the whole of the east of England, now and for the next decade.

Te consultation runs from 12 May 2008 to 4 August 2008 and you can make your views known in a number 
of ways:

via the website

Written responses should be sent to:

Towards the best, together
NHS East of England
FREEPOST
Victoria House
Capital Park
Fulbourn
Cambridgeshire CB21 5XB

We will then carefully review the views expressed during the consultation and present a report to the SHA 
Board on 25 September 2008 for them to take decisions on the content of this vision.

The next stage after this will be for PCTs to prepare their local strategies.  These will set out the PCTs’ intentions 
to improve local services and how this will be achieved.  These local strategies will be built on this vision as 
well as any local priorities.  The SHA will work with PCTs to support the preparation of these strategies and will 
formally sign them off at the end of 2008.

The implementation of this vision will begin once consultation is complete and the final version has been agreed.  
Any specific service change involving reconfiguration will also be subject to its own specific consultation before 
changes are made.  These consultations will be led by either the SHA or the local PCT, depending on the nature 
of the proposed service change.

155



Towards the best, together

114

References

1. Technical Analysis, NHS East of England, December 2006

2. NHS Next Stage Review Interim Report, Department of Health, October 2007

3. 2001 Census data (revised 2005)

4. Office for National Statistics, 2004 based population projections to 2029 by age and sex based on 

revised ONS estimates (September 2007)

5. Office for National Statistics, Total International Migration (TIM) tables: 1991 - 2006

6. Office for National Statistics, 2006

7.  Joint Health Surveys Unit, Health Survey for England 2006, Volume 1 cardiovascular disease and risk 

factors in adults, 2008

8. Joint Health Surveys Unit, Health Survey for England 2006, Volume 2 Obesity and other risk factors in 

children, 2008; Joint Health Surveys Unit, Health Survey for England 2002, The Health of Children and 

young People, 2003.

9. The Compendium of Clinical and Health Indicators

10. NHS Workforce Census 2007, NHS Information Centre

11. IPPR Briefing, Hospital reconfiguration, September 2006

12. Eurostat, Life expectancy at birth, by gender

13. Securing Our Future Health: Taking a Long-Term View, 2002

14. General Household Survey, 2005

15. Dementia UK: Report to the Alzheimer’s Society, Knapp M et al, 2007

16. ERPHO, 2008

17. Combined Impact of Health Behaviours and Mortality in Men and Women: The EPIC-Norfolk 

Prospective Population Study, PLoS Med 5(1): e12, Khwaw KT, Wareham N, Bingham S, Welch A, 

Luben R et al, 2008

18. Recent cancer survival in Europe: a 2000-2002 period analysis of Eurocare – 4 data, Verdecchia et al, 

August 2007

19. National Stroke Strategy Impact Assessment, Department of Health, December 2007

20. Healthcare Commission, 2007

21. Healthcare Commission survey, 2006

22. Healthcare Commission survey, 2007

Appendices

156



Towards the best, together

115

23. The effectiveness of healthcare systems in the UK – scoping study, Harrison W, Marshall T, Singh D and 

Tennant R, Department of Public Health and Epidemiology and HSMC University of Birmingham, 

July 2006

24. Every Child Matters, Change for Children, HM Government, 2004

25. Our Health, Our Care, Our say – a new direction for community services, Department of Health, 2006

26. Making the Shift: Key Success Factors, University of Birmingham Health Services Management Centre, 

July 2006

27. A systematic review of the impact of volume of surgery and specialization on patient outcome,  M. 

Chowdhury et al, British Journal of Surgery, 2007; 94; 145-161

28. Improving Outcomes Guidance for Cancer, Department of Health

29. National Sentinel Stroke Audit, 2006

30. Substantial potential for reductions in coronary heart disease mortality in the UK through changes in risk 

factor levels, Critchley J A, Capewells S., J Epidemiol Community Health, 2003 Apr57(4):243-7

31. The National Institute for Mental Health in England Mental Health Carers’ Charter: Valuing Carers, 

National Institute for Mental Health in England,, 2004

32. Depression: management of depression in primary and secondary care, NICE guidance, 2004

33. Stepped care in psychological therapies: access, effectiveness and efficiency, Bower and Gilbody, British 

Journal of Psychiatry, 2005

34. Maternity Matters: Choice, access and community care in a safe service, Department of Health, 

April 2007

35. Structured review of birth centre outcomes, The Maternity Research Group of the National Service 

Framework (NSF) for Children, Young People and Maternity Services, July 2005

36. Ongoing clinical audit, Maternity Unit, Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust

37. Investigation into 10 maternal deaths at, or following, delivery at Northwick Park Hospital NHS Trust, 

between April 2002 and April 2005, Healthcare Commssion 

38. Safer Childbirth: Minimum Standards for the Organisation and Delivery of Care in Labour, Royal College 

of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, Royal College of Midwives, Royal College of Anaesthetists, Royal 

College of Paediatrics and Child Health, October 2007

39. Birth Centres – Are they financially viable under Payment by Results?, Royal College of Midwives, 

October 2007

40. Every Child Matters, Change for Children, Government Office, 2004

41. Office of National Statistics, 2000

157



Towards the best, together

116

42. Modelling the Future, Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, September 2007

43. Looking to the Future, Out of Hospital Care Report, 2007

44. Improving Supportive and Palliative Care for Adults with Cancer, NICE Improving Outcomes Guidance, 

March 2004

45. Mending hearts and brains – clinical case for change, Professor Roger Boyle, 2006; National Stroke 

Strategy Impact Assessment, Department of Health, December 2007

46. A comparison of immediate coronary angioplasty with intravenous streptokinase in acute myocardial 

infarction, Zijlstra F, et al, N Engl J Med 1993; 328:680-4

47. A National evaluation of the effect of trauma-centre care on mortality, MacKenzie E et al, N Eng J Med 

2006; 264:366-378

48. Better Care for the Severely Injured, Royal College of Surgeons (England), British Orthopaedic 

Association, July 2000

49. The Provision of Emergency Vascular Services, Vascular Surgical Society of Great Britain and 

Ireland, 2007

50. Diabetes Education and Self-Management for Ongoing and Newly Diagnosed, Diabetes UK

51. Gold Standards Framework, A Programme for Community Palliative Care, NHS End of Life Programme

158



Towards the best, together

117

Membership of Clinical Pathway Groups

Staying Healthy

Aidan Thomas
Anne McConville   Clinician
Catherine Gregson   Clinician
David Pencheon   Clinician
Denise Radley
Dennis Cox (Chair)   Clinician
Fay Haffenden   Clinician
Jane Richards   
Jean Hughes   Clinician
John Niland    
Karen Braddock   
Linda Mahon-Daly   Clinician
Marion Fairman-Smith
Morag Strycharczyk
Pam Hall   Clinician
Paul Cosford   Clinician
Peter Bradley   Clinician
Peter Sheridan   Clinician
Richard Ward   Clinician
Tim Leonard   
Zeyar Win   Clinician

Mental Health

Ayla Humphrey   Clinician
Beverley Hallpike   Clinician
Carla Fourie    
Fiona Mcmillan-Shields   Clinician
Geraldine O’Sullivan   Clinician
Gillian Oaker (Co-Chair)   Clinician
Jenny Secker   Clinician   
Jitendra Nayar   Clinician
Jon Wilson   Clinician
Kieron Murphy    
Malte Flechtner   Clinician
Neil Ashford   Clinician
Patrick Geoghegan (Co-Chair)
Paul O’Halloran   Clinician
Pauline Roberts   Clinician
Peter Wadum-Buhl   
Pol Toner   Clinician
Shane Gordon   Clinician
Stephen Dunn   

159



Towards the best, together

118

Maternity and Newborn Care

Amanda Cahn   
Barbara James   Clinician
Birte Harlev-Lam
Bob Dawson    
Boon Lim (Chair)   Clinician
Charlotte Patiet
Christoph Lees   Clinician
Clare Carter   Clinician
Clive Glazebrook   Clinician
David Fraser   Clinician
Debbie Maynard   
Del Brown   Clinician
Glynis Moore   Clinician
Jag Ahluwalia   Clinician
Jane Hibbert   Clinician
Jane MacDougall   Clinician
Jenny Collins   
Joy Kirby   Clinician
Linda Sheridan   Clinician
Marlene Moura
Melanie Williamson
Michael Thompson   Clinician
Michelle Judd   Clinician
Peter Reid   Clinician
Roger Giles   Clinician
Ruth Ashmore   Clinician
Sue Babbington   Clinician
Sue Halliday   Clinician

Children’s Services

Andy Smith   
Bob Dawson   
Catherine Pelley
Chris Upton (Chair)   Clinician
David Vickers   Clinician
Debbie Maynard   
Denise Williams   Clinician
Fay Haffenden   Clinician
Jill Challener   Clinician
Kathy Wilkinson   Clinician
Kaviat Chawler   
Linda Sheridan   Clinician
Margaret Murphy   Clinician
Mark Whiting   
Martin Becker   Clinician
Matthew James
Melanie Clements   Clinician
Melanie Williamson
Pat Sartori   

160



Towards the best, together

119

Ros Rospopa   
Sarah Newman
Sian Evans   Clinician
Tracey Cogan   
Treena Beard
Venkat Reddy   Clinician

Planned Care

Alan Fitt   Clinician
Alison Manton
Ana Selby   
Andrew Parker
Bob Smith   
Clare Morris   
David Adlam   Clinician
David Cheesman
Dermot O’Riordan   Clinician
Glenn Donnelly
Jane McCue (Co–Chair)   Clinician
Jonathan Higham   Clinician
Kirsty Boettcher
Mark Sanderson   Clinician
Chris Booth   Clinician
Ralph Webb   Clinician
Rosie Wallace   Clinician
Shane Gordon (Co–Chair)   Clinician
Simon Wood   
Suzie Normanton   Clinician

Acute Care

Alan Pond   
Alasdair Short   Clinician
Alida Farmer   
Colin Borland   Clinician
David Bevan   Clinician
David Collas   Clinician
David Lewis   Clinician
David Yorke-Edwards
Debbie Whittaker
Georgios Lyratzopoulos
Jonathan Refson   Clinician
Judi Ingram   
Liz Warburton   Clinician
Lucy Dennis
Mark Alexander   Clinician
Mark Blunt   Clinician
Melanie Wright
Michael Taylor
Nichole Day   Clinician
Nick Morrish   Clinician

161



Towards the best, together

120

Patrick Thompson
Paul Murray   Clinician
Paul Zollinger-Read   Clinician
Pauline Brimblecombe   Clinician
Pauline Emery   Clinician
Richard Winter
Rob Russell   Clinician
Robert Winter (Chair)   Clinician
Sarah Clarke   Clinician
Sarah Shuttlewood
Suzie Normanton   Clinician
Tim Webb   Clinician
Victor Inyang   Clinician

Long Term Conditions

Barry Pinkney   Clinician
Beverly Spencer   Clinician
Carolyn Noble   Clinician
Catherine Greenwood   Clinician
Chris Naylor   
Corina Ciobanu   Clinician
Elizabeth Tarris   Clinician
Elizbeth Mitcham   Clinician
Gordon Campbell   Clinician
Heather Ballard   
Heather Gray   Clinician
Irvine Turner   
Jan Yates   Clinician
Jane Crawford-White
Janet Lewis   
Jean Hughes   Clinician
John Sampson   Clinician
Kate Gill   
Kishor Padki   Clinician
Lucy Dennis    
Mary Hawking   Clinician
Monica Finn   
Nicholas Innes   Clinician
Nick Morrish   Clinician
Richard Dent   Clinician
Stella Jackaman
Stephanie O’Connell
Steven Laitner (Chair)   Clinician
Sue Burke   Clinician
Tayyib Haider   Clinician
Trudy Reeve   Clinician

162



Towards the best, together

121

End of Life

Alex Smallwood   Clinician
Andrew Harrington
Annette Villis   Clinician
Barbara Gale    
Carol O’Leary   
Catherine O’Doherty   Clinician
Claire Henry   
David Plume   Clinician
Dee Traue (Chair)   Clinician
Eleanor Sherwen   Clinician
Elizabeth Mitcham   Clinician
Gordon Campbell   Clinician
Julia Wooton   Clinician
Linda Mahon-Daly   Clinician
Lorene Baker
Mandy Stratford   Clinician
Nikki Sawkins   Clinician
Pam Fenner   Clinician
Sarah While   Clinician
Stuart Toulson   Clinician
Sue Plummer   Clinician
Tony Blumfield
Wendy Freeman   Clinician
William Hollington   Clinician

Glossary of Terms

Acute Care 
Medical and surgical treatment usually provided by a hospital. Commonly, care for diseases or illnesses that 
progress quickly, feature severe symptoms or have a brief duration.

Acute Services 
Medical and surgical interventions usually provided in hospital. Specific care for diseases or illnesses that 
progress quickly, feature severe symptoms and have a brief duration.

Acute Trust 
An NHS body that provides hospital based healthcare services from one or more hospitals.

Antenatal
Before birth.

Aortic Aneurysm
The swelling and weakening of the wall of the aorta, the major artery supplying oxygenated blood to the 
body, which can leak or burst.

Cancer Reform Strategy
Sets out the next phase of the government’s commitment to delivery of world class cancer services.

Cardiac
Relating to or affecting the heart.

Cardiovascular system 
Effects the circulation of blood around the body.

Cardiothoracic Surgery 
The field of medicine involved in surgical treatment of diseases affecting organs inside the thorax (the chest).

163



Towards the best, together

122

Cataract
Any opacity in the lens of the eye that results in blurred vision.

Catheter
A tube that can be inserted into a body cavity, duct or vessel.

Clostridium difficile (C Diff)
An anaerobic bacterium that is present in the gut of up to 3% of healthy adults and 66% of infants. When 
certain antibiotics disturb the balance of bacteria in the gut, Clostridium difficile can multiply rapidly and 
produce toxins which cause illness.

Chemotherapy
Refers to treatment of disease by chemicals that kill cells, specifically those of micro-organisms or cancer.

Choose and Book
System that allows patients to make their first consultant outpatient appointment, at a time, date and place 
that suits them.

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
An ‘umbrella’ term for people with chronic bronchitis, emphysema, or both.

Cleft Lip
Commonly known as hare lip, it is where the skin and tissue do not develop normally below the nose of a 
fetus during pregnancy.

Clinical Network
A group of health professionals from different NHS organisations working together across institutional and 
local boundaries.

Clinical Pathway Groups
The eight clinically led groups set up under Our NHS, Our Future to produce a vision of how clinical services 
should be delivered in the future.

Chlamydia
A sexually transmitted infection (STI) caused by a tiny bacterium, Chlamydia trachomatis.

Commissioning
The process in which health service and local authority agencies identify local needs for services and 
assess them against the available public and private sector provision. Priorities are decided and services are 
purchased from the most appropriate providers through contracts and service agreements.

Coronary Heart Disease 
Narrowing of the coronary arteries that supply blood to the heart.

CT scanner
A computerised tomography scanner is a special kind of X-ray machine.

Deliberative Event
When the public, patients, service users, and staff become actively involved in the shaping of policy through 
interactive consultation events.

Dementia
The loss (usually gradual) of mental abilities such as thinking, remembering, and reasoning.

Diabetes
A condition in which there is too much glucose in the blood.

Diagnostics
Diagnostics are tests or procedures carried out in order to reach a diagnosis that is a decision on the nature 
of a patient’s condition.

Emergency Care
Emergency care is provided to patients suffering a medical or surgical emergency, such as a stroke, heart 
attack or severe injury.

164



Towards the best, together

123

Endocrinology
Endocrinology is the science of the endocrine glands, including the thyroid glands, pituitary glands, 
pancreas, ovaries and testicles.

Euroqol

measuring quality of life.

Exacerbations
An exacerbation is the worsening of a condition. In medicine, exacerbation may refer to an increase in the 
severity of a disease or its signs and symptoms.

Feto-maternal services
Feto-maternal services focus on the health of the mother and fetus, and offer screening and diagnostic tests 
to identify any problems during pregnancy.  

Forensic
Forensic medicine combines knowledge of the law with that of various branches of medicine; a forensic 
practitioner within medicine is someone who provides medical evidence for court proceedings.

Foundation Trust
Foundation Trusts were introduced in 2004 and have been given much more financial and operational 
freedom than other NHS Trusts.  Foundation Trusts are run by local managers, staff and members of the 
public, which are tailored to the needs of the local population.  

Gold Standards Framework
The Gold Standards Framework is a framework to enable gold standard care to all those in their last year of 
life and improve the quality of life for both patients and carers.

GP
General Practitioners are doctors who work from a local surgery or health centre providing general medical 
advice and treatment to patients who have registered on their list.

Gynaecology
Gynaecological medicine relates to disorders affecting the female reproductive organs, i.e. ovaries, uterus 
and vagina.

HCA
Healthcare assistants (also known as nursing assistants and nursing auxiliaries), support healthcare 
professionals with the day-to-day care of patients, either in hospitals or in patients’ own homes.

Healthcare Associated Infections
Healthcare associated infections are infections, such as MRSA or Clostridium difficile that are acquired in 
hospitals or as a result of healthcare interventions.

Healthcare Commission
The Healthcare Commission is an independent inspection body for both the NHS and independent 
healthcare providers.  

Holistic Care
Holistic care can be described as care of the whole person, taking into account physical, psychological, social 
and spiritual needs.

Hypertension
Hypertension is more commonly known as high blood pressure – a patient will be diagnosed as hypertensive 

Intensive Care
Intensive care medicine or critical care medicine is a branch of medicine concerned with the provision of 
life support or organ support systems in patients who are critically ill and who usually require intensive 
monitoring.

165



Towards the best, together

124

IVF
In vitro fertilization (IVF) is a technique in which egg cells are fertilised by sperm outside the woman’s womb, 
in vitro.

Learning and Skills Council
Learning and Skills Council has a single goal: to improve the skills of England’s young people and adults to 
ensure England has a workforce of world-class standard.

Local Area Agreement
Three year agreement that sets out the priorities for a local area in certain policy fields as agreed between 
government, local authority and other partners.

Local Involvement Networks (LINks)
Local Involvement Networks aim to make it easier for citizens to say what they want from health and social 
care services, to talk with the people who run them and to hold them to account. Run by local individuals 
and groups, a LINk is being established in every area in England.

Lorenzo
An electronic system that will create single, standard electronic records and therefore remove the need for 
paper records.

Maxillofacial Surgery
Oral and maxillofacial surgery is surgery to correct a wide spectrum of diseases, injuries and defects in the 
head, neck, face, jaws and the hard and soft tissues of the oral and maxillofacial region.

Mental Health Trust
Provides treatment and care for patients who are mentally ill. The services may be provided from a hospital 
or in the community.

Minor Injury Unit
Minor injuries units (MIUs) are used for less serious injuries, such as sprains, cuts and grazes. Many people 
go to accident and emergency (A&E) when they could be treated just as easily, and sometimes quicker, at a 
minor injuries unit.

MRI Scanner
A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan is a special technique that uses magnets and radiowaves to 
produce two and three-dimensional pictures of the inside of the body. These images can help clinicians to 
make a diagnosis about a number of conditions.

MRSA
Bacteria that can cause infection in a range of tissues such as wounds, ulcers, abscesses or bloodstream. 

Multiple Sclerosis
Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurological condition that affects the transfer of messages from the central 
nervous system to the rest of the body. As there is no cure, medical treatment concentrates on symptom 
relief.

National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE)
An independent organisation that provides national guidance on the promotion of good health and the 
prevention and treatment of ill health.

Neonatal
Pertaining to the first four weeks after birth. 

Neurology
Diagnosis and treatment of diseases and disorders of the nervous system.

Neuroradiology
The clinical subspecialty concerned with the diagnostic radiology of diseases of the central nervous system, 
head, and neck.

166



Towards the best, together

125

NHS Direct
A service providing 24 hour access to health information and clinical advice, via telephone, the NHS Direct 
website or the NHS Direct Interactive digital TV service.

Optometrist
Trained professionals who examine eyes, test sight, give advice on visual problems, and prescribe and 
dispense spectacles or contact lenses. They also recommend other treatments or visual aids where 
appropriate.

Orthotics
The science and technology of braces, especially when supporting weak or injured joints and muscles.

Orthodontics
Orthodontic treatment is a way of straightening or moving teeth, to improve the appearance of the teeth 
and how they work. It can also help to look after the long-term health of the teeth, gums and jaw joints, by 
spreading the biting pressure over all the teeth.

Outpatient
A patient who is not an inpatient (not hospitalised).

PACS
In medical imaging, picture archiving and communication systems (PACS) are computers or networks 
dedicated to the storage, retrieval, distribution and presentation of images.
Paediatrician
A doctor who specialises in treating babies and children.

Palliative Care
Palliative care is any form of medical care or treatment that concentrates on reducing the severity of disease 
symptoms, rather than halting or delaying progression of the disease itself or providing a cure.

Pancreatic Cancer
The pancreas is responsible for producing digestive enzymes and a substance known as insulin.  Tumours can 
be benign (not cancerous) or malignant (cancerous).

Parkinson’s Disease
A degenerative disorder of the central nervous system that often impairs the sufferer’s motor skills and 
speech, as well as other functions.

Perinatal
The perinatal period commences at 22 completed weeks (154 days) of gestation (the time when birth 
weight is normally 500 g), and ends seven completed days after birth.

Perineum
The surface region in both males and females between the pubic symphysis and the coccyx. The perineum is 
the region of the body inferior to the pelvic diaphragm and between the legs.

PET Scanner
A nuclear medicine imaging technique which produces a three-dimensional image or map of functional 
processes in the body.

Plastic Surgery
Plastic surgery is concerned with repairing and restoring skin and tissue, whether present from birth 
(congenital) or caused by disease aging or injury.

Podiatry
A field of healthcare devoted to the study and treatment of disorders of the foot, ankle, and the knee, 
leg and hip.

Postnatal
Of or occurring after birth, especially during the period immediately after birth.

167



Towards the best, together

126

Practice Based Commissioning
This sets out proposals for involving GP practices in commissioning health care services such as a greater 
variety of services, from a greater number of providers in settings that are closer to home and more 
convenient to patients. 

Primary Care
Primary care is the care provided by people you normally see when you first have a health problem. It might 
be a visit to a doctor or a dentist, an optician for an eye test, or just a trip to a pharmacist to buy cough 
mixture. NHS walk-in centres and the NHS Direct phone line service are also part of primary care. All of these 
services are managed by the local primary care trust (PCT).

Primary Care Trust 
An NHS Body responsible for identifying from within their available resources the healthcare needs of their 
relevant population, and for securing through their contracts with providers a package of hospital and 
community health services to reflect those needs. PCTs have a responsibility to ensure satisfactory 
collaboration and joint planning with local authorities and other agencies.

Pulmonary
The pulmonary arteries carry blood from the heart to the lungs.

Quality and Outcomes Framework

part of the GP contract in 2004. 

Radiotherapy
Radiotherapy is a common treatment for many cancers. It is often used with other treatments, such as 
surgery or chemotherapy. However, there are some benign conditions that can be treated, such as thyroid 
disease or bone formation around a hip replacement. 

Respiratory Disease
Respiratory disease is an umbrella term for diseases of the respiratory system. These include diseases of the 
lung, bronchial tubes, trachea and pharynx. There are many such conditions ranging from mild and self-
limiting (e.g. the common cold) to life-threatening (e.g. bacterial pneumonia or pulmonary embolism). 

SENCO
Special educational needs coordinators (SENCOs) have responsibility for managing the effective delivery of 
the education psychology service, learning support, behavior support, special educational needs assessment 
and administration, and parent support.

SGRQ

health and perceived well-being (‘quality of life’) in airways disease.

Socio-economic
Socioeconomics or socio-economics is the study of the relationship between economic activity and social life.

Statin
The statins (or HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors) are form of drugs used to lower cholesterol levels in people 
with or at risk of cardiovascular disease. 

Strategic Health Authority
Strategic Health Authorities are responsible for developing plans for improving health services in their local 
area. Strategic Health Authorities manage the NHS locally and are a key link between the Department of 
Health and the NHS.

Strategic Needs Assessment
Strategic Needs Assessment in partnership with the local community identifies priorities for action that will 
improve the health and wellbeing of the population. Assessment will improve access to data about the 
needs of the population by those who, now and in the future, plan and deliver services.

168



Towards the best, together

127

Thrombolysis
The main treatment for heart attack is the administration of clot dissolving drugs (thrombolysis) which help 
to restore blood supply in the coronary arteries to the affected part of the heart.

Urgent Care Centre
The Urgent Care Centre (UCC) is a new service designed to treat patients who have minor injuries or minor 
health problems. You will be seen by a range of professionals, who are qualified to manage minor injuries 
and minor illnesses.

Urology
Urology is the branch of medicine that focuses on the urinary tracts of males and females, and on the 
reproductive system of males.

Vascular Surgery
Vascular surgery is a subspecialty of general surgery in which diseases of the vascular system, or arteries and 
veins, are managed, largely via surgical intervention.

Vitreoretinal Surgery
Retinal and vitreous surgery address problems such as Retinal Detachment and Intraocular Infection. Retinal 
and vitreous problems can cause severe loss of vision or even blindness.

0Walk In Centre
Walk-in centres provide nurse led care for minor injuries and illnesses and general health advice. The pilot 
centres are located in major towns and cities throughout England.

169



Towards the best, together

128

Consultation criteria

This consultation document has been drawn up in accordance with the key consultation criteria as laid out in 
the cabinet Office Code of Practice on Consultation.

The consultation criteria are:

1. Consult widely throughout the process, allowing a minimum of 12 weeks for written consultation at 
least once during the development of the policy.

2. Be clear about what your proposals are, who may be affected, what questions are being asked and the 
timescale for responses.

3. Ensure that your consultation is clear, concise and widely accessible.

4. Give feedback regarding the responses received and how the consultation process influenced the policy.

5. Monitor your organisation’s effectiveness at consultation, including the use of a designated consultation 
co-ordinator.

6. Ensure your consultation follows better regulation best practice, including carrying out a Regulatory 
Impact Assessment if appropriate.

The code states that these criteria must be reproduced in all consultation documents.

responses, remember that consultation is not a public vote: you should afford most weight to the most 

And finally, please note that the patient stories contained in this consultation document are simply narrativ
examples.  They are not real stories.  Patient confidentiality prevents us from using real life examples 
butthese are typical case studies of patient care.  Any resemblance to any real person is entirely coincidental.

170



If you require this document in a different format, such as larger print, 

please contact NHS East of England Communications Department

on 01223 597664 or e-mail vision@eoe.nhs.uk

Designed and Produced by be.media group 0845 600 5260
171



172

This page is intentionally left blank



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

  

  
7
/1
1
/0
6
 

   
 

D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 

 P
re
lim

in
a
ry
 
re
p
o
rt
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 o
n
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 o
n
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
. 

 

  F
u
rt
h
e
r 

re
p
o
rt
s
 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 

   

       

       

  
1
/1
1
/0
5
 

  
3
/1
0
/0
6
 

        
3
/0
7
/0
7
 

 
6
/1
1
/0
7
 

  
8
/0
1
/0
8
 

 

T
o
w
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
 C
le
a
n
in
g
 R
e
g
im
e
s
 

 C
le
a
n
in
g
 r
e
g
im

e
s
 i
n
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
d
d
e
d
 

to
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
s
tu
d
ie
s
. 

 P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 
b
y
 
H
e
a
d
 
o
f 

O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 f
o
rm

e
d
 t
o
 l
o
o
k
 a
t 
S
u
n
d
a
y
 

c
le
a
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t.
 

      F
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
. 

 U
p
d
a
te
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 

fr
o
m
 

H
e
a
d
 

o
f 

O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
. 

 R
e
p
o
rt
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 g
iv
in
g
 d
e
ta
ils
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
s
ts
, 

o
f 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 
a
 
fu
ll 

c
le
a
n
s
in
g
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
n
 e
v
e
ry
 d
a
y
 o
f 
th
e
 w
e
e
k
. 

 

  S
c
o
p
in
g
 

re
p
o
rt
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
. 

 M
e
e
ti
n
g
 

o
f 

W
o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 
h
e
ld
 
o
n
 
1
3
th
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6
. 
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 
to
 
b
e
 

h
e
ld
 

to
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

a
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 
p
ilo
t 

o
f 

n
e
w
 

c
le
a
n
in
g
 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 S
t 
Iv
e
s
. 

      R
e
p
o
rt
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
. 

                   R
e
p
o
rt
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 P
a
n
e
l’s
 J
u
ly
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

P
a
n
e
l’s
 

c
o
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

re
p
o
rt
 

to
 

C
a
b
in
e
t’
s
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 
T
h
e
 
m
a
tt
e
r 

is
 
ra
is
e
d
 

e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 A
g
e
n
d
a
. 

 

                 
 

 
7
/1
0
/0
8
 

Agenda Item 10

173



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

  
5
/1
2
/0
6
 

     
 
6
/0
2
/0
7
 

        
 
5
/0
6
/0
7
 

 
    
4
/1
2
/0
7
 

  
 

   

D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 (
C
o
n
t)
 

 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 
a
n
d
 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

P
la
n
 e

n
d
o
rs
e
d
. 
 F

u
rt
h
e
r 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 t
o
 b

e
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 
w
it
h
in
 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
’ 
w
a
rd
s
 
a
n
d
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 

P
o
lic
e
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

to
 

a
tt
e
n
d
 

fu
tu
re
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
tu
d
y
. 

 P
a
n
e
l 

m
e
t 

w
it
h
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

o
f 

S
p
e
a
k
in
g
 U

p
 a
n
d
 G

 M
o
rr
is
. 
 A
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

m
a
tt
e
rs
 

w
e
re
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

fo
r 

fu
rt
h
e
r 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 
–
 
im

p
ro
v
e
d
 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
a
rk
in
g
 b
a
y
s
, 
e
x
te
n
d
in
g
 b
u
s
 

p
a
s
s
 
h
o
u
rs
 
fo
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 
u
s
e
rs
, 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
a
p
e
rw

o
rk
, 

a
d
v
e
rt
is
in
g
 

o
f 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
le
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
o
c
a
c
y
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
ff
ic
e
s
. 

 M
e
e
ti
n
g
 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 
b
y
 
C
o
u
n
ty
 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 
O
ff
ic
e
r.
 
 
A
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
v
e
n
u
e
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

fo
r 

fu
rt
h
e
r 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

to
 
b
e
 
re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 
to
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 h
ig
h
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
y
 t
o
ile
ts
. 

 F
in
d
in
g
s
 
o
f 

s
u
rv
e
y
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 

 
T
h
e
 

P
a
n
e
l 
re
q
u
e
s
te
d
: 

 •
 
fu
rt
h
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 
w
it
h
 
T
o
w
n
 
a
n
d
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 
C
o
u
n
c
ils
 
o
n
 
d
ro
p
p
e
d
 
k
e
rb
s
 

a
n
d
 p
a
rk
in
g
, 
th
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 w

ill
 

b
e
 f
o
rw

a
rd
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
 

  R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 
o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 
o
f 

th
e
 
P
o
lic
e
 
in
v
it
e
d
 
to
 

fu
tu
re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
. 

   R
e
p
o
rt
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

o
n
 

h
ig
h
 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
y
 
to
ile
ts
 
o
n
 

2
8
/0
6
/0
7
. 

      S
u
rv
e
y
 
s
e
n
t 

to
 
T
o
w
n
 

a
n
d
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 

C
o
u
n
c
ils
 

a
n
d
 D

is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
. 
 

R
e
tu
rn
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
. 

     F
u
rt
h
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 

d
e
s
p
a
tc
h
e
d
. 

 

         T
h
e
 
C
a
b
in
e
t 
d
e
c
id
e
d
 t
o
 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 
P
a
p
w
o
rt
h
 

T
ru
s
t 
fo
r 
th
e
ir
 
a
d
v
ic
e
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
n
e
e
d
 
fo
r 
h
ig
h
 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
y
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

fo
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 

w
h
o
s
e
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
re
 s
o
 s
e
v
e
re
 a
s
 t
o
 p
re
v
e
n
t 
th
e
m
 

fr
o
m
 
u
s
in
g
 
c
o
n
v
e
n
ti
o
n
a
l 
to
ile
ts
 
d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 
fo
r 

th
e
 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 

a
n
d
 

in
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

o
n
 

th
e
 

p
o
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 
o
f 

e
x
te
n
d
in
g
 
th
e
 
a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 
o
f 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 
a
t 
S
a
x
o
n
g
a
te
, 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 
fo
r 
s
u
c
h
 

u
s
e
. 

              

              
      

174



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

    
 

                     
      

D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 (
C
o
n
t)
 

 
a
n
d
 

p
o
lic
e
 

re
s
p
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

fo
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
/c
o
m
m
e
n
t;
 

 •
 
th
a
t 
v
ie
w
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
m
o
re
 l
o
w
 

lin
e
r 
b
u
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 w

it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 

b
e
 f
o
rw

a
rd
e
d
 t
o
 b
u
s
 o
p
e
ra
to
rs
; 

 •
 
th
a
t 

a
 
s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 
th
a
t 

c
a
re
rs
 
b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
w
it
h
 
fr
e
e
 
b
u
s
 
p
a
s
s
e
s
 
b
e
 

fo
rw

a
rd
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il;
 

 •
 
d
e
ta
ils
 
o
f 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
e
s
 
o
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
o
lic
ie
s
 

a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

 •
 
th
a
t 

a
 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 
o
f 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 

P
lu
s
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 a
 f
u
tu
re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
tu
d
y
; 
 

 •
 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
th
e
 
e
x
is
te
n
c
e
 

o
f 
th
e
 D

is
a
b
ili
ty
 ‘
B
lu
e
’ 
R
o
u
te
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il;
 a
n
d
 

 •
 

th
a
t 
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 
b
e
 
m
a
d
e
 
o
n
 
th
e
 

u
s
e
 o

f 
B
lu
e
 B

a
d
g
e
 p

a
rk
in
g
 p

e
rm

it
s
, 

to
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

a
p
p
ly
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 p
e
rm

it
. 

  

     L
e
tt
e
rs
 

s
e
n
t 

to
 

b
u
s
 

o
p
e
ra
to
rs
. 

   C
a
re
rs
 U

K
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
. 

   L
is
t 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 

to
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

in
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
. 

               

                  P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 
a
t 
P
a
n
e
l’s
 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

  A
d
v
is
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 P
a
p
w
o
rt
h
 T
ru
s
t 
d
id
 n
o
t 
h
a
v
e
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 ‘
B
lu
e
’ 
R
o
u
te
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t.
 

  T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 S

u
p
e
rv
is
in
g
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to
r 
re
p
o
rt
e
d
 

th
a
t 
v
e
ry
 
lit
tl
e
 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 
is
 
ta
k
e
n
 

to
w
a
rd
s
 B
lu
e
 B
a
d
g
e
 H
o
ld
e
rs
. 

   

175



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

   
4
/0
3
/0
8
 

    
1
/0
7
/0
8
 

 

D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 (
C
o
n
t)
 

 S
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 

m
a
d
e
 

to
 

in
v
it
e
 

a
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 
fr
o
m
 
H
u
n
ts
 
F
o
ru
m
 
o
f 

V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 

a
 
fu
tu
re
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
tu
d
y
. 

 W
o
rk
in
g
 
G
ro
u
p
 
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 
c
o
m
p
ri
s
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 M

rs
 M

 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
, 
S
 J
 C
ri
s
w
e
ll,
 

M
rs
 
K
 
E
 
C
o
o
p
e
r 
a
n
d
 
M
rs
 
J
 
A
 
D
e
w
 
to
 

re
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tu
d
y
. 

 

       M
e
e
ti
n
g
 
h
e
ld
 
o
n
 
8
th
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

w
h
e
re
 

a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
is
s
u
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 
ra
is
e
d
 
fo
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 
to
 
b
e
 
h
e
ld
 
o
n
 

9
th
 O

c
to
b
e
r.
 

 

  P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 
a
t 
P
a
n
e
l’s
 
J
u
ly
 
2
0
0
8
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

   
5
/1
2
/0
6
 

    
 

 
5
/0
6
/0
7
 

  
3
/0
7
/0
7
 

   

A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
R
o
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 S
e
w
e
rs
 

 S
tu
d
y
 

to
 

b
e
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 

in
to
 

th
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
ro
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
w
e
rs
. 

    R
e
p
o
rt
 d
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 n
e
x
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

  W
o
rk
in
g
 
G
ro
u
p
 
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 
c
o
m
p
ri
s
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 J
 D

 A
b
le
w
h
it
e
, 
D
 A
 G

ile
s
, 
M
rs
 

C
 A

 G
o
d
le
y
 a
n
d
 P

 K
 U

rs
e
ll,
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 

a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
a
d
o
p
ti
n
g
  

  In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
. 

      M
e
e
ti
n
g
 

to
 

b
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
. 

     

  S
c
o
p
in
g
 
re
p
o
rt
 
to
 
b
e
 
s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 
to
 
a
 
fu
tu
re
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
A
n
g
lia
n
 
W
a
te
r 
to
 
b
e
 

in
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 a
 f
u
tu
re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 

th
e
 s
tu
d
y
. 

 F
ir
s
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 2
2
/1
0
/0
7
. 

      

 
   

176



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

        
  
4
/1
2
/0
7
 

 
 

 
5
/0
2
/0
8
 

   
 
4
/0
3
/0
8
 

   
0
3
/0
6
/0
8
 

        

A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
R
o
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 S
e
w
e
rs
 (
C
o
n
t)
 

 e
s
ta
te
 r
o
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
w
e
rs
 w

it
h
 a
n
 a
im

 t
o
 

p
u
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 s
tr
e
a
m
lin
e
 

th
e
 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 
a
n
d
 
m
a
k
e
 
th
e
 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

m
o
re
 

tr
a
n
s
p
a
re
n
t,
 

in
it
ia
lly
 

b
y
 

a
n
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
in
g
 
a
 
D
is
tr
ic
t-

w
id
e
 
re
g
is
te
r 
o
f 
u
n
-a
d
o
p
te
d
 
ro
a
d
s
 
a
n
d
 

s
e
w
e
rs
. 

 W
o
rk
in
g
 
G
ro
u
p
 
h
e
ld
 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 

P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
B
u
ild
in
g
 C

o
n
tr
o
l 
O
ff
ic
e
r.
 

  F
u
rt
h
e
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 b
e
 h
e
ld
 w

it
h
 H

e
a
d
 o
f 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
P
ro
je
c
ts
 
a
n
d
 
A
s
s
e
ts
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

a
n
d
 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
. 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 

M
rs
 
P
 
A
 
J
o
rd
a
n
 
a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 

o
n
to
 t
h
e
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 o

f 
th
e
 

la
te
 C

o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
M
rs
 C

 A
 G

o
d
le
y
. 

 O
w
in
g
 
to
 
th
e
ir
 
in
te
re
s
ts
 
in
 
th
e
 
s
tu
d
y
, 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 M

 F
 S

h
e
lle
n
s
 a

n
d
 J
 S

 W
a
tt
 

w
e
re
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
. 

              M
e
e
ti
n
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
. 

    M
e
e
ti
n
g
 

h
e
ld
 

o
n
 

1
1
/0
4
/0
8
. 

  M
e
e
ti
n
g
 

h
e
ld
 

o
n
 

2
4
/0
7
/0
8
. 

                       V
a
ri
o
u
s
 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
s
o
u
g
h
t 

fr
o
m
 
D
E
F
R
A
, 

A
n
g
lia
n
 
W
a
te
r 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 
C
o
u
n
ty
 
C
o
u
n
c
il.
 
A
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 w

ill
 b
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 p
e
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

re
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
th
is
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
. 

 

177



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

  
5
/1
2
/0
6
 

        
3
/4
/0
7
 

        
4
/1
2
/0
7
 

      

G
ra
n
t 
A
id
 

 S
tu
d
y
 

to
 

b
e
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 

in
to
 

th
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 a

p
p
ly
in
g
 f
o
r 
g
ra
n
t 
a
id
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
g
ra
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 

 D
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
a
ll 
g
ra
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
. 

 R
e
v
ie
w
 
o
f 

S
m
a
ll 

S
c
a
le
 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
. 

 D
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
a
ll 
g
ra
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 
 

W
it
h
 
th
e
 
e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
S
h
o
p
m
o
b
ili
ty
, 
th
e
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

th
e
 

S
m
a
ll 

S
c
a
le
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w

a
s
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 t
o
 

e
x
a
m
in
e
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
’ 
c
ri
te
ri
a
, 
p
u
b
lic
it
y
, 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
o
ff
ic
e
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 

 R
e
v
ie
w
 
o
f 

S
m
a
ll 

S
c
a
le
 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

a
w
a
it
in
g
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
o
n
 
o
th
e
r 

g
ra
n
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

a
d
m
in
is
te
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.
 

 D
e
ta
ils
 
o
f 

g
ra
n
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 
c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
. 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 b
e
 h
e
ld
 w

it
h
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 H

e
a
d
s
 

o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
v
e
n
u
e
 

g
ra
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 f
a
lli
n
g
 w

it
h
in
 t
h
e
ir
 r
e
m
it
s
. 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 n
e
a
ri
n
g
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
. 

 

      In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
. 

    M
e
e
ti
n
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
. 

        M
e
e
ti
n
g
 

h
e
ld
 

o
n
 

1
/0
2
/0
8
. 

    M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

h
e
ld
 

o
n
 

2
0
/0
3
/0
8
, 

2
6
/0
3
/0
8
, 

7
/0
5
/0
8
 a
n
d
 2
4
/0
7
/0
8
. 
 

        M
e
e
ti
n
g
 
h
e
ld
 
o
n
 
2
4
/1
0
/0
7
 
to
 
p
la
n
 
fu
rt
h
e
r 

s
tu
d
y
 w
o
rk
. 

                F
in
a
l 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

o
f 

th
e
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 l
a
te
 O

c
to
b
e
r.
 

 

178



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

  

   
0
3
/0
6
/0
8
 

 

Im
p
a
c
t 
O
f 
T
h
e
 N
e
w
 A
1
4
 I
n
 T
e
rm
s
 O
f 

A
ir
 Q
u
a
li
ty
 A
n
d
 N
o
is
e
 P
o
ll
u
ti
o
n
 

 S
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 
m
a
d
e
 
b
y
 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 

M
 
F
 

S
h
e
lle
n
s
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

A
1
4
 
in
 
te
rm

s
 
o
f 
a
ir
 
q
u
a
lit
y
 
a
n
d
 
n
o
is
e
 

p
o
llu
ti
o
n
 
in
 
lig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
ro
b
le
m
s
 
b
e
in
g
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 w

it
h
in
 h
is
 W

a
rd
. 
 

   In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

s
o
u
g
h
t 

fr
o
m
 

th
e
 

D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 D

iv
is
io
n
. 

 

   A
d
v
ic
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
. 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
M
 F

 S
h
e
lle
n
s
 t
o
 

re
p
o
rt
 
b
a
c
k
 
th
e
re
o
n
 
a
t 

a
 
fu
tu
re
 
P
a
n
e
l 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

   
0
7
/1
0
/0
8
 

    

  
0
3
/0
6
/0
8
 

    
0
1
/0
7
/0
8
 

 

G
re
a
t 
F
e
n
 P
ro
je
c
t 

 D
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 P
a
n
e
l’s
 J
u
n
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 a
s
 

a
 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
s
tu
d
y
 
a
re
a
. 
S
o
m
e
 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

ra
is
e
d
 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 
th
e
 
p
re
s
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
w
a
s
 f
a
c
in
g
. 

  U
p
d
a
te
 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 
b
y
 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 

P
 
G
 

M
it
c
h
e
ll 

a
t 

P
a
n
e
l’s
 

J
u
ly
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 

th
a
t 

th
e
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 
P
a
n
e
l 
w
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 
a
 

s
tu
d
y
 o
n
 t
h
e
 m

a
tt
e
r 
a
n
d
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 

to
 n
o
m
in
a
te
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 t
o
 p
a
rt
a
k
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
tu
d
y
. 
In
 t
h
a
t 
lig
h
t,
 C

o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 E
 R

 B
u
tl
e
r,
 

P
 G

 M
it
c
h
e
ll 
a
n
d
 J
 S
 W

a
tt
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

in
te
re
s
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
tu
d
y
. 

 

       A
 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 
o
n
 
th
e
 

G
re
a
t 

F
e
n
 

w
ill
 

b
e
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 S

e
rv
ic
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 P

a
n
e
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

o
n
 

1
1
th
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
. 

A
ll 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

D
e
liv
e
ry
 

P
a
n
e
l 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 w

ill
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 

to
 a
tt
e
n
d
 t
h
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 
       

1
1
/1
1
/0
8
 

179



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

   
2
/0
9
/0
8
 

              
 

 

C
a
ll
 C
e
n
tr
e
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

 F
o
llo
w
in
g
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 P

a
n
e
l’s
 

re
m
it
 
(w

it
h
 
e
ff
e
c
t 

fr
o
m
 
1
s
t  
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
),
 
C
a
ll 

C
e
n
tr
e
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 
h
a
s
 
n
o
w
 

b
e
e
n
 
tr
a
n
s
fe
rr
e
d
 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 
th
e
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 
P
a
n
e
l 
to
 
th
e
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 
D
e
liv
e
ry
 

P
a
n
e
l.
 
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
re
p
o
rt
s
 
to
 

b
e
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
lly
 t
o
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 

P
a
n
e
l 
(J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 N

o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r)
 

a
n
d
 
a
n
 
It
e
m
 
in
c
lu
d
e
d
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
A
g
e
n
d
a
 

e
v
e
ry
 
6
 
m
o
n
th
s
 
in
 
fu
tu
re
 
(F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 
a
n
d
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

e
a
c
h
 
y
e
a
r)
. 

S
in
c
e
 
th
e
 

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 C

u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 T

e
a
m
 

in
 F

e
b
ru
a
ry
 2

0
0
8
, 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 p

e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 
fo
r 
th
e
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 
T
e
a
m
 

a
re
 
n
o
w
 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
, 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
ti
n
g
 
C
a
ll 

C
e
n
tr
e
 s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
. 
 

 R
e
q
u
e
s
ts
 
m
a
d
e
 
fo
r 
fu
tu
re
 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 

to
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 
re
la
ti
n
g
 
to
 
th
e
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

u
n
a
n
s
w
e
re
d
 t
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 
c
a
lls
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 b

y
 

th
e
 
C
a
ll 

C
e
n
tr
e
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
re
 n
o
t 
th
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 

o
f 
th
e
 D

is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il.
 

 

  F
o
rm

a
l 

re
p
o
rt
 
to
 
b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
a
t 

P
a
n
e
l’s
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

             N
e
x
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
 

e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 –
 t
o
 b
e
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
lly
. 

  
                   
0
4
/1
1
/0
8
 

 

     

180



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

   
2
/0
9
/0
8
 

IC
T
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

 R
e
m
it
 
tr
a
n
s
fe
rr
e
d
 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 
th
e
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 P
a
n
e
l 
in
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
 

 U
p
d
a
te
 
o
n
 
F
le
x
ib
le
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 
to
 

b
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
t 
O
c
to
b
e
r 
P
a
n
e
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

  R
e
p
o
rt
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
 
o
f 

th
e
 
h
o
m
e
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 
p
ro
je
c
t 

in
 
th
e
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 
a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

a
n
d
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
H
e
a
lt
h
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 
D
iv
is
io
n
s
 
to
 

b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 a
 f
u
tu
re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 

   

     O
n
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
P
a
n
e
l 
A
g
e
n
d
a
 –
 p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
 
H
e
a
d
 
o
f 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t.
 

 R
e
p
o
rt
 
a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 
a
t 

P
a
n
e
l’s
 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

  
 

 
 

7
/1
0
/0
8
 

   
4
/1
1
/0
8
 

   
1
4
/0
5
/0
8
 

         
0
2
/0
9
/0
8
 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 –
 G
ro
w
in
g
 S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 M

rs
 M

 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
, 
S
 J
 C

ri
s
w
e
ll 

a
n
d
 P

 G
 M

it
c
h
e
ll 
a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 t
o
 C

o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
. 

       In
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 
th
e
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 
o
f 
G
ro
w
in
g
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 
th
e
 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 
a
n
d
 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 P

a
n
e
l 
d
e
c
id
e
d
 t
o
 e

x
te
n
d
 t
h
e
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
’s
 r
e
m
it
 b
y
  

  M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 
h
e
ld
 
in
 
J
u
n
e
 

a
n
d
 
J
u
ly
 
to
 
re
v
ie
w
 
th
e
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
. 

 B
i-
a
n
n
u
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 
to
 
O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 

a
n
d
 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 
P
a
n
e
ls
 
in
 

M
a
rc
h
 
a
n
d
 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r.
 

 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
t 
fu
tu
re
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
. 

       

      
 

181



P
a
n
e
l 
D
a
te
 
D
e
c
is
io
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

D
a
te
 
fo
r 

F
u
tu
re
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 
P
la
n
 
–
 
G
ro
w
in
g
 
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

(C
o
n
t)
 

 re
q
u
e
s
ti
n
g
 
it
 
to
 
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 
th
e
 
c
o
s
t 

im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 

e
a
c
h
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C

o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
. 

 

   
1
/0
7
/0
8
 

 

F
o
rw
a
rd
 P
la
n
 

 S
u
b
-R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 R
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

th
a
t 

re
p
o
rt
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
t 
a
 f
u
tu
re
 P
a
n
e
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 R
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 
th
a
t 

th
e
 
re
p
o
rt
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 

c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
lly
 t
o
 P
a
n
e
l 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
s
 

s
o
o
n
 a
s
 i
t 
b
e
c
o
m
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 

 

 
    T
o
 
b
e
 
in
c
lu
d
e
d
 
o
n
 
A
g
e
n
d
a
 
fo
r 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

   E
x
p
e
c
te
d
 e
a
rl
y
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

   

    
4
/1
1
/0
8
 

   
  

 

 

182


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000: FORWARD PLAN
	5 CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE STRATEGY
	6 ENHANCED CLEANSING SERVICES
	Annex Enhanced Cleansing Services Report to Cabinet - 4th September 2008

	7 ALCOHOL DISORDER ZONES
	8 IMPROVING LOCAL ACCOUNTABILITY CONSULTATION CHANGES TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY POWERS
	9 STRATEGIC HEALTH AUTHORITY: STRATEGIC VISION DOCUMENT
	10 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (SERVICE DELIVERY) - STUDIES

